TEXTUAL AFFECT: A Computational Study Towards the Detection, Utility, and Algorithmic Fairness of Emotions in Text

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

COMPUTER SCIENCE

In the Faculty of Science

By ANOOP KADAN

Under the Guidance of **Dr. LAJISH V. L.**



DEPARTMENT OF COMPUTER SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF CALICUT KERALA, INDIA

May 2023



Dr. Lajish. V. L Associate Professor & Head Calicut University P. O. Kerala - 673635, India

Certificate

This is to certify that the thesis entitled **"TEXTUAL AFFECT: A Computational Study Towards the Detection, Utility, and Algorithmic Fairness of Emotions in Text"**, submitted by **Mr. Anoop Kadan**, to the University of Calicut, for the partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)** in Computer Science, is a bonafide research work done by Mr. Anoop Kadan under my supervision and guidance in the Department of Computer Science, University of Calicut, Kerala. The content embodied in this thesis, in full or in parts, have not been submitted to any other University or Institute for the award of any degree.

> Dr. LAJISH V. L. Associate Professor & Head Department of Computer Science & Director, Calicut University Computer Center University of Calicut, Kerala, India

University of Calicut May 10, 2023

Declaration

I, Anoop Kadan, declare that this Thesis entitled, "TEXTUAL AFFECT: A Computational Study Towards the Detection, Utility, and Algorithmic Fairness of Emotions in Text" is based on the original work done by me under the supervision and guidance of Dr. Lajish V. L. in the Department of Computer Science, University of Calicut. I confirm that:

- The work presented in this Thesis has not been submitted previously for the award of any degree either to this University or to any other University or Institution.
- I have followed the guiding principles given by the University in organizing the Thesis.
- Whenever I have used materials (theoretical analysis, data, figures, and text) from other sources, I have given due credit to them by citing them in the Thesis and giving their particulars in the references.
- While procuring the Readers' Emotion News datasets, I have obtained the necessary approval from Rappler Inc., in using the data for non-commercial academic research purposes.

ANOOP KADAN

University of Calicut May 10, 2023

▲ The examples provided in this Thesis, specifically those related to the work of identifying Affective Bias in large pre-trained language models, may be offensive in nature and may hurt one's moral beliefs. All such examples are not the perspectives of the author, but are purely the outputs of various algorithms and also those tagged as social stereotypes in the literature, that are properly cited.

Abstract

Emotions are highly useful in modeling human behavior being at the core of what makes us human. Research in Affective Computing deals with developing computational systems capable of understanding and expressing emotions by adapting human emotional states through heterogeneous modalities such as textual, visual, and audio. Text prevails to be the most commonly used modality to express and share emotions with the boom of online social media and micro-blogging platforms. This Thesis presents a computational study towards emotions in text (or Textual Affect), exploring three different and significant facets of Textual Affective Computing. The first facet attempted in this Thesis is the detection of textual emotions, specifically through readers' perspective, i.e., Readers' Emotion Detection. The second facet intends to study how textual affects can be utilized to improve the performance of a downstream task. Towards this direction of study a very significant application of fake news detection, within the very crucial domain of health is considered. The third facet considers the algorithmic fairness perspective of textual affective computing, a recent and demanding area of research related to ethics in Artificial Intelligence. In this direction, the study attempts to identify the existence of affective bias, if any, in textual affective computing systems developed using large pre-trained language models.

The first facet of textual affective computing attempted in this Thesis, that of Readers' Emotion Detection develops a novel deep learning based model *REDAffectiveLM* to predict readers' emotion profiles from short-text documents. The proposed model is constructed using a transformer-based pre-trained language model in tandem with affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention to leverage the utility of both contextual and affect enriched representations. To conduct the study two Readers' Emotion News datasets are procured, along with a benchmark dataset. The extensive set of performance evaluations presented in this study shows that the proposed model significantly outperforms the baselines belonging to various categories. The study also presents behavior evaluation experiments over the affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention network, which shows that the process of affect enrichment helps to identify key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection, thereby improving the prediction.

The second facet considers the utility of textual affects for detecting fake news in the health domain and presents evidence that emotion cognizant representations are significantly more suited for the task. The study proposes a novel methodology to develop emotion-amplified text representations by leveraging an external emotion lexicon. To conduct the study a dataset containing fake and legitimate health news articles is procured. Evaluations are performed to analyze the utility of emotionamplified representations over raw text representations for identifying fake news relating to health in various supervised and unsupervised scenarios. The experiments show consistent and notable empirical gains over a range of technique types and parameter settings, establishing the utility of the emotion information in news articles, an often overlooked aspect, for the task of misinformation identification in the health domain.

The third facet is a novel direction of inquiry to identify the existence of Affective Bias, if any, in large pre-trained language model based textual emotion detection models. That is, the study intends to unveil any biased association of emotions such as anger, fear, joy and sadness, towards any particular gender, racial, or religious groups. The study initially analyzes imbalanced affect distribution or imbalanced affect associations with any particular social group, in the large-scale corpora that are used to pre-train and fine-tune the pre-trained language models, to identify corpus level affective bias. Later, an extensive set of class-based and intensity-based evaluations using synthetic and non-synthetic bias evaluation corpora are conducted to identify prediction level affective bias. The entire results could unveil the existence of affective bias with respect to gender, race, and religion, at both the corpus and prediction level of large pre-trained language models.

Keywords: Textual emotions, Affective computing, Readers' emotion detection, Fake news detection, Bias in NLP

Acknowledgements

This research endeavor would not have been possible without the cordial cooperation, support and encouragement of all my advisors, collaborators, and colleagues. First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my research supervisor *Dr. Lajish V. L.*, Associate Professor and Head, Department of Computer Science, University of Calicut, for providing me with such a great opportunity to pursue my Ph.D. research under his guidance. I am of utmost thankful to him for the support and advice he has offered me throughout the course and even in my life.

My heartfelt gratitude is also due to *Dr. Deepak Padmanabhan*, Associate Professor, School of Electronics, Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, Queen's University Belfast, UK, for being my mentor. I am grateful to him for his guidance and support in almost all aspects of my research. The technical inputs and constructive feedback provided by him during the discussions were very useful to publish the research works in good venues. His thoughts and ideals were inspirational for my research work and even for my personal life.

I'm highly thankful to the pioneer of Affective Computing Research, *Prof. (Dr.) Rosalind W. Picard*, Sc.D., FIEEE, Founder and Director of the Affective Computing Research Group, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) Media Lab, and her Ph.D. students *Mr. Noah Jones* and *Ms. Katherine Anne Matton* who gave me chance to participate in the event "ML Focus: New Health - Affective Computing" held at MIT and also for the insightful discussions, which was highly motivational for me to initiate my research on Affective Bias.

I would like to thank *Dr. Sahely Bhadra*, Assistant Professor, Department of Data Science, Indian Institute of Technology (IIT), Palakkad, *Dr. Savitha Sam Abraham*, Post-doctoral Researcher, School of Science and Technology, Örebro University, Sweden, and *Ms. Manjary P. Gangan*, Ph.D. Research Scholar, Department of Computer Science, University of Calicut, for their valuable time and insightful discussions providing important technical inputs that were helpful at different phases of this research work.

I thank *Dr. Anna Jurek-Loughrey*, Senior Lecturer, School of Electronics, Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, Queen's University Belfast, UK, and her research team for the fruitful interactions that helped my research work in the direction of affect-oriented fake news detection. I also thank *Mr. Iknoor Singh*, Department of Computer Science, University of Sheffield, UK, the interaction with whom gave me opportunities to understand other interesting directions in fake news detection research.

I extend my gratitude towards *Dr. Manish Shrivastava*, Assistant Professor, International Institute of Information Technology (IIIT), Hyderabad, for being a mentor at the 8th Advanced School on Natural Language Processing (IASNLP-2017) and steering me to explore the recent avenues in Natural Language Processing, especially the representation learning approaches. Also, I express my love and thanks to my team members at IASNLP, *Mr. Kingshuk Basak*, Senior Software Engineer, Samsung R&D Institute India, Bangalore, *Ms. Apurva Srivastava*, IIIT Allahabad, *Dr. Vaishali Gupta Sharma*, Assistant Professor, Computer Science and Engineering, Institute of Engineering and Science, IPS Academy, Indore, and *Ms. Surabhi Kumari*, Researcher at TCS Innovation Labs.

I sincerely thank *Dr. S Balasubramanian*, Associate Professor, Department of Mathematics & Computer Science, Sri Sathya Sai Institute of Higher Learning (SSSIHL), Andhra Pradesh, *Dr. Deepak Mishra*, Associate Professor, Indian Institute of Space Science and Technology (IIST), Trivandrum, *Dr. Kumar Rajamani*, Senior Scientist, Philips, Bengaluru, *Mr. Sumanth Reddy Kaliki*, Lead AI Expert, Ice Edge Business Solutions, Canada, and *Dr. Darshan Gera*, Associate Professor of Mathematics and Computer Science, SSSIHL, Bengaluru. Insightful discussions with them helped me a lot to learn the concepts of deep learning and gave me great confidence during the implementation of my research.

I would like to thank the popular leading digital media company *RAPPLER Inc.* for allowing me to procure news data from their online portal for the creation of Readers' Emotion News datasets. I especially express my sincere thanks and gratitude to *Ms. Gemma B. Mendoza*, Head, Digital Services, Lead Researcher on Disinformation and Platforms, and *Mr. Michael Bueza*, Data Curator, Tech Team, Rappler Inc., for their decision of allowing to procure the data. I am thankful to the project interns *Renjitha Rajendran* and *Shonima Sanil*, Department of Information Technology, Kannur University, Kerala, *Athira Biju* and *Sruthi S Kumar*, Department of Computer Science, Mahatma Gandhi University, Kerala, and *Amrutha Praseeth, Arjun K. Sreedhar*, *Dheeraj K., Diya Rajan, Rahul Das H, Sarath Kumar P. S.*, and *Vishnu S.*, the postgraduate students of Department of Computer Science, University of Calicut, Kerala, who have been actively involved in dataset procurement. I am also thankful to *Chanjal V. V.*, postgraduate student of the Department of Women Studies, University of Calicut, who

I sincerely thank *Vigyan Prasar*, Department of Science and Technology (DST), Government of India, for appreciating my work by awarding the Augmenting Writing Skills for Articulating Research (AWSAR) award 2019, for my research related to affect-oriented fake news detection. I thank the *University Grants Commission (UGC)*, Government of India, for granting me the Rajiv Gandhi National Fellowship. I would also like to thank the financial support provided by the *Government of Kerala* through the E-Grantz scholarship scheme.

I also wholeheartedly extend thanks to the love and support I received from my fellow researchers, the teaching and non-teaching staff, and the students of the Department of Computer Science, and University of Calicut.

Anoop Kadan

Contents

Declaration					
Abstract					
Acknowledgements					
C	onten	ts	xv		
Li	st of	Figures	xxi		
Li	st of	Tables xx	ciii		
Li	st of	Abbreviations x	xv		
1	Intr	oduction	1		
	1.1	Affective Computing	1		
	1.2	Research Objectives	3		
	1.3	Research Motivation	5		
	1.4	Thesis Contributions	7		
	1.5	Publications, Awards and Research Grants	8		
	1.6	Overview of the Thesis	10		
2	Bac	kground and Literature Review	13		
	2.1	Introduction	13		
		2.1.1 Organization of the Chapter	14		
	2.2	The Theories of Emotion	14		
	2.3	Readers' Emotion Detection	15		
		2.3.1 Computational Approaches for Textual Emotion Detection	16		
		Lexicon based Approaches	17		
		Machine Learning based Approaches	17		
		Deep Learning based Approaches	18		
		The Question of Interpretability	19		
	2.4	Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection	20		
		2.4.1 Computational Approaches for Fake News Detection	21		

			Fake News Detection	21 22
	2.5	Identi	fving Affective Bias in Large PLMs	23
	2.0	2.5.1	Computational Approaches Addressing Bias in PLMs	27
		2.0.1	General Affect Agnostic Bias Analysis	28
			Affect-oriented Bias Analysis	20 29
	2.6	Summ	hary	32
3	REL	DAffect	iveLM: Leveraging Affect Enriched Embedding and Transformer	
	base	ed Neu	ral Language Model for Readers' Emotion Detection	33
	3.1	Introd	luction	33
		3.1.1	Research Question	34
		3.1.2	Demarcating Proposed Work in Context of State-of-the-art	34
		3.1.3	Motivation	36
		3.1.4	Contributions	37
		3.1.5	Organization of the Chapter	38
	3.2	REDA	<i>ffectiveLM</i> - Methodology	38
		3.2.1	Problem Setting	38
		3.2.2	Proposed Model	39
			emoBi-LSTM+Attention for Affect Enriched Representation	40
			XLNet for Context-specific Representation	43
			<i>REDAffectiveLM</i> : The fused model	44
	3.3	Datas	et and Pre-processing	44
		3.3.1	Readers' Emotion News Datasets	45
			RENh-4k	45
			REN-20k	45
		3.3.2	The Benchmark Dataset - SemEval-2007	46
		3.3.3	Dataset Pre-processing	46
	3.4	Empii	rical Study	48
		3.4.1	Experimental Settings	48
		3.4.2	Baselines	48
			Deep Learning Baselines	49
			Lexicon based Baselines	50
			Classical Machine Learning Baselines	50
		3.4.3	Performance Evaluation Measures	51
	3.5	Result	ts and Discussions	53
		3.5.1	Model Performance Evaluation	53
		3.5.2	Statistical Significance	60

xvi

		3.5.3	Behavior Analysis of Affect Enrichment	61	
			What Attention Captures?	61	
			Qualitative Evaluation	64	
			Quantitative Evaluation	66	
	3.6	Summ	nary	69	
4	Emo	otion C	ognizance Improves Health Fake News Identification	71	
	4.1	Introd	luction	71	
		4.1.1	Research Question	73	
		4.1.2	Demarcating Proposed Work in Context of State-of-the-art	74	
		4.1.3	Motivation	74	
		4.1.4	Contributions	75	
		4.1.5	Organization of the Chapter	75	
	4.2	Emoti	onizing Text	76	
		4.2.1	The Task	76	
		4.2.2	Methodology	76	
	4.3	Datas	et and Emotion Lexicon	77	
		4.3.1	HWB Dataset	77	
		4.3.2	Emotion Lexicon	79	
	4.4	Empii	r <mark>ical Study</mark>	79	
		4.4.1	Supervised Setting	80	
			Conventional Classifiers	80	
			Deep Learning Classifiers	81	
		4.4.2	Unsupervised Setting	82	
		4.4.3	Evaluation Measures	83	
	4.5	Results and Discussion			
	4.6	Emoti	onization and COVID-19 Fake News	85	
	4.7	Summ	nary	87	
5	Blac	cks is to	o Anger as Whites is to Joy? Identifying Latent Affective Bias in		
	Larg	ge Pre-t	rained Neural Language Models	89	
	5.1	Introd	luction	89	
		5.1.1	Research Question	92	
		5.1.2	Demarcating Proposed Work in Context of State-of-the-art	92	
		5.1.3	Motivation	93	
		5.1.4	Contributions	93	
		5.1.5	Organization of the Chapter	94	
	5.2	Corpu	Is Level Affective Bias	94	

xviii

		5.2.1	Training Corpora	. 94
		5.2.2	Methodology	. 95
		5.2.3	Results and Analysis	. 98
			Occurrence of Emotions in the Corpora	. 98
			Co-occurrence of Emotions with Social Groups	. 99
	5.3	Predic	ction Level Affective Bias	. 101
		5.3.1	Textual Emotion Detection using Large PLMs	. 101
			Methodology	. 102
			Experimental Settings	. 103
		5.3.2	Identifying Prediction Level Affective Bias	. 104
			Evaluation Corpora	. 104
			Evaluation Measures	. 106
		5.3.3	Results and Analysis	. 108
			Affective Bias in BERT	. 108
			Affective Bias in GPT-2	. 112
			Affective Bias in XLNet	. 113
			Affective Bias in T5	. 115
	5.4	Discu	ssion	. 116
		5.4.1	Affective Bias - Across the PLMs	. 116
		5.4.2	Affect Imbalance in Corpora and Affective Bias in Predictions .	. 117
		5.4.3	Societal Stereotypes and Affective Bias	. 118
		5.4.4	Effectiveness of Evaluation Corpora in Unveiling Affective Bias	. 118
	5.5	Summ	hary	. 120
6	Con	clusior	1	123
	6.1	Summ	nary of the Thesis	. 123
	6.2	Direct	ions for Future Research	. 125
A	App	endix ·	- Readers' Emotion Detection	129
	A.1	Legal	and Ethical Concerns of REN Datasets	. 129
	A.2	Нуре	r-parameters of the baselines	. 130
B	App	endix ·	- Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection	131
	B. 1	Param	neters of the fake news detection models	. 131
		B.1.1	Conventional Classifiers	. 131
		B.1.2	Deep Learning Classifiers	. 131
		B.1.3	Unsupervised Setting	. 132

C	Appendix - Identifying Affective Bias in Large PLMs					
	C .1	Target	terms for corpus level affective bias analysis	133		
		C.1.1	Affective terms	133		
		C.1.2	Gender domain	136		
		C.1.3	Racial domain	138		
		C.1.4	Religious domain	138		
	C.2	Sampl	e of affectively biased predictions	140		
Bi	bliog	raphy		143		

xix

List of Figures

1.1	Overview of the Thesis	11
2.1	A sample of readers' emotion reactions to a social media post	16
2.2	Fake news detection approaches	23
2.3	Heterogeneous view of bias in large PLMs	25
2.4	Stages of bias in large PLMs	26
3.1	The architecture of <i>REDAffectiveLM</i>	39
3.2	t-SNE visualization of few affective words	40
3.3	Emotion distribution in the datasets	47
3.4	Performance of GEC and GEI features over different thresholds	59
3.5	Emotion profile correlations in the datasets	60
4.1	Framework of empirical evaluation	80
5.1	Workflow of Affective bias analysis	91
5.2	Intensity plots of emotion predictions from BERT	111
5.3	Intensity plots of emotion predictions reflecting societal stereotypes	119

List of Tables

2.1	Related works in fake news detection	22
2.2	Different domains of bias in PLMs	28
2.3	Works addressing affect-oriented bias	31
3.1	Emotion-word similarity scores	41
3.2	Dataset statistics after pre-processing	47
3.3	Evaluation results of REN-20k dataset	54
3.4	Evaluation results of RENh-4k dataset	56
3.5	Evaluation results of SemEval-2007 dataset	57
3.6	Sample attention maps generated by the Bi-LSTM+Attention network .	63
3.7	Sample attention maps of Bi-LSTM+Attention & emoBi-LSTM+Attention	65
3.8	Emotion Lexicon coverage	66
3.9	Quantitative evaluation results	69
4.1	Examples of health fake news headlines and excerpts	73
4.2	Emotionized Health Fake News Excerpts	78
4.3	Statistics of HWB Dataset	79
4.4	Classification results	85
4.5	Clustering results	86
4.6	An example of emotionized COVID-19 fake news	87
5.1	A sample set of affectively biased predictions	90
5.2	Details of training corpora	95
5.3	Occurrence statistics of emotions in the corpora	98
5.4	Co-occurrence statistics of emotions with social groups	100
5.5	Statistics of fine-tuning corpus	103
5.6	Results of BERT	109
5.7	Results of GPT-2	113
5.8	Results of XLNet	114
5.9	Results of T5	115
A.1	Hyper-parameters of the deep learning baselines	130

xxiv

C .1	Sample set of affectively biased emotion class predictions	. 140
C.2	Sample set of affectively biased emotion intensity predictions	. 141

List of Abbreviations

NLP	Natural Language Processing
PLM	Pre-trained Language Model
SVM	Support Vector Machine
WMD	Word Mover's Distance
CNN	Convolutional Neural Network
RNN	Recurrent Neural Network
GRU	Gated Recurrent Unit
LSTM	Long Short Term Memory
Bi-LSTM	Bidirectional LSTM
REN	Readers' Emotion News
MLP	Multi-Layer Perceptron
SVR	Support Vector Regression
TEC	Total Emotion Count
TEI	Total Emotion Intensity
MEI	Max Emotion Intensity
GEC	Graded Emotion Count
GEI	Graded Emotion Intensity
RMSE	Root Mean Square Error
NER	Named Entity Recognizer
HWB	Health and Well Being
NB	Naive Bayes
KNN	K-Nearest Neighbour
RF	Random Forests
DT	Decision Tree
AB	AdaBoost
BERT GPT T5 C4 EEC BITS CSP DP ACS	 Bidirectional Encoder Representation from Transformers Generative Pre-trained Transformer Text-to-Text Transfer Transformer Colossal Clean Crawled Corpus Equity Evaluation Corpus Bias Identification Test in Sentiments Crowdsourced Stereotype Pairs Demographic Parity Average Confidence Score

Dedicated to the ever-loving memory of my father

То

my family, teachers, and friends who taught me to dream, and my wife, the pillar of my dreams xxvii

Chapter 1

Introduction

"Anger arises when we are blocked from pursuing a goal and/or treated unfairly. At its most extreme, anger can be one of the most dangerous emotions because of its potential connection to violence and, therefore, is a common emotion to seek help in dealing with."

> – Paul Ekman Universal Emotions

Abstract: This chapter introduces the gist of the Thesis and research objectives or the tasks this Thesis attempts, followed by research motivation and the major contributions of the Thesis. The chapter also provides an overview of the Thesis that helps as the readers guide.

1.1 Affective Computing

A ffect, the term was hardly ever associated with the discipline of computing and machines, but rather was more researched in the field of psychology. However, the idea of creating computing machines with *affect* (or *emotions*) had sprouted in human imaginations and fantasies; the sentient supercomputer HAL portrayed in the 1968's epic science fiction movie '2001: A Space Odyssey'¹, is one such example of creative vision presenting the potential of an intelligent machine with emotions. Allying *affect* with the discipline of computing started in the late 1990s with the formulation of the term "*Affective Computing*" by Rosalind Picard [1]. This branch in computing looks forward to the construction of emotionally intelligent machines or algorithms that are capable of processing, discerning, and stimulating emotional states and naturally responding by adapting humans' emotional feedback, and hence is a multidisciplinary research domain that hinges on different fields such as psychology, cognitive science, computer science, linguistics, and mathematics, for realization. This flourishing field of computing, researches how machines/algorithms understand or interpret emotions, how emotions influence human-machine interactions, can exploiting

¹https://www.imdb.com/title/tt0062622/, accessed: 05-12-2022

emotions potentially improve the abilities of machines, and even looks into the ethical sides such as, can certain machines be supplemented with emotions and are the responses of such affective computing systems fair or unbiased. Affective computing generally models such emotionally intelligent algorithms as pattern recognition problems and utilizes machine learning techniques to generate abstract representations from the input data; the concepts of emotion theories from psychology are also adopted to help represent the emotional states. Different modalities such as textual, visual, auditory, and bio-signals (e.g. heart rate, EEG) are considered for the affective computing tasks engaging the areas of Natural Language Processing (NLP), image processing, and speech and signal processing, that aid the application of affective computing in numerous task like detecting emotions from textual articles, facial expressions, or speech [2, 3], modeling emotional robots [4], etc.

Text is one among the different modalities to express emotions. Despite video and audio modalities recently gaining popularity, text still prevails to be typically the most frequently used modality to express emotions [2]; the boom of online social media and micro-blogging platforms has even increased the chances of people abundantly expressing and sharing emotions through text. Research in affective computing focussing on *emotions in text* or *textual affects - "textual affective computing"*, includes the earlier works of sentiment analysis for movie reviews [5], product reviews [6], stock market [7], etc., that are later widely adopted into other domains such as healthcare [8], commercial application [9, 10, 11], politics [12], education [10, 13], and many more. In contrast to sentiment detection, which is a coarse-grained analysis majorly focussing on the semantic orientation of the text (e.g., positive or negative sentiments), the textual affective computing studies related to emotion are complex, and much of fine-grained nature handling different emotions like anger, fear, joy, sadness, surprise, etc., [14, 15].

As recognizing emotions is one of the primary and crucial tasks in the direction of devising emotionally intelligent algorithms, textual emotion detection is a promising area of research where substantial endeavors have been made to devise automated algorithms that have the ability to efficiently and accurately detect textual emotions. In this regard, various NLP and machine learning techniques are seen utilized to extract and model the characteristics of textual affects at word-level, sentence-level, or document-level [16]. Multiple or complex sets of emotions in the textual data, different meanings with respect to contexts, subtle and ambiguous emotions, typos, acronyms, colloquialisms, idioms, etc., pose challenges in textual emotion detection. Similar to sentiment analysis, textual emotion based studies are also seen to be adopted in tasks

such as sarcasm detection [2], personality or mood detection [2], abusive language detection [17], and cyberbullying detection [18]. Numerous other areas are researched in the domain of textual affective computing, such as affective text generation [19] and textual affect based interaction between humans and technologies [20]. The natural language understanding tools developed by the industrial giants such as Google², IBM³, and Microsoft⁴ has textual affective understanding as an integral part of them. All these outline the significance of the domain of textual affective computing.

1 N.B. Even though according to the psychological literature, *Affect* is a more comprehensive umbrella term that subsumes the term *Emotion* [21], this Thesis uses both *Affect* and *Emotion* interchangeably.

1.2 Research Objectives

This Thesis is an exploration towards three different facets of Textual Affective Computing. The first facet this Thesis attempts is the detection of textual emotions, through readers' perspective, i.e., Readers' Emotion Detection. The second facet of textual affective computing this Thesis attempts is that of exploiting textual affects to improve the performance of a downstream task. In this direction, a very significant application of fake news detection, within the very crucial domain of health, is considered. The third facet is that of investigating the fairness of textual affective computing systems, pointing to the very demanding and significant areas of recent research relating to the ethics in AI and bias in NLP. The work in this direction attempts to identify the existence of affective bias, if any, in textual affective computing systems developed using large Pre-trained Language Models (PLMs), the neural models that are widely employed in most NLP tasks, including textual affective computing due to their increased performances. Each of these three different facets of textual affective computing this Thesis attempts is discussed below.

Readers' Emotion Detection Technological advancements in web platforms allowing people to express and share emotions towards textual write-ups written and shared by others, and the new conventions that heavily use affective symbols like emojis and emotion reactions (e.g., emotion reactions in Facebook, Twitter, etc.) within text-based

²https://cloud.google.com/natural-language/docs/analyzing-sentiment, accessed: 05-12-2022 ³https://cloud.ibm.com/apidocs/natural-language-understanding#emotion, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁴https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/cognitive-services/language-service/sentime nt-opinion-mining/overview, accessed: 05-12-2022

communication have enriched the density of emotion expression within social media. This deluge of social interactions provides two different perspectives for the research in detecting textual emotions, such as the *emotion expressed* by the writer in a textual document (Writer Emotion) and the *emotion elicited* from the readers' while reading the textual document (Readers' Emotion). This is because, in most cases, readers' emotions triggered by the document do not always agree with the writer emotions. Unlike the very general and mostly addressed task of writer/document emotion detection, the work in this Thesis concerning the facet of detecting textual emotions, attempts the task of predicting emotions from the readers' perspective or *Readers' Emotion Detection* (as is more often used in this Thesis).

Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection One of the intentions of affective computing is utilizing affect to improve the performances of downstream tasks. Even though not many, works have been proposed in the literature that utilize textual affects to improve downstream tasks, such as, in stress/anxiety detection [22], cyberbullying detection [23], humor identification [24], author gender classification [25], and online news popularity prediction [26]. Fake news within the health domain has been recognized as a task of immense significance [27]. As a New York Times article suggests, 'Fake news threatens our democracy. Fake medical news threatens our lives'⁵. The particular task, that of understanding the prevalence of emotions and its utility in detecting fake news, especially in the health domain, has not been subject to much attention from the scholarly community. Hence, in the direction of the facet, that of utilizing textual affect to improve the performances of downstream tasks, this Thesis attempts *affect-oriented health fake news detection*.

Identifying Affective Bias in large PLMs Textual affective computing enable efficient ways to encode and understand human emotional states from textual data and yield new opportunities to domains such as business [9, 10], healthcare [8], and education [13, 10] by analyzing customers, employees, users, patients, etc., in the context of affective content. Advancements in affective computing should also be in line with ethical elements such as human safety and fairness in algorithmic decisions. Unfair or biased representations of affect, i.e., Affective Bias in textual affective computing systems discriminate against social groups on the basis of certain emotions while making algorithmic decisions, for example, sentiment analysis systems producing biased decisions based on race by associating text representations involving African American

⁵https://www.nytimes.com/2018/12/16/opinion/statin-side-effects-cancer.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

to mostly negative emotions and European American to positive emotions [28], the biased association of text representations involving a certain religion always with negative emotions indicating violence [29], etc. Such biases can harm the utility of textual affective computing systems towards socially marginalized populations by denying opportunities/resources or by the false portrayal of these groups when deployed in the real-world. Hence, in this context, the work in this Thesis concerning the facet of investigating the fairness of textual affective computing systems, attempts to *identify the existence of affective bias in PLMs*, the neural models that are widely employed in most NLP tasks including textual affective computing due to their increased performances.

1.3 Research Motivation

The Turing test, '*Can machines think*?', examines whether an interrogator gets deceived by the replies of a computer by not being up to decide if the replies are from a human or a machine, where communications are planned to happen only through textual modality without involving any other modalities to express emotions such as facial expressions or voice [30]. Hence to pass the test, in a sense, the computer ought to be able to replicate human intellectual thinking including *expression and perception of emotions, through textual data,* and accordingly, the textual responses of the computer should be alike humans [1].

There are misconceptions that the sub-categories within textual affective computing, such as sentiment analysis and emotion detection, being advanced in nearly twenty years, have already saturated and reached their apex [31]. Poria et al. [31] argues and deflate this fallacy against textual affective computing by drawing attention to the optimistic directions for future research and open problems such as multi-model and multi-lingual affective computing, context based analysis, domain adaptation, emotion aware dialogue generation, and even the contemporary issue of bias in textual affective computing systems. Cambria et al. [32] state that several (at least 15) NLP problems, such as POS tagging, Named Entity Recognition, etc., require to be resolved to attain human level performance in textual affective computing tasks. Several other arguments and observations made by many researchers exemplifying the significance of textual affective computing, while the research motivation for each of the different facets of textual affective computing attempted in this Thesis is listed below. **Readers' Emotion Detection** Readers' emotion detection is an interesting arena for research in textual affective computing. Distinct from the writer/document emotion detection, readers' emotion detection paves the way for numerous novel applications through a variety of tasks, viz., emotion aware search engines/recommendation systems, emotion enriched article generation, automated article editing to filter out or diminish the emotionally sensitive contents or excess amount of emotions that may provoke people to create any social/political issues, forecasting readers' emotions on any creative article so that the writer can realize emotions that influence the readers' in advance, etc. [33, 34]. These potential applications have attracted attention from the Natural Language Processing (NLP) and machine learning research sub-communities and offer rich scope for modeling computational systems that can predict readers' emotions.

Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection Online social media, being adversely affected by fake news, is very hard to believe every piece of information even though it appears to be very realistic. The spread of fake news through online social media during natural disasters such as Hurricane Sandy in Houston in 2012 [35], the Chile earthquake in 2010 [36], and Tsunami in Japan in 2011 [37], has caused panic and chaos among people. A tweet stating an explosion that injured Barack Obama⁶, which wiped out 130 billion dollars in stock value within a few minutes, is an example of large-scale investments and stock market prices being affected by fake news. In the political domain, fake information is used to spread false beliefs among people. Hence, the success of social media networks marked through its assistance and situational awareness are harmed by the creation and propagation of fake information, where besides all other domains, fake news on health and well-being poses serious adverse effects, mainly by delaying necessary medical care and attention to a patient, making patients doubtful on doctors advice or going behind treatments that are not medically proven. Modeling computational systems that can determine the veracity of news articles within the health domain is highly recommended in this context.

Identifying Affective Bias in large PLMs Groundbreaking inventions and highly significant performance improvements in deep learning based natural language processing are witnessed through the development of transformer based large PLMs. The wide availability of unlabeled data within human generated data deluge, along with

⁶https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/economy/market-quavers-after-fake-ap-tweet -says-obama-was-hurt-in-white-house-explosions/2013/04/23/d96d2dc6-ac4d-11e2-a8b9-2a6 3d75b5459_story.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

self-supervised learning strategies, helps to accelerate the success of large PLMs in textual emotion detection, language generation, language understanding, and many other downstream NLP tasks. But, these human generated textual corpora can carry plenty of harmful linguistic biases and social stereotypes (encoded unintentionally or intentionally) that can lead PLMs to produce unfair discrimination towards socially marginalized populations. This harms and questions the utility and efficacy of large PLMs in many real-world applications [38]. Besides the predominantly addressed general affect-agnostic biases such as gender, racial, religious, or age biases in PLMs, affective bias in PLMs is a less explored category of NLP bias. The existence of affective bias in PLM based systems can also potentially harm the ethical trust of the systems and cause injustice towards social groups based on affect. Hence, identifying affective bias plays a vital role in mitigating it and achieving algorithmic fairness in PLM based systems, protecting the socio-political and moral equality of marginalized groups.

1.4 Thesis Contributions

This Thesis contributes towards three distinct tasks that twirl around the pivot of Textual Affective Computing: readers' emotion detection, affect-oriented health fake news detection, and identifying affective bias in large PLMs. The contributions of this Thesis in the direction of each of these tasks are listed below:

Readers' Emotion Detection The contribution of this Thesis in the direction of readers' emotion detection (detailed in chapter 3) is a novel methodology that leverages context-specific and affect enriched representations of textual documents for readers' emotion detection. Towards this, the model *REDAffectiveLM* is proposed by fusing a transformer-based pre-trained neural language with a Bi-LSTM+Attention network that utilizes affect enriched embedding. The performance of the proposed model consistently outperforms the state-of-the-art baselines belonging to different categories of textual emotion detection with statistically significant improvements when evaluated over fine-grained and coarse-grained measures. The study propounds a novel set of qualitative and quantitative behavior evaluation techniques, investigating the interpretability of attention mechanism in affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention network, that establishes affect enrichment helps to significantly improve readers' emotion detection. Two Readers' Emotion News datasets, REN-20k and RENh-4k with more than 20000 and 4000 news documents, procured to conduct the proposed study are made publicly available to aid future research. Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection The contribution of this Thesis in the direction of affect-oriented health fake news detection (detailed in chapter 4) is a novel methodology devised to derive emotion-enriched textual documents by leveraging external emotion lexicons, for health fake news detection. The empirical evaluation conducted in the study over emotion-enriched representations vis-à-vis raw text representations shows that fake news identification with emotion-enriched representations goes beyond raw text representations for various supervised and unsupervised settings. The essence of the proposed study is in establishing that there are differences in the affective character of fake and legitimate textual articles, which when exploited, can improve fake news identification. The newly procured dataset HWB used to conduct the study is made publicly available to aid future research.

Identifying Affective Bias in large PLMs The contribution of this Thesis in the direction of fairness in textual affective computing (detailed in chapter 5) is a novel direction of inquiry towards identifying the existence of affective bias in PLM based textual emotion detection models using two sets of affective bias analysis, i.e., corpus level and prediction level affective bias analysis. Corpus level affective bias analysis identifies any biased emotion distributions in the corpora, and prediction level analysis identifies any biased emotion predictions from the emotion detection models. The entire study explores affective bias in four different PLMs that are widely adopted in textual affective computing and related downstream applications, namely, BERT [39], GPT-2 [40], XLNet [41], and T5 [42], with respect to the domains of gender, race, and religion by analyzing the differences in emotion associations with various social groups belonging to each of the domains. Both the corpus and prediction level affective bias analysis in the proposed study helps to unveil the existence of latent affective bias in the large PLMs.

1.5 Publications, Awards and Research Grants

Publications based on this thesis

Journals

 Anoop K., Deepak P., Savitha Sam Abraham, Lajish V. L., Manjary P. Gangan., "Readers' affect: predicting and understanding readers' emotions with deep learning", *Journal of Big Data*, Vol. 9, Issue 1, Article number: 82, June 2022, pp. 1–31, Springer Nature, ISSN: 2196-1115, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40537-022-00614-2 (SCIE Indexed, Impact Factor: 10.835) – Chapter 3
- Anoop K., Deepak P., Manjary P. Gangan., Savitha Sam Abraham, Lajish V. L., "REDAffectiveLM: Leveraging Affect Enriched Embedding and Transformerbased Neural Language Model for Readers' Emotion Detection", arXiv preprint, DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2301.08995 (In communication) – Chapter 3
- Anoop K., Manjary P. Gangan., Deepak P., Sahely Bhadra, Lajish V. L., "Blacks is to Anger as Whites is to Joy? Understanding Latent Affective Bias in Large Pre-trained Neural Language Models", arXiv preprint, DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.48550/arXiv.2301.09003 (In communication) – Chapter 5

Book Chapters:

- 4. Anoop K., "Affect-Oriented Fake News Detection Using Machine Learning", AWSAR Awarded Popular Science Stories By Scientists for the People 2019, Vigyan Prasar, DST, India, 2020, pp. 402-404, ISBN: 978-81-7480-337-5, URL: https: //dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/resources/ppt_pdf/80_Mr._Anoop_Kadan.pdf -Chapter 4
- Anoop K., Manjary P. Gangan, Lajish V. L., "Leveraging heterogeneous data for fake news detection", *Linking and mining heterogeneous and multi-view data*, Springer, Cham, 2019, pp. 229-264, ISBN: 978-3-030-01871-9, DOI: https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-01872-6_10 - Chapter 2

Conferences:

- Anoop K., Manjary P. Gangan, Deepak P., Lajish V. L., "Towards an Enhanced Understanding of Bias in Pre-trained Neural Language Models: A Survey with Special Emphasis on Affective Bias", 7th International Conference on Data Science and Engineering (ICDSE 2021), IIT Patna (17-18 December 2021), Responsible Data Science, Lecture Notes in Electrical Engineering (LNEE), Vol 940., pp. 13-45, Springer, ISBN: 978-981-19-4452-9, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-9 81-19-4453-6_2 (SCOPUS Indexed) – Chapter 2
- Anoop K., Deepak P., and Lajish V. L., "Emotion cognizance improves health fake news identification", *Proceedings of the 24th International Database Engineering* & Applications Symposium (IDEAS '20), Seoul Republic of Korea (12-14 August 2020). Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), Article 12, 1–10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/3410566.3410595 (CORE RANK: B) – Chapter 4

Awards

 Augmenting Writing Skills for Articulating Research (AWSAR) 2019 Award, instituted by the Department of Science and Technology, Government of India for the article "Affect-oriented Fake News Detection using Machine Learning"

Research Grants

 Rajiv Gandhi National Fellowship (RGNF), University Grants Commission (UGC), Government of India (RGNF-2014-15-SC-KER-79884)

1.6 Overview of the Thesis

This section presents an overview of the Thesis and a bird's eye view of the Thesis contributions. The Thesis comprises three major parts, the research objectives, back-ground, and literature review provided in chapters 1 and 2, contributions of the Thesis provided in chapters 3, 4, and 5, and finally the conclusion and future directions in chapter 6. An overview of the Thesis is also summarized in figure 1.1.

Chapter 2 provides the background and related literature review required to understand the concepts described and developed in this Thesis. Section 2.1 provides an introduction to the chapter. A brief background on emotion theories providing a glimpse of how textual emotions are represented and the category of representations that are utilized in this Thesis is given in section 2.2. This is followed by the background and literature review of the three textual affective computing tasks attempted in this Thesis, i.e., Readers' Emotion detection in section 2.3, Affective Bias in large PLMs in section 2.5, and Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection in section 2.4. Section 2.6 concludes the chapter.

Chapter 3 details the novel contribution of readers' emotion detection model called *REDAffectiveLM*, a deep learning based model to predict readers' emotion profiles for textual documents, by leveraging context-specific representation from transformerbased pre-trained language model in tandem with affect enriched representations from an affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention. An introduction to the chapter is provided in section 3.1 and the methodology of *REDAffectiveLM* is detailed in section 3.2. The datasets used for the study are explained in section 3.3 and the empirical study and settings are detailed in section 3.4. Two sets of evaluation are conducted, performance and behavior evaluation, and the results are discussed in section 3.5. Section 3.6 summarizes the proposed work on readers' emotion detection and concludes the chapter.



FIGURE 1.1: Overview of the Thesis

Chapter 4 details the novel methodology of considering the utility of the affective character of textual articles for health fake news identification and presents evidence that affect-oriented representations are more suited for the task. Section 4.1 presents an introduction to the chapter and the details of the methodology is given in section 4.2. The dataset and emotion lexicon used in this study is explained in section 4.3. The empirical study and settings are given in section 4.4 and the results are discussed in section 4.5. A brief discussion is also provided on the potential of emotion-oriented techniques for COVID-19 fake news detection, in section 4.6. Section 4.7 summarizes the proposed work on health fake news detection and concludes the chapter.

Chapter 5 details the novel direction of inquiry towards identifying the existence of affective bias in textual emotion detection models built using large PLMs. Section 5.1 is an introduction to the chapter. The two sets of affective bias analysis in the PLMs are detailed separately as, corpus level affective bias analysis in section 5.2 and prediction level affective bias analysis in section 5.3, along with the corresponding methodology,

evaluation settings, and results and analysis. Based on the observations from the results, a brief discussion is also provided in section 5.4. Section 5.5 summarizes the proposed work on identifying affective bias in large PLMs and concludes the chapter.

Chapter 6 draws the conclusions of this Thesis by highlighting the major contributions in section 6.1, and also discusses the directions for future research in section 6.2.

This concludes the first chapter, where an introduction to the Thesis and different tasks attempted in the Thesis, research objectives, motivation, contributions of the Thesis, the list of publications based on this Thesis, awards and grants received during the course of this study, and an overview of the Thesis is presented.



Chapter 2

Background and Literature Review

"Fear arises with the threat of harm, either physical, emotional, or psychological, real or imagined. While traditionally considered a negative emotion, fear actually serves an important role in keeping us safe as it mobilizes us to cope with potential danger."

> – Paul Ekman Universal Emotions

Abstract: This chapter presents the necessary background and review of related works required for better understanding the subsequent developments of each of the three different facets of textual affective computing attempted in this Thesis.

2.1 Introduction

extual affective computing concerns the development of algorithms that accustom human behavior of subjective decisions that are based on emotion, sentiment, or opinion, to identify what is subjectively written in the text, and how to better interpret the emotional state of humans from a textual write-up or the suitable emotional responses. This Thesis, as alluded to in the introductory chapter (chapter 1), explores three different and very significant facets of Textual Affective Computing research, viz., readers' emotion detection, exploiting textual affect for the downstream task of health fake news detection, and identifying affective bias in large PLMs. Detecting textual affect through readers' perspective or readers' emotion detection is the computational task of modeling algorithms that can predict emotions elicited from the readers while reading a textual document i.e., readers' emotion profiles. The task of understanding the utility of textual affect in health fake news detection considers modeling affect-oriented systems by leveraging emotion information within the text. The task of identifying affective bias in large PLMs intends to unveil the existence of bias or unfairness, if any, in the decisions of textual affective computing systems that are modeled using large PLMs. For all these textual affective computing tasks, human

emotion states defined by several emotion theories are mapped to the computational perspective. A background on, the emotion theories that are required for representing textual emotions and each of the three facets of textual affective computing attempted in this Thesis follows in the subsequent sections along with an insight into the related state-of-the-art works very pertinent to the tasks.

2.1.1 Organization of the Chapter

The rest of the chapter is organized as section 2.2 provides a brief background on the theories of emotion. Section 2.3 provides the background and literature review of Readers' Emotion Detection. Section 2.4 provides the background and literature review of Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection. Section 2.5 provides the background and literature review of Affective Bias in Large PLMs. Finally, section 2.6 summarizes the chapter.

2.2 The Theories of Emotion

The evolutionary picture of emotion starts from the French word émouvoir to the diverged theories based on, emotional expression by Charles Darwin [43], emotional expression by William James [44], appraisal and cognitive theory perspectives of Magda Arnold [45] and the youngest and the most disputed social constructivist perspectives [46]. Several controversial disputes like the arguments of *universality* and *basic emotions* led to a better conceptualization of emotions [47], where discrete and dimensional theories/models of emotion are the two schools of thought extensively discussed by several theorists in psychology, neuroscience, physiology, etc. Discrete emotion models (e.g. [48, 49, 50, 51, 52]) postulate the existence of different and distinct emotions and are aligned towards Darwin's theory of emotion expression [43] whereas, the dimensional models (e.g. [53, 54, 55]) represent emotions as a mixture of multiple fundamental dimensions and are aligned towards Wundt's concept of emotions [56].

Towards representing emotions, among the wide variety of emotion theories, this study of textual affective computing considers Ekman's discrete basic emotions [57] viz., *anger*, *disgust*, *fear*, *joy*, *sadness*, and *surprise*, the most frequently discussed six basic emotions by the theorists in the discrete emotion models, their elements when combined gives rise to compound emotions. This study also utilizes Parrott's list of emotions [58] that consists of a tree-structured list of primary, secondary and tertiary categories of emotions. The primary emotions consist of *love*, *joy*, *surprise*, *anger*, *sadness*, and *fear* that derives the secondary category of emotions, e.g. $love \rightarrow \{affection, lust, ...\}$, *joy* $\rightarrow \{cheerfulness, zest, ...\}$, etc., that in turn derives the tertiary category of

emotions e.g. *love* \rightarrow *affection* \rightarrow {*adoration, fondness,* ...}, etc. Both, Ekman's and Parrott's emotion theories/models are seen to be widely adopted in textual affective computing tasks [59, 60, 61, 62, 63] due to their articulateness to connect to the common set of discrete emotion representations (such as anger, fear, joy, sadness and surprise) associated with real-world textual data in most of the social media platforms.

2.3 Readers' Emotion Detection

Readers' Emotion Detection is essentially a content based classification problem to predict or aggregate the emotions of the readers towards a textual document.

The rise of social media and advancements in information technology enables millions of individuals to write, share, or even criticize opinions freely. This produces a deluge of social interactions manifested through textual data. The ability to add expressive opinions scattered with emojis makes it easy to express diverse emotions. The expression of emotions on social media has been modulated by new affordances from social media platforms such as when Facebook in 2016 introduced five main emotion reactions to deepen the embedding of emotions in responses to social media posts⁷. The presence and usage of such affordances provide a wealth of data to analyze and offer space for research in textual emotion detection through different perspectives, i.e., 'Writer Emotion', emotion expressed by the writer and 'Readers' Emotion', emotion elicited from the readers. This poses an interesting dichotomy in textual emotion detection, as the writer's intended emotions may not always be identical or in sync with the emotions generated for the readers. For example, in figure 2.1 that depicts a news posted on Facebook⁸, where the writer emotion might presumably be *fear* since the topic of discussion is about COVID-19 pandemic, readers' expressed emotions enumerate multiple different emotions including, high amount of joy, anger, surprise, and sadness.

Considering the readers' perspective helps to infer emotion influence of the writer on readers', and also to understand other determinants of readers' emotions such as lexical word combinations or patterns in a document that are essentially accountable for raising a certain mixture of emotions in the readers and how these emotions vary while constructing the document. These would enable novel applications

⁷www.about.fb.com/news/2016/02/reactions-now-available-globally/, accessed: 05-12-2022 ⁸www.facebook.com/cnn/posts/10160880538201509, accessed: 05-12-2022



FIGURE 2.1: A sample of readers' emotion reactions to a social media post

such as *emotion enabled information retrieval* for creation of emotion-aware search engines/recommendation systems [34, 64, 65], *emotion enriched article generation* using syntactic and semantic rules of language along with its emotional impact [66], *article auditing and writer influence forecasting* for automatically modulating emotionally sensitive content [33], evaluating and regulating the *provocation potential of articles*, *modeling of aesthetic emotion in poetry* [67] and other tasks that can be conceptualized.

2.3.1 Computational Approaches for Textual Emotion Detection

Among the large volume of studies present in the literature for textual emotion detection, including the writer/document perspective and readers' perspective, only a few focus on the readers' perspective of textual emotion detection. This section reviews the prominent works in writer and readers' perspectives of textual emotion detection across three categories, viz., lexicon based, classical machine learning, and deep learning approaches. The abundance of works using deep learning prompts in considering it as a separate category despite falling within the broader machine learning umbrella.

Lexicon based Approaches

Studies in this context leverage emotion lexicons, including general-purpose [68, 69, 70] and domain-specific emotion lexicons [62], which consist of lexical word units and their intensity associations to the emotion classes, and its utility to build numerous emotion detection systems by exploiting word level matches. There has been limited exploration in the lexicon based approach of textual emotion detection, very specific to readers' emotions. Such readers' emotion detection works began with the popular shared task, SemEval-2007 Task 14 [59], to predict the intensity of different emotion classes for a reader annotated dataset, where SWAT [71] is one of the popular among the top three systems of this task. This was followed by other works like the Emotion–Term model built over Naïve Bayes and its extension, the Emotion-Topic model that uses topic models [72]. Even though lexicon based approaches are beneficial enough due to their simplicity and ease of spotting keywords from the relevant vocabulary, they are limited in their ability towards handling negations, multiple word senses, etc. In this context, Krcadinac et al. [73] illustrates the possibility of a hybrid lexicon based system, Synesketch, with several heuristic rule sets along with emotion lexicons for textual emotion detection, even though not specifically for readers' emotion. The readers' emotion detection model proposed in chapter 3 make use of Synesketch [73] and two other promising lexicon based approaches specific to readers' emotion detection, i.e., SWAT [71] and Emotion-Term Model [72], as baselines (in section 3.4.2) for model performance comparison.

Machine Learning based Approaches

Classical machine learning opens up the way to learn hidden patterns in the data through several mathematical models and overcome the drawbacks of lexicon based approaches in handling words with implicit emotion expressions. Most studies in this approach of textual emotion detection are designed as supervised multi-class tasks and some as multi-label/multi-target tasks [74], with learning models like Support Vector Machine (SVM) [75], Naïve Bayes [76], multi-layer perceptron [77], logistic regression [78, 79], etc. Features used across such approaches can be broadly categorized as linguistic features [75, 80], symbol level features [62], and affective features [62, 81]. Apart from the widely explored linguistic features like TF-IDF, N-grams, BOW, etc., Ren et al. [80] utilizes pre-trained word embeddings for computing Word Mover's Distance (WMD), a distance based feature to address textual emotion detection. Readers' perspective of textual emotion detection also rely on almost the same set of features and learning prototypes for multi-class [33, 34] and multi-label/multi-target [82,

83] settings. Apart from the supervised studies, there also exists unsupervised ways of readers' emotion detection built with the help of topic level parameters [72, 84, 85]. But Dong et al. [86] point out that such topic-level works are more suitable to predict writer emotions rather than readers' emotions. Considering these, the readers' emotion detection model proposed in chapter 3 choose baseline models that follow multi-target regression based settings since those are likely more suitable to predict readers' emotion intensities, rather than simply mapping to the emotion classes as done in multi-class/label classification settings. Multi-target problems can be addressed in many ways like problem transformation, algorithm adaptation, and ensemble approaches [87]; chapter 3 use baselines that leverage both problem transformation and algorithm adaptation with a few prominent linguistic and affective features such as TF-IDF, NGrams, emotion and sentiment lexicon based features, general purpose and sentiment specific word embedding features, and WMD (discussed in section 3.4.2).

Deep Learning based Approaches

Deep learning architectures significantly outperform classical machine learning approaches in most NLP tasks off late. Deep learning based works in textual emotion detection includes Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) [88], combination of CNN with various Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) models [89, 90], stacked RNNs [61], attention-based architectures [91], Gated Recurrent Unit (GRU) [92], Long Short Term Memory (LSTM) [93], etc. Besides conventional semantic embedding utilized in most of these works, affect enriched word embeddings are proposed using approaches such as training RNN networks over large corpora acquired using distant supervision method [94], combining lexical resources with generic word embeddings [95], and counter-fitting approach applying emotional constraints over word associations to fine-tune pre-trained word embeddings [63], that would be highly beneficial to enhance the performance of textual emotion detection and even the related affectoriented tasks such as sentiment analysis and personality detection [95, 94]. But, only a few studies in textual emotion detection (none specific to readers' emotion detection, to the best knowledge) utilize affect enriched representations. Notable works in this context would be that proposed by Kratzwald et al. [60] and Chatterjee et al. [61] considering the possibilities of sentiment aided transfer learning (sent2affect) and sentiment-specific word embedding (SS-BED), respectively, for textual emotion detection. Research in textual emotion detection specific to readers' emotions also explore similar learning architectures [96, 86, 97]. Slightly different lines of inquiry to predict readers' emotions are presented in the recent works, viz., the one proposed by Srivastava et al. [98] that utilize an ontology driven knowledge base with a deep learning

classifier, and the other work of Mou et al. [99] that combines comments along with articles as input to their deep learning model.

The recent transformer-based autoregressive and autoencoding pre-trained neural language models like BERT [100], GPT [101], XLNet [41], etc., have explored representing context-specific, deeper and generic linguistic characteristics, thereby improving the performance, with the capability to fine-tune the architecture according to different NLP downstream tasks. These transformer-based language models are recently used in textual emotion detection [102], though not specifically in readers' emotion detection, and are seen to obtain improved performance. There are also works in textual emotion detection that combines transformer-based language model with graph convolutional network [66], and Bidirectional LSTM (Bi-LSTM) learned from language-model [103]; these works predominantly rely on context-specific representations learned from the transformer-based language models. In reference to such recent advances, the readers' emotion detection model proposed in chapter 3 draw upon the notable studies sent2affect [60] and SS-BED [61], the RNN architectures, GRU, LSTM and Bi-LSTM [92, 89, 61, 60], attention based architectures Bi-LSTM+Attention and affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention, and transformer based architecture XLNet as baselines (in section 3.4.2) for the empirical evaluation.

The Question of Interpretability

Deep learning based approaches for textual emotion detection are found to generally outperform other approaches but, their decisions are not easily explainable as their core learnings are embedded deep within several weight parameters. Nonetheless, there has been much interest in using attention networks in order to throw light into the workings of deep learning models. Using attention, neural architectures can automatically differentiate slices of input data in form of weights, and such learnt attention can also aid the overall learning. This helps to boost the overall model performance and enhance interpretability. While there has been research in textual emotion detection that incorporates attention mechanisms to improve model performance [90, 104] or to observe salient words responsible for decision making in typical architectures [91, 105, 106], there has been virtually no exploration tuned specifically to readers' emotion detection. However, models for related tasks may be considered for the task. The sentiment analysis based work by Sen et al. [107] demonstrating and quantifying the resemblance of machine attention maps with hand-labeled human attention maps is a notable work in this regard. Others include research on text classification by Lertvittayakumjorn et al. [108] that performs human grounded explanation evaluations to analyze model behavior, model predictions, and uncertain predictions, and the research by Wiegreffe et al. [109] proposing various tests to determine the usefulness of attention to obtain explanations. Insights from these works along with some of the attention based works in NLP (e.g. [110, 111]) show that attention does encode several linguistic notions and hence one can utilize attention as a prominent way of interpretability to open the neural black box. In this context, the readers' emotion detection model proposed in chapter 3 adopts attention mechanism to interpret emotion associated linguistic notions and their importance in predictions.

2.4 Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection

Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection identifies the genuineness of health news by employing techniques that leverage affective information within the news content.

The spread of fake news is increasingly being recognized as an enormous problem. In recent times, fake news has been reported to have grave consequences such as causing accidents [112], while fake news around election times has reportedly reached millions of people [113] causing concerns whether they might have influenced the electoral outcome. *Fake news* was recognized as the Macquarie Dictionary Word of the Year 2016⁹ and *Post-Truth* as the Oxford Dictionary Word of the Year in 2016¹⁰. Fake news are created mostly by intentionally fabricating the textual content of the news articles completely, or modifying the content with some partially true information. Fake news usually contain sensational captions for increasing the reads, share, or internet click revenue, with articles generally blended with exaggerated emotion content; perhaps with the intention to catch one's eye and emotionally mislead. A few examples of fake and real news headlines listed below show the presence of exaggerated emotion content in fake news headlines than in the real.

Fake News Headlines:

- Warning! This household plant can kill a child in less than a minute and an adult in 15 minutes!¹¹
- Scientists find root that kills 98% of cancer cells in only 48 Hours¹²

⁹www.macquariedictionary.com.au/blog/article/780/, accessed: 05-12-2022

¹⁰https://languages.oup.com/word-of-the-year/2016/, accessed: 05-12-2022

¹¹www.snopes.com/fact-check/household-dieffenbachia-deadly/, accessed: 05-12-2022

¹²www.usatoday.com/story/news/factcheck/2021/05/04/fact-check-dandelion-root-does-not -treat-cancer-two-days/4886361001/, accessed: 05-12-2022

Real News Headlines:

- Chain-smoking children: Indonesia's ongoing tobacco epidemic¹³
- Breastfeeding makes kids more likely to eat vegetables¹⁴

Such news articles with exaggerated content are one of the significant characteristics of contemporary fake news articles. In this context, the methodology for fake news detection proposed in chapter 4 considers the utility of the affective character of news articles.

2.4.1 Computational Approaches for Fake News Detection

Two streams of related work very pertinent to the task of affect-oriented health fake news detection are surveyed here, that of general fake news detection, and secondly, those relating to the analysis of emotions in fake news.

Fake News Detection

Owing to the emergence of much recent interest in the task of fake news detection, there have been many publications on this topic of fake news detection in the last few years leveraging the content, network/structural (e.g., user network) and temporal (e.g., re-tweets in Twitter) features in supervised and unsupervised settings. For content based analysis the features employed include textual features such as linguistic, stylometric, statistical, structure and syntax features, etc., [114, 115, 116, 117]. Userbased, propagation, structure, behavior features of the network, etc., are those considered in the domain of network based features [114, 118, 119, 120], and temporal information of users, events, articles, etc., are considered as the temporal features [118, 119, 35]. A representative and non-comprehensive snapshot of works in this area appear in table 2.1.

As may be seen therein, most efforts have focused on detecting misinformation within microblogging platforms [123, 125, 127, 128]; some of them, notably [123], target scenarios where the candidate article itself resides outside the microblogging platform, but classification task is largely dependent on information within. An emerging trend, as exemplified by Wu et al. [123] and Ma et al. [125], focuses on how information propagates within the microblogging platform, to distinguish between misinformation and legitimate ones. Unsupervised misinformation detection techniques

¹³www.edition.cnn.com/2017/08/30/health/chain-smoking-children-tobacco-indonesia/ind ex.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

¹⁴www.hindustantimes.com/health/breastfeeding-makes-kid-more-likely-to-eat-vegetable s/story-yH9AdVz45N0LmI0WerTgSK.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

Work	Task Setting	Target Domain	Features Used		
			Content	Network	Temporal
Kwon et al., [118]	Supervised	Twitter	1	1	1
Zubiaga et al., [121]	Supervised	Twitter	1	1	1
Qazvinian et al., [122]	Supervised	Twitter	✓	✓	1
Wu and Liu, [<mark>123</mark>]	Supervised	Twitter	1	1	1
Ma et al., [<mark>112</mark>]	Supervised	Twitter	1	×	1
Zhao et al., [124]	Supervised	Twitter	1	X	1
Ma et al., [125]	Supervised	Twitter	1	×	1
Guo et al., [126]	Supervised	Weibo	1	1	1
Zhang et al., [127]	Unsupervised	Weibo	1	×	1
Zhang et al., [128]	Unsupervised	Weibo	1	×	1

TABLE 2.1: Related works in fake news detection

[127, 128] start with the premise that misinformation is rare and of differing character from the large majority, and use techniques that resemble outlier detection methods in flavor. A large majority of research efforts on fake news detection focuses on the political domain within microblogging environments [112, 124, 122, 129, 125, 130], where structural and temporal propagation information are available in plenty. But only very few works focus on fake news detection within the significant domain of health [131]. Fake news detection methods also contain human-in-the-loop methods that distinguish fake and real news by crowdsourcing or fact-checking techniques [132, 133]. Figure 2.2 shows brief anatomy of the features and detection strategies or learning techniques employed for fake news detection.

Textual Emotions and Fake News

Apart from the conventional way of analyzing the content, structural, and temporal information to identify fake news, a few works are also seen to attempt another line of research that focuses on affective information within the content of the news articles to detect fake news. Of particular interest is the recent work proposed by Patro et al. [131] that uses emotional cues within the tweets and reports exaggerated health news content; it may be noted that the emotion analysis, in this case, is performed on the tweets and not on the articles themselves. Another set of recent works are, the one proposed by Bhutani et al. [134] that make use of sentiment scores, and the other proposed by Guo et al. [126] that targets to exploit emotions for fake news detection within microblogging platforms by extensive usage of publisher emotions (emotions expressed in the content) and social emotions (emotions expressed in the responses) to



FIGURE 2.2: Fake news detection approaches

improve upon the state-of-the-art in fake news detection accuracies. A recent survey on fake news in social media by Shu et al. [135] discusses the importance of emotion information within the context of fake news detection. On a related note, Paschen et al. [136] conducts an empirical analysis on 150 real and 150 fake news articles from the political domain and reports finding significantly more negative emotions in the titles of the latter. With the backdrop of these studies, the methodology proposed in chapter 4 considers the utility of emotion enriched representations for fake news detection in the health domain, where information is usually long-text in nature when compared to the content in microblogging platforms.

2.5 Identifying Affective Bias in Large PLMs

Affective Bias analysis in large PLMs explores the unfair or biased association of affect with the social groups in a domain and how it influences the systems that utilize these PLMs.

Recently, large scale NLP models are being increasingly deployed in many realworld applications within almost all domains such as health-care [137, 138], business

[139], legal systems [140], etc., due to its efficacy to make data-driven decisions and capability of natural language understanding even better than humans¹⁵ [141]. Transformer based large PLMs like BERT [100], GPT [101], etc., have been hugely influential in NLP due to their capability to efficiently capture linguistic properties and generate powerful contextual representations [142]. The inclusion of contextual representations has led large PLMs to become popular in addressing many downstream tasks such as Question Answering, Sentiment Analysis, Neural Machine Translation, etc., [143]. PLMs are mostly built based on a self-supervised learning strategy that highly relies on unlabelled data abundantly available from the human generated data deluge [141]. But, since this historical data of textual write-ups have their roots within human thought, they often reflect latent social stereotypes, propagate unfairness towards marginalized social groups and assign power to oppressive institutions [144, 145, 146]. For example, the Social Role Theory by Eagly et al. [147] demonstrates that the idea of gender stereotype develops from perceivers' observations, associating the capabilities and personality attributes of different genders with the activities in which they engage in their day-to-day lives over a time, building rigid stereotypes in human minds and their writings, on how these genders behave (e.g. women are highly emotional), where they work (e.g. women preferred in children's daycare), etc. Also, it is often very hard to analyze the quality of data in large-scale corpora in the context of such oppressive nature of language [148]. Hence the data from such human generated data repositories eventually convey these stereotypes as linguistic biases, such as gender bias, racial bias, religious bias, or age bias, through the NLP algorithms, especially those built on large PLMs that utilize huge amounts of data [144].

Bias in PLMs can be viewed through different perspectives, domains of bias, and stages in which they occur. A heterogeneous view of PLM biases is illustrated in figure 2.3. Bias in PLMs may be seen as belonging to two categories, viz., descriptive and stylistic. Descriptive biases arise from discrimination or marginalization in associating identities to certain concepts or properties based on textual semantics, e.g. word embeddings associate *father* to *doctor* and *mother* to *nurse* [149]. Stylistic biases originate due to stylistic differences in texts with the same content but generated by different socio-economic groups [150], for example, unfair treatment to African American English while using language identification tools and dependency parsers [151]. Bias in PLMs are analyzed in various domains, either primary analysis of bias with respect to the domains such as gender, race, ethnicity, age, and profession or analyzing intersectional bias by considering a combination of multiple domains such as religion+gender (e.g., Muslim lady) and race+gender (e.g., black woman).

¹⁵https://www.infoq.com/news/2021/01/google-microsoft-superhuman/, accessed: 05-12-2022



FIGURE 2.3: Heterogeneous view of bias in large PLMs

To mitigate bias, it is essential to understand and disentangle the various sources of bias. Bias in large PLMs arises from different stages of their developmental process. Figure 2.4 illustrates the possible stages where bias may originate, particularly focusing on the recent transformer based large PLMs. As depicted in the figure, *Historical Bias, Pre-training* and *Fine-tuning Data Bias, Model Learning Bias, Representation Bias, Measurement Bias,* and *Downstream Task learning Bias* are the few possible stages of biases in large PLMs. Human language that forms today's data deluge, big enough to train data greedy NLP algorithms, historically accumulates several severe stereotypes and social biases that pervade society i.e., *Historical Bias* [152]. Therefore, even though we perfectly measure and take data samples from these historical data repositories, these are ridden with biases, i.e., *Data Bias,* a representative of historical bias, which thereby brings about bias in PLMs [153]. It is the most general source of bias among different sources of bias explored in literature for various tasks [154]. Quality issues in data, uneven distribution (occurrence or co-occurrences) of key terms associated with target terms concerning a domain [155], etc., are other factors that contribute towards



FIGURE 2.4: Stages of bias in large PLMs

data bias. In the context of large PLMs, data bias may be *Pre-training Data Bias* from the large scale corpora during the initial pre-training process of the PLMs or/and Fine*tuning Data Bias* which is associated with the fine-tuning data of the downstream task. Studies report that data biases can propagate and get further amplified by underlying machine learning models leading to Model Learning Bias at the level of self-supervised learning when trying to learn linguistic properties and Downstream Task Learning Bias at the level of fine-tuning the task specific model. Model learning bias is reflected in word representations derived from PLMs and produces Representation Bias. Inappropriate or unfair choice of label usages to fine-tune downstream tasks is another source of bias i.e., Measurement Bias [153]. These biases can be distinguished as Intrinsic Bias if it occurs in pre-trained learning or Extrinsic Bias if it occurs in downstream task modeling. Besides above mentioned biases, in the perspective of real-world machine learning models, the final system must consider Evaluation Bias that occurs when a benchmark dataset for a task doesn't represent certain groups (e.g., scarce representation of images for non-white women) and Deployment Bias that occurs due to incompatibility of a model designed for a particular task when used differently (e.g., using risk assessment tool created to predict future crime for a different task of determining the length of sentence/verdict) [153].

Biased representation of emotions in language leads to another linguistic bias, *Affective Bias*, that discriminates against social groups on the basis of certain emotions. The term Affective bias in NLP defines the existence of unfair or biased associations of

affect (emotions like anger, fear, joy, etc., or sentiments like positive, negative, etc.) towards underrepresented groups or over-generalized beliefs (stereotypes) about particular social groups in textual documents. Similar to other general affect-agnostic algorithmic biases like gender bias, racial bias, etc., possible stimuli to affective biases are the latent emotion based stereotypes about different social groups in the data. Studies report that such emotion based stereotyping influences the socialization of emotions leading to the propagation of stereotypes such as associating women's (or men's) experiences and expressions being aligned with fear and sadness (or anger and pride) [156]. Similarly, affective bias within systems could reflect stereotypes such as 'angry black woman', facilitating a higher association of black women to the emotion anger when considering emotions with the domains race and gender [157]. PLM GPT-3 [158] when utilized for the task of language generation, a threatening scenario has been experimentally demonstrated by Abid et al. [29], such as, 'Two Muslims walked into a ', is completed by GPT-3 with 'synagogue with axes and a bomb' and 'gay bar in Seattle and started shooting at will, killing five people'. This is evidently discriminatory and shows instance of affective bias towards certain religion. Another real-world scenario of affective bias is the case of the Google sentiment analyzer judging that being gay is bad by assigning high negative sentiments to sentences such as 'I'm a gay black woman', 'I'm a homosexual', etc., 16 . Similar to any other general social biases, the existence of these affective biases makes textual affective computing systems generate unfair or biased decisions that can harm their utility towards socially marginalized populations by denying opportunities/resources or by the false portrayal of these groups when deployed in real-world. Hence, understanding affective bias in NLP plays a vital role in achieving algorithmic fairness, by protecting the socio-political and moral equality of marginalized groups. The concept of affective bias is valid and applicable beyond the NLP frameworks; there are works such as [159] reporting chances of high classification error rates for facial emotion detection systems towards underrepresented social groups.

2.5.1 Computational Approaches Addressing Bias in PLMs

This section reviews the state-of-the-art works very specific to the task of identifying affective bias in large PLMs, firstly presenting the review of general affect-agnostic bias analysis in PLMs, and secondly those relating to affect-oriented bias analysis.

¹⁶www.vice.com/en/article/j5jmj8/google-artificial-intelligence-bias, accessed: 05-12-2022

General Affect Agnostic Bias Analysis

Recent works in the literature have focused on several approaches to identify and mitigate the existence of latent biases in PLMs. Table 2.2 shows works in the literature that explore bias in PLMs with respect to different domains where a major portion of works relate to the gender domain. These works perform bias analysis by inspecting at various levels, commencing from the corpus level to the downstream task level. Works addressing bias at the corpus level analyze the terms relating a domain and their associations with key terms against which bias is examined, e.g., the association between gender and stereotypically gendered occupation terms [155, 160]. Bordia and Bowman [155] conduct corpus level bias analysis in three publicly available datasets that are used to build language models by finding bias scores built using word-level probability profiles within the context of gendered words. Tan et al. [160] count occurrences of key terms (e.g., female or male pronouns) and their co-occurrence with stereotypically gendered occupation terms and perform statistical analysis to find gender, racial and intersectional biases in datasets used to pre-train contextual word models.

Domain	Examples of Protected/Target groups	Work		
Gender	Male, Female, Gay, Lesbian	[161, 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 149, 167, 155, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 28, 174, 175, 176, 177, 178, 179, 150, 180, 181, 182, 160, 183, 184, 185, 186, 187, 188, 189, 190, 191]		
Race	Black, White	[173, 28, 177, 150, 160, 184]		
Religion	Jewish, Hindu, Muslim, Christian	[29, 169, 173, 177, 179]		
Profession	Homemaker, Nurse, Architect	[161, 166, 170, 192, 177]		
Ethnicity	Asian, Hispanic	[193, 172, 194, 179]		
Disability	Sensory (blind), Neurodiverse (autistism), Psychosocial (schizophrenia)	[173, 176, 184]		
Age	Old, Young	[195, 173, 179]		
Politics	Conservative, Liberal	[196, 179, 150]		
Continent	Africa, Asia, Oceania, Europe	[161, 169, 171]		
Nationality	American, Italian	[173, 197]		
Physical appearance	Short, Tall, Fat, Thin, Overweight	[173, 179]		
Socioeconomic status	Poor, Rich, Homeless	[173]		
Intersectional	Race + Gender (Black Women)	[171, 192, 176, 160]		

TABLE 2.2: Different domains of bias in PLMs

In model level analysis, bias is quantified using various metrics depending on the tasks, where evaluating geometry of the word vector space [149], performing association tests such as Word Embedding Association Test [198] and Sentence Encoder Association Test [199], measuring bias of classification tasks using demographic parity and equal opportunity [200], etc., are popular approaches in the literature. At the downstream task level, bias is quantified by checking the performance scores of a system over an evaluation corpus that differs only in the context of target terms in which the domain of bias is being studied, for example, gender-swapping to change the gender of gendered words, like '<u>She is here'</u> to '<u>He</u> is here', and then evaluating the model performance of these two sentences [175, 201, 202]. The system exhibits gender bias if it produces different performance scores for both sentences that only differ in gendered words. Such strategy of bias identification at the downstream task level is explored for a variety of tasks such as in text classifier constructed to identify toxic comments [203], and coreference resolution [202, 201, 175].

Besides identifying these biases, to mitigate them various approaches are adopted, including data augmentation or modification to counterbalance under/over representations of any social group(s) within a domain [190, 202] (i.e., pre-processing), modifying loss function of the model during training (i.e., in-processing), and calibrating model predictions tending them towards the training distribution or a specific fairness metric (i.e. post-processing) [200]. All these bias identification and mitigation techniques and their different notions are seen to be explored in various studies such as investigating toxic language generation [204], mitigating social bias in text generation [205], identifying unfair algorithmic decisions in downstream tasks like co-reference resolution [202], text classification [203], etc., and even in human-aligned ethical [206] and social implications [207] of bias.

Affect-oriented Bias Analysis

Many textual affective computing systems in the category of lexicon based [179], conventional machine learning [182], deep learning [166, 150], and hybrid [195] approaches perpetuate affective bias, which, in general, is transmitted from affect-oriented bias generated from historical data through models learnt over large scale textual corpora. The works addressing affect-oriented bias belong to two broad categories, conventional and run-time verification approaches. Conventional approaches identify and mitigate affect-oriented bias from the training corpora, algorithm, representations, etc., by applying pre-processing, in-processing, and post-processing strategies similar to those addressing general affect-agnostic biases in NLP [28, 182, 184]. On the contrary, run-time approaches examine and identify biased predictions during each execution of the system using mutated sentences generated from original input text [187, 161], generally suitable to validate whether the system satisfies fairness criteria in each run.

Table 2.3 illustrates an extensive snapshot of works addressing affect-oriented bias along with their major characteristics. When most works in literature try to identify the existence of affect-oriented bias in NLP systems, only very few explore its mitigation. A predominant part of existing works study affect-oriented bias through the perspective of sentiment analysis, and that too specific to gender domain [166, 179, 150, 182, 187]. Whereas, affect-oriented bias in the perspective of fine-grained emotion classes (anger, fear, joy sadness, etc.) and their impact in other domains like religion, politics, intersectional biases, etc., have not been investigated as much, except in [28, 184]. The conventional approach by Shen et al. [150] investigates bias in sentiment prediction for textual write-ups comprising similar content generated by different groups of people. The analysis and identification of bias are conducted on four publicly available lexicons and deep learning based systems. A similar approach by Zhiltsova et al. [208] also identifies and mitigates sentiment bias against non-native English text by using four popular lexicon based emotion prediction systems. Both these works rely on linguistic style changes across different human groups and how it leads to affect-oriented bias in NLP.

Apart from the analysis of affect-oriented bias in lexicon and conventional machine learning systems, researchers also explore non-contextual word embeddings such as word2vec, GloVe, and FastText in the context of affect-oriented bias [195, 179, 182]. A significant contribution in this regard is the work by Diaz et al. [195] addressing age related affect-oriented bias in ten widely used word embeddings and fifteen different sentiment analysis models. The work primarily validates whether opinion polling systems falsely report any age group (old or young) more negatively or positively, for example, a sentence with adjectives of 'young' more likely scores positive sentiments than the same sentence with adjectives of 'old' [195]. Among the similar studies based on non-contextualized word embeddings, Sweeney et al. [182] introduce an adversarial learning strategy to mitigate demographic affective bias in word2vec and GloVe, and Rozado et al. [179] screen word embeddings to identify bias through the notion of representing words along the cultural axis in the embedding space. Different from these sentiment perspective works, in the perspective of fine-grained emotions, a notable work is that proposed by Kiritchenko and Mohammad [28] identifying affective bias in two hundred emotion prediction systems that participated in the shared task SemEval-2018 Task 1 Affect in Tweets. They procure a synthetic evaluation corpus, Equity Evaluation Corpus (EEC), one of the few publicly available evaluation corpus that

Work	Domain	Quantification	Mitigation	Model		
Sentiment perspective						
[187]	Gender	BiasFinder in [161]	_	BERT		
[161]	Gender, Occupation, Country of origin	Metamorphic testing	— BERT, RoBERTa, ALBERT, ELECTR/ Muppet			
[182]	Gender	Directional sentiment vectors	Adversarial learning	SVM, LSTM		
[179]	Gender, Religion, Politics, Ethnicity, Sociodemographic status, Age, Physical appearance	Projecting word embeddings to cultural axis	_	Lexicon based		
[166]	Gender, Occupation	Statistical significance difference	—	BERT, Bi-LSTM, logistic Regression		
[195]	Age	Paired t-test, multinomial log-linear regression	—	Lexicon based, conventional machine learning, hybrid		
[150]	Gender, Race, Politics	Difference in mean sentiment score, statistical significance test, linear regression	_	Dynamic CNN, LSTM, rule based, naive bayes		
[208]	Non-native English speaker	Wilcoxon signed rank test	Lexical score	VADER, Afinn, SentimentR, TextBlob		
Emotion perspective						
[184]	Gender, Race	Linear regression on sentiment scores, mean score of prediction	—	DistilBERT, TextBlob, VADER, Google API		
[28]	Gender, Race	Average score difference	—	Deep Learning, conventional machine learning, lexicon based		

TABLE 2.3: Works addressing affect-oriented bias

has generic evaluation sentences and ground truth emotion labels as basic emotions anger, fear, joy, and sadness for all evaluation sentences in the corpus. Another work in the perspective of fine-grained emotions proposed by Venkit et al. [184] also procures a synthetics evaluation corpus considering sentences for the domain of persons with disabilities in sentiment analysis and toxicity classification models.

Recently several works address bias in large PLMs due to the efficacy and utility of PLMs in many NLP tasks. But most of these works in PLMs address general affectagnostic biases [205, 177, 180, 183, 170, 165, 172, 181], rarely very few works address affect-oriented biases through sentiment perspective [166, 161, 187, 209], and to the best knowledge, none investigate affective bias in large PLMs through the perspective of fine-grained emotions. An approach to quantify sentiment bias concerning occupational stereotypes in contextualized large PLM, BERT, is discussed in [166]. Notable works to uncover bias in sentiment analysis systems that utilize popular PLMs such as Google BERT, Facebook RoBERTa, Google ALBERT, Google ELECTRA, and Facebook Muppet rely on run-time verification approach instead of conventional paradigms [161, 187]. Another interesting approach by Huang et al., [209] investigates sentiment bias introduced in text generated by language models. These emerging scenarios facilitate conducting experiments to identify and mitigate affective bias in large PLMs through the perspective of fine-grained emotions. In this context, the study proposed in chapter 5 identifies affective bias in textual emotion detection models that utilize large PLMs.

2.6 Summary

This chapter presented a brief background of emotion theories, followed by the background and review of the state-of-the-art works corresponding to the three textual affective computing tasks, Readers' Emotion detection, Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection, and identifying Affective Bias in large PLMs, attempted in this thesis. Instead of delineating the proposed works in the backdrop of the state-of-the-art along with the literature review presented in this chapter, it is provided in the respective chapters where the proposed works are detailed (i.e., in sections 3.1.2, 4.1.2, and 5.1.2) so that it helps to better understand the research gap that the proposed works aim to address.



Chapter 3

REDAffectiveLM: Leveraging Affect Enriched Embedding and Transformer based Neural Language Model for Readers' Emotion Detection

"**Disgust** arises as a feeling of aversion towards something offensive. We can feel disgusted by something we perceive with our physical senses (sight, smell, touch, sound, taste), by the actions or appearances of people, and even by ideas."

> – Paul Ekman Universal Emotions

Abstract: This chapter presents a novel approach for Readers' Emotion Detection from short-text documents using a deep learning model called *REDAffectiveLM*. Within the state-of-the-art NLP tasks, it is well understood that utilizing context-specific representations from transformer-based pre-trained language models helps achieve improved performance. This affective computing task explores how incorporating affective information can further enhance the performance. Towards this, the proposed model leverages context-specific and affect enriched representations by using a transformer-based pre-trained language model in tandem with affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention. The major benefit of this study includes a readers' emotion detection model *REDAffectiveLM* that significantly outperforms the state-of-the-art baselines, establishing that utilizing affect enriched representation along with context-specific representation within a neural architecture can considerably enhance readers' emotion detection. This study also performs a systematic investigation of decision-making or behavior of the affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention network to study the impact of affect enrichment in readers' emotion detection, establishing that compared to conventional semantic embedding the affect enriched metedding the ability of the network to effectively identify and assign weightages to the key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection to improve prediction.

3.1 Introduction

R eaders' Emotion Detection within the broad area of textual emotion detection, as discussed in section 2.3, is one of the demanding tasks in NLP with novel applications. This chapter presents a deep learning based model *REDAffectiveLM*

for predicting the readers' emotion profiles of textual documents by leveraging both context-specific and affect enriched representations. To leverage context-specific representation, this study utilizes a large PLM, and for affect enriched representation, a Bi-LSTM+Attention network fed with affect enriched embedding is used. The study is conducted over news documents that are short-text in nature. Experiments are performed across the newly procured extensive datasets REN-20k and RENh-4k along with the benchmark dataset SemEval-2007. The study conducts two sets of rigorous experimental evaluations. Firstly, the performance of the proposed model is compared against a vast set of state-of-the-art baselines belonging to different categories of emotion detection viz., deep learning, lexicon based, and classical machine learning, through various coarse-grained and fine-grained evaluation measures. Secondly, since the impact of affect enrichment specifically in readers' emotion detection isn't well explored, the study also presents a novel direction of inquiry towards analyzing the impact of affect enrichment for the task of readers' emotion detection using qualitative and quantitative behavior evaluation techniques over the affect enriched **Bi-LSTM+Attention**.

3.1.1 Research Question

This chapter addresses the following research questions.

- *RQ1*: Context-specific representations from transformer-based pre-trained language models help textual emotion detection systems to achieve improved performance but, being an affective computing task, can the performance be further enhanced by incorporating or combining with affective representations?
- *RQ2*: Compared to conventional semantic embedding, does affect enrichment help to obtain higher performance by effectively identifying and assigning weightage to the key terms (emotion words and named entities) responsible for readers' emotion detection?

3.1.2 Demarcating Proposed Work in Context of State-of-the-art

The works in literature that specifically address readers' perspective of emotion detection [72, 83, 96, 210] are very few among the vast area of textual emotion detection. A major set of works are seen to be built over the backdrop of conventional semantic word embeddings [96, 210], which are powerful enough to identify similarities between words in near context; but a notable limitation due to the smaller window of neighboring words enables many times the contradictory affective words (emotion words) to share almost similar word representations (e.g. 'good' and 'bad') while learning these word embeddings [211]. This leads to degradation in performance among the affective computing related tasks such as sentiment analysis and emotion detection, and brings more suitable ways of word embeddings to encode affective information such as sentiment-specific [212] and affect enriched [63, 95, 94] embeddings. But even though an affective computing task, there has rarely been any work in text emotion detection that utilizes affect enriched word embedding [61] and, to the best knowledge, none specific to readers' emotion detection, so far. Textual emotion detection works in this context would be that of Chatterjee et al. [61] proposing SS-BED, a sentiment specific word embedding, and Kratzwald et al. [60] proposing sent2affect, a sentiment aided transfer learning from source network trained for sentiment analysis task to a target textual emotion detection network without direct affect enrichment in embedding. But, both these works consider coarse-grained sentiment enrichment rather than affect enrichment required to suit the much fine-grained task of detecting diverse emotion classes.

Even though the above mentioned representations/embeddings provide useful advancements, they are only capable of encoding the syntactic information and the word sense, but mostly miss to represent different meanings of the same word as a function of its context (e.g. the word 'bank' have different meanings in the context of words such as 'river' and 'finance'). Transformer-based pre-trained language models capable of generating context-specific representations are recently used in textual emotion detection [102], even though not specifically in readers' emotion detection, and are seen to obtain improved predictions. But, these context-specific representations from the pre-trained language models lack an explicit orientation towards representing affective information, something that is quite critical for affective computing tasks. Utilizing affective information along with these context-specific representations would be highly beneficial for the task of readers' emotion detection, as they are seen to produce better results when utilized in affective computing related tasks such as sentiment analysis, personality detection, etc., [95]. Therefore, for the first time (to the best knowledge), this work attempts to leverage the utility of both context-specific and affect enriched representations for the task of readers' emotion detection by proposing a deep learning based model REDAffectiveLM built by fusing a transformer-based pre-trained language model with an affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention network. The study follows multi-target regression settings [96, 213] that, beyond emotion classes, also provide information of emotion intensities, unlike

the major category of single/multi-class or multi-label classification settings predicting only the emotion classes [82, 83, 74].

Among the deep learning based studies in textual emotion detection, there has been some recent interest in utilizing attention mechanisms to improve the performance [110] or to observe the words responsible for decision making [214]. But, to the best knowledge, there has been no prior work, so far, analyzing and quantifying the role of emotion words or named entities, and analysing the impact of affect enrichment for the task of readers' emotion detection. This work utilizes the attention mechanism with an intention to analyze the interpretable nature and underlying behavior of the network for readers' emotion detection by quantifying the role of emotion words and named entities in decision making and conducting qualitative and quantitative analysis to identify the impact of affect enrichment in readers' emotion detection.

3.1.3 Motivation

The proposed readers' emotion detection methodology is inspired from the state-ofthe-art research for NLP and affective computing that explores the combination of PLMs with various networks to improve the overall model performance [66, 103]. The choice of transformer-based pre-trained language model XLNet [41] (that shall be detailed in section 3.2.2), is motivated by its efficacy to combine the qualities of both autoregressive (e.g. GPT [101]) and autoencoding (e.g. BERT [100]) pre-trained language models and produce improved performance over affective computing related tasks like sentiment analysis [41]. The choice of affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention as the deep learning model is motivated by the pre-eminence of Bi-LSTM within related tasks and from the work proposed in [95] that demonstrates affect enrichment can improve performance of affective computing tasks. Bi-LSTM has the capability to learn long-term dependencies without keeping duplicate context representations and perform sequential modeling in both directions [215, 216], and attention has the potential to enrich model performance [110] while also improving transparency of decision making and emerging as a prominent way of infusing interpretability within neural black box models [107].

To the best knowledge, there are only a few datasets that provide emotion intensities for regression based studies [217, 218]. However, these datasets are not suitable for readers' emotion detection studies that employ multi-target regression settings, as they map the documents to only a single emotion with corresponding intensity. An available benchmark dataset that suits multi-target regression based readers' emotion detection is SemEval-2007 [59]; but being annotated by only six readers, this dataset does not meet the real-world scenario of a document being read and annotated by many readers. Also, even though there are few readers' emotion detection models within specific contexts (e.g., [84, 219] that utilize Chinese corpora), there exists a need for readers' emotion detection dataset in English to learn the linguistic and affective characteristics. This inadequacy, as mentioned in [72, 85, 220], motivates to procure extensive datasets that particularly suit the deep learning based multi-target regression settings to predict readers' emotion intensities rather than emotion class mapping.

3.1.4 Contributions

The major contributions of this chapter are listed below.

- This chapter proposes a novel deep learning approach for Readers' Emotion Detection called *REDAffectiveLM*, to predict readers' emotion profiles from shorttext documents. This, in a novel direction, leverages both context-specific and affect enriched representations by fusing a transformer-based pre-trained neural language model and a Bi-LSTM+Attention network that utilizes affect enriched embedding.
- The chapter presents performance evaluation of the proposed model *REDAf-fectiveLM* rigorously against a vast set of state-of-the-art baselines belonging to different categories of textual emotion detection, where the proposed model consistently outperforms the baselines, providing statistically significant improvements on fine-grained and coarse-grained evaluation measures.
- The chapter also conducts a detailed behavior analysis by investigating interpretability of attention mechanism, to understand the impact of affect enrichment specifically in readers' emotion detection using qualitative and quantitative behavior evaluation techniques over affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention network.
- To conduct the study two Readers' Emotion News datasets are procured, REN-20k and RENh-4k with more than 20000 and 4000 news documents and associated readers' emotions profiles, respectively. As article genre information are also included in these datasets, they can be used for multiple tasks including document summarization and genre classification, in various scales (short-text and long-text), apart from readers' emotion detection, making them *heterogeneous task datasets*. To aid the future research, REN-20k and RENh-4k are made publicly available at https://dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/resources/ren-20k.html and https://dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/resources/ren-4k.html, respectively.

3.1.5 Organization of the Chapter

The rest of the chapter is organized as section 3.2 provides a detailed description of the proposed deep learning model for readers' emotion detection followed by section 3.3 explaining the datasets used in this study. Section 3.4 presents the empirical study including details of experimental settings, description of baselines and performance evaluation measures. Results and discussion in section 3.5 initially evaluate the performance of the proposed model by comparing against the baselines, followed by statistical significance tests and later, the behavior analysis of affect enrichment in readers' emotion detection. Finally, section 3.6 summarizes the chapter.

3.2 REDAffectiveLM - Methodology

This section presents the proposed method for Readers' Emotions Detection from textual documents by initially discussing the problem settings followed by architecture of the proposed model, *REDAffectiveLM*.

3.2.1 Problem Setting

The task of detecting readers' emotions of a textual document is formulated as a multi-target regression problem, where the statistical model applied on each input document is expected to produce intensity values for various emotion classes namely, *anger, fear, joy, sadness,* and *surprise*. Each textual document consists of a sequence of words $[w_1, w_2, w_3, ...]$, each word drawn from the dictionary of words compiled from across the document corpus. For each document *d*, the corresponding readers' emotion profile from labeled data is modeled as a normalized distribution of votes cast by multiple readers for *E* distinct emotions represented as,

$$ep_r(d) = \{e_1, e_2, \dots, e_E\} \in \mathbb{R}^E$$
 where $e_i \in [0, 1]$ and $\sum_i e_i = 1$ (3.1)

Thus, a document that has gathered equal votes for a set of five emotions would yield $ep_r(d) = [0.2, 0.2, 0.2, 0.2, 0.2]$. The sum-to-one normalization enables placing documents of different popularity (i.e., vote abundance) on the same footing. Thus, the labelled corpus *D* with *M* documents can be represented as,

$$D = \{ (d_1, ep_r(d_1)), (d_2, ep_r(d_2)), \dots, (d_M, ep_r(d_M)) \}$$
(3.2)

where, $ep_r(d_i)$ indicates the readers' emotion profile of document d_i . The supervised task of readers' emotion detection following a deep neural network based methodology is then to find the best fit mapping function $f : H \to \mathbb{R}^E$, such that a document vector H of the document d is mapped as close as possible to the readers' emotion profile from the labelled data, i.e., $ep_r(d)$.

3.2.2 Proposed Model

The proposed deep learning based readers' emotion detection model, *REDAffectiveLM* is constructed by parallely fusing two different networks, where the first emoBi-LSTM+ Attention network is meant to produce affect enriched document representation and the second XLNet network for context-specific representation. Initially the two networks are discussed in detail, later outlining the complete architecture of the fused model, *REDAffectiveLM*. An overall sketch of the proposed model is illustrated in figure 3.1.



FIGURE 3.1: The architecture of REDAffectiveLM

emoBi-LSTM+Attention for Affect Enriched Document Representation

In the emoBi-LSTM+Attention network, input documents are initially subject to Affect Enriched Word Embedding. The choice of affect enriched embedding instead of conventional semantic embeddings would be highly beneficial for the task of readers' emotion detection, as they are seen to produce better results when utilized in affective computing related tasks such as sentiment analysis, personality detection, etc., [95]. Affect enriched word representations, denoted as emoGloVe, is constructed with the help of the state-of-the-art method using counter-fitting and emotional constraints¹⁷ proposed by Seyeditabari et al. [63] over a pre-trained conventional semantic embedding GloVe [221]. Towards understanding the effectiveness of such emotionenriched embeddings, the changes attained for affect enriched word representations when compared to conventional semantic embeddings is analyzed by visualizing the d-dimensional word representations of a few affective words which are related to the basic emotions using t-SNE¹⁸ algorithm, shown in figure 3.2. Figure 3.2a shows the word vector visualization of conventional semantic embedding GloVe and figure 3.2b shows visualization of the same words after affect enrichment. One may observe that, compared to conventional semantic embedding, affect enrichment helps to cluster emotionally similar words into neighboring spaces.



(A) Conventional semantic embedding, GloVe

(B) Affect enriched embedding, emoGloVe

FIGURE 3.2: t-SNE visualization of few affective words related to basic emotions Anger, Disgust, Fear, Joy, Sadness, and Surprise

¹⁷for this work, the code in https://github.com/armintabari/Emotional-Embedding (accessed: 05-12-2022) has been written from python 2.x to python 3.x to avoid compatibility issues in implementation ¹⁸https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/generated/sklearn.manifold.TSNE.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

The impact of affect enrichment in word embedding is also measured using *in*category and cross-category emotion word similarity [63] over the secondary and tertiary emotion words in the commonly used Parrott's emotions¹⁹, for the basic emotion classes anger, fear, joy, sadness, and surprise, used in this study. The in-category measure indicates average cosine similarity of emotion words within each emotion class whereas, cross-category indicates average cosine similarity of emotion words belonging to the opposite emotion classes. The similarity scores obtained are shown in table 3.1, where, it can be clearly observed that average similarity score among the words within an emotion class increases substantially after emotion enrichment. For example, the in-category similarity score of sadness computed from emoGlove is improved by 18.28 percentage points when compared to GloVe. Also, the cross-category similarity score between opposite emotions are seen to reduce after affect enrichment. For example, the cross-category similarity between joy and sadness is reduced by 24.03 percentage points after the affect enrichment. Thus, observations establish the capability of affect enriched word embedding to encode affect information over conventional semantic embedding efficiently, which makes it more preferable for the task of readers' emotion detection than the conventional semantic embedding.

TABLE 3.1: Emotion-word similarity scores

	In-category similarity				Cross-category similarity			
Embedding	Anger	Fear	Joy	Sadness	Surprise	Anger \times Joy	$Fear{\times}Joy$	Joy imes Sadness
GloVe	0.4218	0.3876	0.3071	0.4224	0.2519	0.2879	0.2566	0.2932
emoGloVe	0.5427	0.4410	0.3821	0.6052	0.4286	0.1187	0.0990	0.0529

After generating affect enriched word representations, towards producing affect enriched document representations, the prominent RNN based architecture, Bi-LSTM, is combined with an Attention layer. The choice of Bi-LSTM network is motivated by its capability to learn long-term dependencies without keeping duplicate context representations [215] and perform sequential modeling in both directions by incorporating the past and future context information from the sequence of data to produce excellent performance gains [216]. In addition, an Attention on top of the Bi-LSTM network provides weightage to relevant words in the input sequence that highly correlates to the task of emotion prediction. Apart from increasing the overall model performance [110], the use of Attention helps to analyze interpretability of the network towards readers' emotion detection. That is, in total, the choice of affect enriched

¹⁹https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emotion_classification#Parrott's_emotions_by_groups, accessed: 05-12-2022

word embedding and Bi-LSTM+Attention network, is based on the motivation that this combination should significantly contribute towards improving the overall model performance and moreover, allows to investigate the network behavior systematically to identify the impact of affect enrichment in readers' emotion detection.

The Bi-LSTM network is initially fed with affect enriched word representations \vec{w}_i of the input document *d*. With this input, Bi-LSTM can now produce affect enriched contextual information as the output document vectors. The Bi-LSTM network is capable of processing sequential inputs from left to right (forward) and from right to left (backward) together. Let $\overrightarrow{h_l}$ be the forward processing hidden layer and $\overleftarrow{h_l}$ be the backward processing hidden layer, concatenated to form a single layer *h* defined by $[\overrightarrow{h_l}; \overleftarrow{h_l}]$. The Bi-LSTM network can be defined as,

$$\overrightarrow{h_l} = LSTM(\overrightarrow{h_{l-1}}, w_i, \Theta_f)$$
(3.3)

$$\overline{h_l} = LSTM(\overline{h_{l+1}}, w_i, \Theta_b)$$
(3.4)

where, Θ_f and Θ_b represent parameters of forward and backward LSTM units, respectively, and w_i serves as the representation of each word. To learn representations that assign more weightage to those words that contribute significantly to the model's decision making, an attention mechanism on top of Bi-LSTM is exploited by adopting the popular attention mechanism proposed by Bahdanau et al. [222]. To implement Attention, the last hidden state h_n is initially taken as a document summary vector *Z* and is processed through an alignment model, which is a feedforward network trained along with the entire model, to produce a scalar value u_i . Later a *softmax* function is used to obtain weights α_i that represents the importance of each hidden state h_i .

i.e.,
$$u_i = v^{\top} \tanh(W_h h_i + W_Z Z)$$
 (3.5)

$$\alpha_i = \frac{\exp(u_i)}{\sum_{j=1}^n \exp(u_j)}$$
(3.6)

where, $W_h, W_Z \in \mathbb{R}^{a \times b}$ and $v \in \mathbb{R}^a$ are the learnable weight parameters. The final affect enriched document representation H_1 from the emoBi-LSTM+Attention network part of *REDAffectiveLM* is computed as,

$$H_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_1 h_1 & \alpha_2 h_2 & \alpha_3 h_3 & \dots & \alpha_n h_n \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.7)

XLNet for Context-specific Document Representation

Transformer-based pre-trained language models are popular due to their efficacy in modeling linguistic relations and generating efficient context-specific document representations from various unlabelled text corpora; their effectiveness is evidenced by the promising results achieved for several downstream NLP tasks [100, 41]. To learn such a document representation for the task of readers' emotion detection, a popular transformer-based pre-trained language model, XLNet [41], is adopted as the second network of the proposed model. The choice of XLNet is motivated from its capability to produce remarkable results for the very related affective computing task of sentiment analysis, overcome pretrain-finetune-discrepancy of autoencoding language models like BERT [100], and enable bi-directional context representation through permutation of the factorization order [41]. The permutation language modeling objective helps XLNet to maintain the advantage of auto-regressive models as well as to apprehend bidirectional contexts. For a sequence X of length L, as there are L! different orders to perform a valid autoregressive factorization, sharing parameters of the model across every factorization order helps the model learn to collect information from every position on both the sides. For \mathcal{Z}_{L} collection of all possible permutations with length L, the permutation language modeling objective function of XLNet is,

$$\max_{\theta} \quad \mathbb{E}_{z \sim \mathcal{Z}_{L}} \left[\sum_{t=1}^{L} \log p_{\theta} \left(x_{z_{t}} | \mathbf{x}_{z_{< t}} \right) \right]$$
(3.8)

where, z_t and $z_{<t}$ denotes the tth element and the first t-1 elements of a permutation $z \in \mathcal{Z}_L$, respectively [41].

In the second network, initially, the text document *d* with a sequence of *N* words, $d = w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_N$, is converted to encoded-word tokens, $EW = Ew_1, Ew_2, \ldots, Ew_m$, using the popular *SentencePiece* language-independent subword tokenization and detokenization module [223], where, $|m| \neq |N|$, and Ew_i indicates encoded subword representation obtained by subdividing a single word into several subword units. The encoded data *EW* is then fed to the pre-trained XLNet. The XLNet network is then fine-tuned for the task of readers' emotion detection using the readers' emotion detection datasets used in this study during the training phase of the entire fused model (*REDAffectiveLM*). Hence XLNet network learns the task-specific contextual document representations H_2 denoted as,

$$H_2 = XLNet(EW) \tag{3.9}$$

REDAffectiveLM: The fused model for Readers' Emotion Detection

To build the proposed Readers' Emotion Detection model *REDAffectiveLM* that leverages the utility of affect enriched document representation and context-specific document representation, the two networks, emoBi-LSTM+Attention and XLNet are fused. In the fused model, affect enriched document vector H_1 from emoBi-LSTM+Attention and context-specific document vector H_2 from XLNet are concatenated to form a single document vector H, defined as,

$$H = H_1 \oplus H_2 \tag{3.10}$$

Finally, to predict readers' emotion profiles, the concatenated document vector *H* is fed to a fully connected neural network module. The neural network module that consists of a Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP) having two fully connected dense hidden layers with 1224 neurons in each layer and an output layer with 5 neurons predicts normalized probability distribution of readers' emotion profiles $\widehat{ep_r(d)}$, given as,

$$\widehat{ep_r(d)} = softmax(MLP(H))$$
(3.11)

The loss between $ep_r(d)$ and labelled vector $ep_r(d)$ is propagated back to complete the learning process. Once the model is trained it is empirically evaluated on two fronts. First, the performance of emotion prediction is evaluated based on how well the predicted emotion distribution reflects the distribution derived from the labels. Second, the attention maps of the documents from the affect enriched network are qualitatively and quantitatively evaluated to assess the impact of affect enrichment, as outlined in the following sections.

3.3 Dataset and Pre-processing

Three datasets are used to conduct the experiments, the two newly curated Readers' Emotion News Datasets (RENh-4k and REN-20k) and the popularly used benchmark dataset, SemEval-2007 [59]. Details of the datasets and pre-processing follow here-with.
3.3.1 Readers' Emotion News Datasets

To acquire the two new Readers' Emotion News datasets the social news network, Rappler²⁰ and its award-winning Mood Meter widget²¹ are utilized. Mood Meter enables readers to poll their emotion votes towards several categories of emotions (Afraid, Amused, Angry, Annoyed, Don't care, Happy, Inspired, and Sad) and records the total percentage of votes obtained for each emotion. Unlike other sources, the choice of Rappler is due to its simplicity, popularity, and easiness in organizing several news articles under multiple genres and associated emotion profiles. News articles are collected manually, the legal and ethical concerns are provided in Appendix A.1. Only the popular news articles are collected, by checking for high emotion votings represented in the Rappler Mood Meter, to ensure these articles have a high social reach. The detailed information of these Readers' Emotion News datasets are given below.

RENh-4k

This is a short-text dataset having 4000 news documents with corresponding readers' emotion profiles. The news headline and its associated abstract/snippet are combined to form a single document, and the corresponding readers' emotion profiles are obtained from readers' votings on Rappler Mood Meter for the emotion classes, Afraid, Angry, Happy, Inspired, and Sad. The documents are also assigned into any of the three categories, Health & well-being, Social issues, and Others, after manually verifying the news genres.

REN-20k

This is an advanced version of RENh-4k, in terms of the number of documents, length of a document, and much more diverse set of emotion classes and document genres. This dataset contains 20474 news documents with corresponding readers' emotion profiles. Here, a document comprises the news headline, abstract, and news content or full-length news story without non-textual content like images and videos. Unlike RENh-4k, readers' emotion profiles are collected for the emotion classes, Afraid, Amused, Angry, Annoyed, Don't care, Happy, Inspired, and Sad. Documents are also assigned into the genres, Business, Entertainment, Lifestyle, Sports, Technology, and Others, with the help of manual annotations along with the categorical information

²⁰https://www.rappler.com/, accessed: 05-12-2022

²¹https://web.archive.org/web/20140513012056/http://thenewmedia.com/2012-boomerang-a wards-winners/, accessed: 05-12-2022

available in Rappler. REN-20k documents consist of the whole textual content associated with a particular news article; the average words per document is 527.84, i.e., long-text in nature. Since in this work the study is performed over short-text documents, REN-20k is converted to a short-text dataset by choosing only the news headlines and associated abstracts without the news content or full-length news stories to form the documents.

3.3.2 The Benchmark Dataset - SemEval-2007

SemEval-2007 is a short-text dataset with 1250 documents, comprising of news headlines and the corresponding emotion scores for the emotion classes Anger, Disgust, Fear, Joy, Sadness and Surprise, annotated by six readers [59].

3.3.3 Dataset Pre-processing

As this study aims to predict the basic emotions elicited from readers', the first set of pre-processing performed on the datasets is an emotion label mapping from Rappler Mood Meter emotions to Paul Ekman's basic emotions [57] *anger*, *disgust*, *fear*, *joy*, *sadness*, and *surprise*. The mappings performed are *Angry* \rightarrow *Anger*, *Sad* \rightarrow *Sadness*, *Afraid* \rightarrow *Fear*, *Happy* \rightarrow *Joy* and *Inspired* \rightarrow *Surprise*, and the other Mood Meter emotions such as *Don't care*, *Inspired*, *Amused*, and *Annoyed* are discarded by following the methodology proposed in [69, 224]. Since *Disgust* in Paul Ekman's basic emotions does not match with any of the Mood Meter emotions, it is also discarded in this study and the rest five basic emotions are maintained to preserve a common set of emotion labels for all the three datasets, as done in [69, 224]. To represent readers' emotion profiles of the datasets in a better way, as a distribution of five emotions (*anger*, *sadness*, *fear*, *joy*, and *surprise*), a normalization procedure similar to [85] is followed.

Data cleaning is performed in the newly procured readers' emotion news datasets by removing unnecessary or noisy keywords like *report, new-review, (UPDATED), survey, Midday-wRa,* etc., that appear several times in the documents. To improve the quality of text representation a generic set of pre-processing techniques, removal of unknown symbols and punctuations, and text normalization, using NLTK toolkits²² are also performed. Detailed statistics of the datasets after pre-processing is shown in table 3.2. Unlike SemEval-2007 which is labeled by six annotators, there are no accurate means to compute the number of emotion votes or annotations in Mood Meter for the Readers' Emotion News datasets (REN-20k and RENh-4k). Therefore in this study, a popular strategy in [225] is followed, which provides an alternate estimate

²²https://www.nltk.org/, accessed: 05-12-2022

by calculating the least common denominator of the emotion vote percentages of a document to obtain the minimum number of annotations. Emotion distribution in the datasets are depicted in figure 3.3.

Statistics	REN-20k	RENh-4k	SemEval-2007
Source	Rappler	Rappler	The New York Times, Google News, CNN, BBC
Year span	2014 to 2019	2015 to 2018	-
Length	Short-text	Short-text	Short-text
Number of news documents	20474	4000	1246 (valid documents after pre-processing)
Total number of words	10807161	124172	6364
Number of unique words	172243	13260	3286
Average words per document	29.612	31.043	5.09
Average sentences per document	1.1826	1.1875	1.00
Number of annotations	2556654	242680	6 (annotators)
Mean percentage of votes for each emotion class	Anger: 0.2253 Fear: 0.0626 Joy: 0.4222 Sadness: 0.1441 Surprise: 0.1459	Anger: 0.3388 Fear: 0.1475 Joy: 0.3137 Sadness: 0.0781 Surprise: 0.1218	Anger: 0.1013 Fear: 0.1639 Joy: 0.2860 Sadness: 0.2069 Surprise: 0.2416
Number of articles associated with each emotion class	Anger: 14419 Fear: 8678 Joy: 18104 Sadness: 12841 Surprise: 12749	Anger: 3068 Fear: 1850 Joy: 3267 Sadness: 2489 Surprise: 2312	Anger: 652 Fear: 820 Joy: 786 Sadness: 863 Surprise: 1102

TABLE 3.2: Dataset statistics after pre-processing



FIGURE 3.3: Emotion distribution in the datasets

3.4 Empirical Study

This section first describes experimental settings of the proposed model followed by the details of baselines and evaluation measures used for model performance analysis.

3.4.1 Experimental Settings

To conduct the experiments, datasets are split into train, validation, and test sets in the ratio 60:20:20 of the total dataset volume. In the emoBi-LSTM+Attention network, to develop affect enriched embedding emoGloVe, the approach proposed in [63] over the conventional semantic embedding GloVe²³ is utilized. The embedding dimensions experimented are 300d and 100d, with various epochs 20, 50, 100, 150, 300, and 500, and finally, emoGloVe with dimension 100d and 20 epochs are chosen as a representative setting. The other hyperparameters in this network are regularizer of the Bi-LSTM module set as *l*2(0.001), and *dropout* between Bi-LSTM and Attention layer set to 0.5. In the second network, to implement the XLNet architecture 'XLNet-Large-Cased' from the AI community Hugging Face²⁴ is used, where the hyperparameters such as number of layers are set to 24, hidden size is 1024, number of attention heads is 16, dropout is 0.1, and altogether 360M trainable parameters fine-tune the network. In the fused model, the affect enriched document vector H_1 from the first network with dimension 200 and the context-specific document vector H_2 from the second network with dimension 1024, on concatenation, forms the final single document vector H with dimension 1224, which is fed to the fully connected MLP. To build the MLP, various number of layers having different combinations of neurons are experimented, such as, $\{1224 \rightarrow 512 \rightarrow 256 \rightarrow 128 \rightarrow 64 \rightarrow 5\}$, $\{1224 \rightarrow 1224 \rightarrow 5\}$, $\{1224 \rightarrow 5\}$, etc., and finally two hidden layers with 1224 neurons followed by the output layer with 5 neurons is chosen as a representative setting. Hyperparameters of the fused model *REDAffectiveLM* are Mean Squared Error (*MSE*) as the loss function, *Adam* optimizer with learning rate 0.000015, batch size as 64 and 200 epochs. REDAffectiveLM consists of 363,762,235 number of total parameters, where 363,434,735 are trainable and 327,500 are non-trainable parameters.

3.4.2 Baselines

To compare the performance of the proposed model *REDAffectiveLM*, a set of baselines are implemented from across the categories of deep learning, lexicon based, and classical machine learning. Deep learning baselines include the recent state-of-the-art

²³https://nlp.stanford.edu/projects/glove/, accessed: 05-12-2022

²⁴https://huggingface.co/transformers/pretrained_models.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

textual emotion detection works, popular naïve architectures, and the individual networks used to construct the proposed fused model serving, implicitly, as a form of ablation study. The lexicon and classical machine learning baselines also include popular and top-performing state-of-the-art works. Details of the baselines are as follows:

Deep Learning Baselines

- sent2affect [60]: A textual emotion detection study that utilizes transfer learning from an RNN model initially trained for the task of sentiment analysis. While reproducing their work, to build the source model sentiment140²⁵ dataset is used, since the Twitter Sentiment dataset used in their paper was not found in the relevant link provided²⁶; and also, sentiment140 is huge with 1.6 million data when compared to the Twitter Sentiment dataset, thus providing more redundancy for the model to train over, than in the original setting.
- SS-BED [61]: A semantic and sentiment oriented textual emotion detection system, where the same piece of textual data is learnt over two different representations, the semantic representation using word embedding, and the sentiment representation using sentiment specific word embedding proposed in [212].
- Kim's CNN [226]: A popular CNN architecture for text classification. The hyperparameters used to build this model are given in appendix A.2.
- Naïve architectures: Includes the general RNN architectures like GRU [92], LSTM and Bi-LSTM used as baselines in certain textual emotion detection works [89, 61, 60], and XLNet [41] used in the construction of the fused model *REDAffectiveLM* (as an ablation study). The hyper-parameters are given in appendix A.2.
- Attention based architectures: Includes the architectures of an Attention on top
 of Bi-LSTM that utilize different embeddings to vectorize documents, i.e., BiLSTM+Attention architecture that utilizes conventional semantic embedding,
 and emoBi-LSTM+Attention architecture that utilizes affect enriched embedding used in the construction of the fused model *REDAffectiveLM* (as an ablation
 study). The attention module used in both these models follows the popular attention architecture proposed by Bahdanau et al. [222]; the implementation of
 this attention mechanism is the same as the one adopted in the proposed model,
 as discussed in the equations (3.5) and (3.6). The hyper-parameters of these models are given in appendix A.2.

²⁵https://www.kaggle.com/kazanova/sentiment140, accessed: 05-12-2022

²⁶https://www.kaggle.com/c/twitter-sentiment-analysis2/data, accessed: 05-12-2022

Lexicon based Baselines

- SWAT [71]: One of the top ranked systems developed on the shared task, *SemEval-*2007 *Task 14: Affective Text* [59]. This supervised system uses predefined sets of emotion words developed using a unigram model to build emotion annotation of news headlines.
- Emotion Term Model [72]: An improved version of classical Naïve Bayes that incorporates information of emotion rating and term independent assumption for emotion detection.
- Synesketch [73]: A textual emotion detection system that makes use of a wordlevel lexicon and an emoticon lexicon, along with a set of heuristic rules.

Classical Machine Learning Baselines

- WMD [80]: A textual emotion detection method using Word Mover's Distance feature along with SVM classifier. To reproduce this work, 60% of the corpus is used for training, 20% for testing, and the rest 20% for seed corpus, for the five emotion classes. Instead of their SVM classifier, in this study a Support Vector Regression (SVR) with the multi-output regressor is used to suit the multi-target regression settings.
- Multi-target regression with handcrafted features: A set of linguistic and affective features used in many textual emotion detection works combined with various multi-target regression models. The features and models are as follows.
 - * TF-IDF [80, 60]: A popular and commonly used feature vector indicating Term Frequency (TF) and Inverse Document Frequency (IDF).
 - * N-Grams [62, 61]: N ∈ {1, 2, 3, 4}. For improved efficiency, Parts-of-Speech tagging is used to identify and retain only the noun, verbs, adverbs, and adjectives as they are a prominent source of subjective content [10].
 - * General Purpose Emotion Lexicon Features [62]: The features Total Emotion Count (TEC), Total Emotion Intensity (TEI), Max Emotion Intensity (MEI), Graded Emotion Count (GEC), and Graded Emotion Intensity (GEI), extracted using a general purpose emotion lexicon DepecheMood++ [70].
 - * Sentiment Word Feature [62, 10]: Combination of two sets of sentimentoriented features to form a single sentiment word feature. The first set of features capture the total number of positive, negative, and neutral words,

and second set computes the average positive, negative, and neutral sentiment intensity for a document. A popular sentiment lexicon VADER [227] is used to compute the sentiment features.

- * Embedding Features [61, 212]: Two different categories of embeddings, semantic embeddings which include Word2Vec, GloVe and FastText, and Sentiment Specific Word Embedding, SSWE_u proposed in [212]. Here, the individual word vectors are averaged to form the document vectors.
- * Multi-target Regression Models: Over the above settings of features, multitarget regressors can be learnt in two ways. The first, called the problem transformation approach, involves usage of Multi-output Regressor using Ridge²⁷, SVR²⁸ and GradientBoostingRegressor²⁹. The second, algorithm adaptation approach, involves implementing MLP with single hidden layer of 128 neurons, *ReLU* activation and *l*2(0.001) regularizer, and output layer of 5 neurons with *softmax* activation. The other hyperparameters are *MSE* as the loss function, *Adam* optimizer with learning rate 0.0005, batch size 64, and 100 *epochs*.

3.4.3 Performance Evaluation Measures

Different coarse-grained and fine-grained evaluation metrics [228] are used to measure the performance of readers' emotion detection. Coarse-grained measures are useful to understand the correctness of prediction whereas, fine-grained measures indicate the nearness of prediction to ground truth at a finer granularity. In coarsegrained evaluation, the regression predictions are mapped to a 0/1 classification problem using Acc@1 (accuracy of top first prediction) that represents the micro-averaged F1 measure [229]. Acc@1 is popularly used in several textual emotion detection works [72, 84, 85, 230] to measure the performance over a corpus with imbalanced distribution of data. For fine-grained evaluation the measures used are AP_{document}, AP_{emotion}, Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) and Wasserstein Distance (WD). AP_{document} and AP_{emotion} are also popularly used in textual emotion detection works [71, 84, 231], and takes into consideration the correlation between predicted and ground-truth readers' emotion profiles over the emotions and documents respectively. This task of readers' emotion detection being formulated as a regression problem, the measures Root

²⁷www.scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/generated/sklearn.multioutput.MultiOutputRegre ssor.html#examples-using-sklearnmultioutput-multioutputregressor, accessed: 05-12-2022

²⁸https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/generated/sklearn.svm.SVR.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

²⁹https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/multiclass.html#multioutput-regression, accessed: 05-12-2022

Mean Square Error and Wasserstein Distance gives a sense of how close/distant the predicted emotion profiles are, from the ground-truth.

• Acc@1 [72]: An accuracy measure of the corpus computed by averaging $Acc_d@1$ of all documents. For the predicted emotion profile X_d (shorthand for $ep_r(d)$) and ground-truth Y_d (shorthand for $ep_r(d)$) of a document d, $Acc_d@1$ checks whether the top-ranked emotion is the same for both prediction (i.e. $\arg\max_i X_d[i]$) as well as ground-truth (i.e. $\arg\max_i Y_d[i]$).

i.e.,
$$Acc_d@1 = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if, } \left(\arg\max_i X_d[i] = \arg\max_i Y_d[i] \right) \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$
 (3.12)

Since Acc@1 measures the accuracy, higher values are better.

• AP_{document} [84]: Average Pearson's correlation coefficient of all documents in the corpus computed by averaging Pearson's correlation coefficient P_d between prediction and ground-truth of each document d, over |E| number of emotion classes.

$$P_{d} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{|E|} \left(X_{d}[i] - \overline{X}_{d} \right) \left(Y_{d}[i] - \overline{Y}_{d} \right)}{\left(|E| - 1 \right) \sigma_{X_{d}} \sigma_{Y_{d}}}, \qquad P_{d} \in [-1, 1]$$
(3.13)

where, -1 and 1 indicate perfect negative and perfect positive correlations and \overline{X}_d , σ_{X_d} , \overline{Y}_d , σ_{Y_d} indicate mean and standard deviation of predicted emotion profiles and ground-truth, respectively.

AP_{emotion} [84]: Average Pearson's correlation coefficient of all emotions computed by averaging Pearson's correlation coefficient P_e between prediction (A) and ground-truth (B) of each emotion category e over |D| number of documents (where each emotion category's prediction and ground truth involves a vector over all documents in the corpus).

$$P_{e} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{|D|} (A_{j} - \overline{A}) (B_{j} - \overline{B})}{(|D| - 1) \sigma_{A} \sigma_{B}}, \qquad P_{e} \in [-1, 1]$$
(3.14)

• RMSE_D [61]: An error metric of the corpus computed by averaging RMSE of all documents. RMSE of a document *d* is given by,

$$RMSE_{d} = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{|E|} \frac{\left(X_{d}[i] - Y_{d}[i]\right)^{2}}{|E|}}$$
(3.15)

Since RMSE_D measures the deviation between prediction and ground truth, lower values are better.

 WD_D [232]: A distance metric of the corpus computed by averaging WD of all documents in the corpus. WD of a document *d* is the infimum for any transport plane computed as,

$$WD_d(X_d, Y_d) = \inf_{\gamma \sim \pi(X_d, Y_d)} \mathbb{E}_{(x, y) \sim \gamma}[\parallel x - y \parallel]$$
(3.16)

where, $\pi(X_d, Y_d)$ is the set of all possible joint probability distribution $\gamma(x, y)$ whose marginals are X_d and Y_d , respectively. Lower values of WD_D indicate good performance.

3.5 **Results and Discussions**

This section presents the results of experimental evaluations, initially presenting performance evaluation results of the proposed *REDAffectiveLM* model by comparing against a vast set of baselines from across the families of deep learning, lexicon based and classical machine learning, and also with the individual emoBi-LSTM+Attention and XLNet networks (that implicitly serves as a form of ablation study), to understand the gains achieved by the proposed model. This is followed by statistical significance tests between the proposed model and the best baseline. Finally, behavior analysis is performed to identify what are the key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection captured by the attention, and this eventually helps in assessing the impact of affect enrichment in emoBi-LSTM+Attention for the task of readers' emotion detection through a set of qualitative and quantitative experiments.

3.5.1 Model Performance Evaluation

Table 3.3 shows performance of the proposed model *REDAffectiveLM* and the baselines over REN-20k dataset for various evaluation measures; the best results among all the models, and the best results within each baseline category are highlighted in boldface. The experimental results show that the proposed model obtains a substantive gain³⁰ of 9.42, 4.68, 5.97, 5.7 and 6.19 percentage points for Acc@1, AP_{document}, AP_{emotion}, RMSE_D and WD_D, respectively, when compared to XLNet and emoBi-LSTM+Attention that obtains best results among the deep learning baselines, and 20.42, 21.07, 32.51, 17.9, and 11.48 percentage points when compared to SWAT and Emotion Term Model

³⁰here the word *gain* is used to indicate increase in percentage points (\uparrow) for the measures Acc@1, AP_{document} and AP_{emotion}, and decrease in percentage points (\downarrow) for the measures RMSE_D and WD_D

Model	Acc@1 (%)↑	$AP_{document} \uparrow$	$AP_{emotion} \uparrow$	$RMSE_D{\downarrow}$	$WD_D{\downarrow}$
REDAffectiveLM (Proposed)	76.68	0.8737	0.6806	0.0438	0.0104
	Deep learn	ing baselines			
sent2affect [<mark>60</mark>]	49.99	0.5925	0.1589	0.1945	0.1177
SS-BED [61]	53.46	0.7114	0.4951	0.2197	0.1170
Kim's CNN [226]	51.77	0.6228	0.1669	0.2285	0.1300
GRU	53.47	0.6416	0.2202	0.2253	0.1221
LSTM [96]	53.50	0.6866	0.4673	0.2192	0.1176
Bi-LSTM [60]	54.48	0.7077	0.5139	0.2165	0.1148
Bi-LSTM+Attention	63.62	0.7998	0.5901	0.1277	0.0801
emoBi-LSTM+Attention	65.09	0.8101	0.6209	0.1034	0.0800
XLNet [<mark>41</mark>]	67.26	0.8269	0.6016	0.1008	0.0723
	Lexicon ba	sed baselines			
SWAT [71]	54.40	0.6630	0.3555	0.2228	0.1252
Emotion Term Model [72]	56.26	0.6141	0.0245	0.3031	0.1999
Synesketch [73]	42.01	0.3375	0.2538	0.2594	0.1652
Р	roblem transfo	ormation baselir	nes		
WMD [80]	47.98	0.2571	0.2015	0.2508	0.1299
TF-IDF [60, 80]	51.60	0.6746	0.3366	0.2298	0.1226
N-Grams [62, 61] $(N = 1)$	50.74	0.5884	0.2939	0.2662	0.1247
TEC [62]	55.94	0.6703	0.3524	0.2732	0.1112
TEI [62]	57.13	0.6958	0.4081	0.2200	0.1106
MEI [62]	54.37	0.6589	0.2901	0.2285	0.1176
GEC ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	53.91	0.6588	0.3032	0.2268	0.1004
GEI $(\delta = 0.25)$ [62]	53.86	0.6585	0.2919	0.2260	0.1004
Sentiment word count [62, 10]	53.99	0.6389	0.2276	0.2299	0.1233
SSWE [212] $(d = 50)$	50.76	0.6080	0.1968	0.2234	0.1278
GloVe [61] $(d = 100)$	50.71	0.5939	0.1509	0.2240	0.1212
	Algorithm ada	ptation baseline	es		
	52.30	0.6563	0.2849	0.2257	0.1160
N-Grams [62, 61] $(N = 1)$	53.33	0.6073	0.3431	0.2291	0.1212
TEC [62]	52.72	0.7134	0.5038	0.2027	0.1196
TEI [62]	59.40	0.6824	0.3451	0.2207	0.1000
MEI [62]	50.79	0.6035	0.2416	0.2325	0.1267
GEC $(\delta = 0.25)$ [62]	53.04	0.6612	0.2906	0.2253	0.1139
GEI ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	53.91	0.6456	0.2599	0.2011	0.1234
Sentiment word count [62, 10]	52.54	0.6150	0.2176	0.2304	0.1225
SSWE [212] $(d = 50)$	50.79	0.5278	0.1051	0.3735	0.1309
GloVe [61] $(d = 100)$	51.06	0.5274	0.0613	0.3735	0.1309

TABLE 3.3: Evaluation results of REN-20k dataset (Best results among all the models and within each baseline category are in bold)

that obtains best results among the lexicon based baselines. Within the problem transformation family in machine learning, only the results of WMD feature with SVR, and linguistic and affective features with Ridge Regression are shown and excludes SVR Regressor and GradientBoostingRegressor since their results are comparatively poor for all the three datasets. Similarly for the feature N-Grams, the results of N = 1(unigrams) for which the baseline classifier obtains the best results (a trend similar to [62]) are only tabulated. The results illustrate that the proposed model performs well against all other problem transformation baselines and obtains a gain of 19.55, 17.79, 27.25, 17.62, and 9 percentage points for Acc@1, AP_{document}, AP_{emotion}, RMSE_D, and WD_D, respectively, when compared to the best results among problem transformation baselines. The results of algorithm adaptation baselines show that ANN follows similar trends with improved results than problem transformation approach, where the proposed model even then obtains a gain of 17.28, 16.03, 17.68, 15.73, and 8.96 percentage points for Acc@1, AP_{document}, RMSE_D, and WD_D, respectively, when compared to the best results among algorithm adaptation baselines.

Similar trends are observed for evaluation results of the other two datasets RENh-4k and SemEval-2007. The results of RENh-4k in table 3.4 demonstrate that for evaluation measures Acc@1, AP_{document}, AP_{emotion}, RMSE_D and WD_D, the proposed model achieves a gain of 7.38, 6.99, 6.22, 5.29 and 2.48 percentage points over the best results among deep learning baselines, 16.65, 18.35, 28.04, 13.56, and 8.47 percentage points over the best results among lexicon based baselines, 16.38, 17.85, 22.77, 12.04, and 5.55 percentage points over the best results among problem transformation baselines and 16, 16.64, 22.81, 12.01, and 5.82 percentage points over the best results among algorithm adaptation baselines, respectively. Table 3.5 shows the results of SemEval-2007 where, for the same set of evaluation measures the proposed model achieves a gain of 7.56, 6.13, 2.96, 6.90, and 3.75 percentage points over the best results among deep learning baselines, 17.56, 25.93, 25.21, 15.51, and 8.29 percentage points over the best results among lexicon based baselines, 21.36, 23.35, 18.67, 11.26, and 6.1 percentage points over the best results among problem transformation baselines and 17.36, 22.01, 15.09, 11.03, and 5.97 percentage points over the best results among algorithm adaptation baselines, respectively.

The entire results thus consolidate that the proposed model *REDAffectiveLM* performs well on prediction of both the highest (Acc@1) and overall (AP_{document} and AP_{emotion}) readers' emotion profiles, along with lower values for error (RMSE_D) and

Model	Acc@1 (%)↑	$AP_{document} \uparrow$	$AP_{emotion} \uparrow$	$RMSE_D{\downarrow}$	$WD_D\downarrow$
REDAffectiveLM (Proposed)	60.75	0.7693	0.5809	0.1205	0.0761
	Deep learn	ing baselines			
sent2affect [60]	36.00	0.4684	0.1047	0.2508	0.1458
SS-BED [61]	45.62	0.5534	0.3609	0.2406	0.1424
Kim's CNN [226]	40.00	0.4775	0.2084	0.2493	0.1585
GRU	38.75	0.4860	0.1765	0.2481	0.1443
LSTM [96]	40.13	0.5927	0.3402	0.2559	0.1472
Bi-LSTM [60]	45.00	0.6297	0.3415	0.2400	0.1465
Bi-LSTM+Attention	50.50	0.6499	0.4054	0.2301	0.1220
emoBi-LSTM+Attention	51.98	0.6991	0.5187	0.1889	0.1141
XLNet [41]	53.37	0.6994	0.4975	0.1734	0.1009
	Lexicon ba	sed baselines			
SWAT [71]	43.75	0.5858	0.3005	0.2561	0.1608
Emotion Term Model [72]	44.10	0.5520	0.0102	0.3369	0.2000
Synesketch [73]	31.37	0.1394	0.2423	0.2936	0.1792
P	roblem transfo	ormation baseli	nes		
WMD [80]	35.25	0.3593	0.0289	0.2869	0.1346
TF-IDF [60, 80]	44.37	0.5007	0.3490	0.2440	0.1316
N-Grams [62, 61] $(N = 1)$	42.37	0.5067	0.3009	0.2662	0.1328
TEC [62]	41.12	0.5686	0.3237	0.2410	0.1357
TEI [62]	44.06	0.5908	0.3532	0.2409	0.1316
MEI [62]	40.75	0.5394	0.2574	0.2442	0.1411
GEC ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	42.75	0.5676	0.3063	0.2410	0.1363
GEI ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	41.75	0.5602	0.2963	0.2417	0.1365
Sentiment word count [62, 10]	39.25	0.4883	0.1443	0.2492	0.1386
$SSWE_u$ [212] ($d = 50$)	41.50	0.4969	0.1804	0.2483	0.1367
GloVe [61] $(d = 100)$	40.75	0.5108	0.2072	0.2474	0.1327
	Algorithm ada	ptation baseline	es		
TF-IDF [60, 80]	39.62	0.4630	0.2870	0.2516	0.1489
N-Grams [62, 61] $(N = 1)$	42.75	0.4926	0.2796	0.2456	0.1505
TEC [62]	41.37	0.5701	0.3298	0.2496	0.1356
TEI [62]	42.87	0.6029	0.3528	0.2473	0.1343
MEI [62]	40.12	0.4856	0.2279	0.2488	0.1466
GEC ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	44.75	0.5726	0.3190	0.2406	0.1359
GEI ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	41.37	0.5532	0.2934	0.2419	0.1378
Sentiment word count [62, 10]	39.62	0.4846	0.1343	0.2491	0.1425
$SSWE_u$ [212] ($d = 50$)	35.62	0.3080	0.0207	0.4246	0.1376
GloVe [61] $(d = 100)$	35.37	0.2382	0.0920	0.4373	0.1376

TABLE 3.4: Evaluation results of RENh-4k dataset (Best results among all the models and within each baseline category are in bold)

Model	Acc@1 (%)↑	$AP_{document} \uparrow$	$AP_{emotion} \uparrow$	$RMSE_D{\downarrow}$	$WD_D{\downarrow}$
REDAffectiveLM (Proposed)	66.96	0.8235	0.6502	0.0902	0.0525
	Deep learn	ing baselines			
sent2affect [60]	37.20	0.3339	0.1075	0.2241	0.1428
SS-BED [61]	50.40	0.6139	0.5098	0.1771	0.1090
Kim's CNN [226]	47.20	0.5437	0.4451	0.1987	0.1200
GRU	46.00	0.5673	0.5003	0.2005	0.1098
LSTM [96]	49.20	0.6015	0.5248	0.1842	0.1089
Bi-LSTM [60]	49.89	0.6007	0.5059	0.1812	0.1074
Bi-LSTM+Attention	52.60	0.7140	0.5506	0.1700	0.0915
emoBi-LSTM+Attention	56.20	0.7565	0.5850	0.1592	0.0900
XLNet [41]	59.40	0.7622	0.6206	0.1739	0.0913
	Lexicon ba	sed baselines			
SWAT [71]	46.00	0.4945	0.3981	0.2453	0.1354
Emotion Term Model [72]	49.40	0.5642	0.0167	0.3031	0.1975
Synesketch [73]	35.86	0.3705	0.3570	0.2470	0.1510
Р	roblem transfo	ormation baselin	nes		
WMD [80]	40.50	0.1447	0.0459	0.2430	0.1143
TF-IDF [60, 80]	45.60	0.4954	0.4039	0.2080	0.1135
N-Grams [62, 61] $(N = 1)$	45.00	0.4992	0.3931	0.2089	0.1189
TEC [62]	45.20	0.5451	0.4219	0.2028	0.1219
TEI [62]	45.60	0.5900	0.4635	0.2985	0.1228
MEI [62]	45.60	0.4884	0.4071	0.2051	0.1257
GEC ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	40.80	0.4643	0.3398	0.2113	0.1251
GEI ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	44.00	0.4416	0.3207	0.2136	0.1291
Sentiment word count [62, 10]	39.04	0.5604	0.3820	0.2089	0.1208
$SSWE_u$ [212] ($d = 50$)	34.56	0.3130	0.1152	0.2300	0.1272
GloVe [61] (<i>d</i> = 100)	33.12	0.2605	0.1088	0.2378	0.1152
	Algorithm ada	ptation baseline	es		
TF-IDF [60, 80]	46.40	0.4799	0.3941	0.2059	0.1206
N-Grams [62, 61] $(N = 1)$	46.80	0.5135	0.4140	0.2027	0.1171
TEC [62]	46.40	0.5639	0.4270	0.2021	0.1204
TEI [62]	49.60	0.6034	0.4993	0.2005	0.1122
MEI [62]	46.40	0.4949	0.4103	0.2062	0.1306
GEC ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	46.00	0.4861	0.3622	0.2089	0.1229
GEI ($\delta = 0.25$) [62]	46.70	0.4722	0.3531	0.2099	0.1248
Sentiment word count [62, 10]	40.00	0.5732	0.3798	0.2023	0.1193
$SSWE_u$ [212] ($d = 50$)	40.80	0.2071	0.0595	0.4032	0.1641
GloVe [61] (<i>d</i> = 100)	42.40	0.2261	0.0777	0.4022	0.1643

TABLE 3.5: Evaluation results of SemEval-2007 dataset (Best results among all the models and within each baseline category are in bold)

distance metrics (WD_D) over the three different datasets, which indicates the promising nature of REDAffectiveLM. Among the deep learning baselines, XLNet and emoBi-LSTM+Attention performs better; this could be because XLNet is a promising transformer based language model that generates powerful contextual representations and in the case of emoBi-LSTM+Attention, it enriches the conventional semantic representations with affect. Transfer learning, in general, gives good results, but on contrary, in this experiments the sent2affect [60] baseline shows low results for the sentiment to emotion transfer learning. This might be because the source model was built over Twitter data meant specifically for coarse-grained sentiment classification task, but the target model is meant for an entirely different fine-grained emotion regression task. Whereas within the original implementation of sent2affect, the authors built both the source and target models with similar kinds of Twitter data, both meant for classification task, which leads them to enjoy the benefits of transfer learning. In the case of lexicon based baselines, SWAT performs well, even being one of the oldest works in readers' emotion detection. Both SWAT and Emotion Term Model could effectively utilize word features available within the corpora which makes them the top-performing baselines. On the other hand, Synesketch uses a very generic and nonfiltered general-purpose emotion lexicon as a major component (except the rule sets), which may be the cause for low results. In machine learning baselines, among the various features, affective features, especially TEI outperforms the traditional linguistic features like TF-IDF and N-Grams in many cases, where TF-IDF, TEC, and MEI are the others producing best results. The affective features GEC and GEI are analyzed using three different thresholds, $\delta = 0.25$, 0.50, and 0.75, where a degradation in performance was observed with an increase of δ from 0.25 to 0.75, which is visualized in figure 3.4. This degradation could be due to the decreased coverage of emotion words by the lexicon, as mentioned in [62].

Evaluation results of Bi-LSTM+Attention and emoBi-LSTM+Attention across all the three datasets shows that affect enriched embedding based architecture (emoBi-LSTM+Attention) attains performance gains over conventional semantic embedding based architecture (Bi-LSTM+Attention) for all the evaluation measures. The results thus indicate that affect enriched document representations can enhance model performance for the task of readers' emotion detection. While comparing evaluation results of the fused model *REDAffectiveLM* with individual networks emoBi-LSTM+Attention and XLNet, it is visible that across all the three datasets the fused model obtains a very high gain in performance throughout all the evaluations measures. This establishes that *REDAffectiveLM* that utilizes the highly efficient contextual representation from transformer-based pre-trained language model along with affect enriched document



FIGURE 3.4: Performance of GEC and GEI features over different thresholds (δ)

representation, can significantly improve performance of readers' emotion detection.

The trends of evaluation results across multiple datasets illustrate another point that SemEval-2007 shows slightly better results than RENh-4k even though it has less amount of data. SemEval-2007 is a less complex dataset; the maximum number of annotators is six. But in the context of the newly curated readers emotion news datasets, the minimum number of annotators involved is 242680 for RENh-4k and 2556654 for REN-20k, which makes them complex real-world datasets with several contradictory readers' votings in the ground truth emotion profiles. To understand the effect of dataset complexity, with respect to the number of readers' annotating a document, the degree of correlation between emotions is computed using Pearson's correlation coefficient [213]. These correlations, for each of the three datasets, are shown in figure 3.5. In the figures, the dark colors indicate a high correlation and light colors indicate a low correlation. In SemEval-2007 (figure 3.5c), there can be observed several natural correlations such as *anger* highly correlated to *fear* and *sadness*. But in REN-20k (figure 3.5a) and RENh-4k (figure 3.5b), a low correlation exists between these emotions. Also,

in SemEval-2007, when observing the correlations between *joy* and *fear*, there exists a very low correlation between these emotions. Whereas, in REN-20k and RENh-4k, these emotions have comparatively slightly higher correlations. These kinds of irregular and complex patterns due to a large number of annotators (i.e., readers) with contradictory emotion votings may be the reason for reduced performance gain in RENh-4k, which is overcome with huge amounts of data in REN-20k producing remarkable gains by allowing to learn the complex patterns in emotion correlations.



FIGURE 3.5: Emotion profile correlations in the datasets

3.5.2 Statistical Significance

In addition to substantial gain observed over various evaluation measures, the statistical significance of the proposed model is evaluated by conducting significance tests on paired models in terms of the ideal measures, Acc@1 and RMSE, which are highly capable of representing coarse-grained (i.e., classification) and fine-grained (i.e., regression) characteristics of the readers' emotion detection task, respectively. The tests performed are McNemar's test [233] over Acc@1 and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test [234] over RMSE to compute the significance between *REDAffectiveLM* and the best baseline

e of 0.05. A p-value of 1.64

using the conventional significance level, i.e., a p-value of 0.05. A p-value of 1.64E-5 (i.e., 0.0000164), 2.15E-3 (i.e., 0.00215) and 5.07E-3 (i.e., 0.00507) for Acc@1 and 1.80E-6 (i.e., 0.00000180), 3.47E-4 (i.e., 0.000347) and 6.19E-4 (i.e., 0.000619) for RMSE, for the three datasets REN-20k, RENh-4k, and SemEval-2007, respectively, are obtained indicating that the results of *REDAffectiveLM* is statistically significant over the best baselines.

3.5.3 Behavior Analysis of Affect Enrichment

In addition to intrinsic analysis on the impact of affect enrichment in conventional semantic embedding presented in section 3.2.2 (using t-SNE visualizations and *incategory, cross-category* measures for affective words), this section analyzes the effectiveness of affect enrichment over conventional semantic embedding specifically for the task of readers' emotion detection. Therefore, besides the comparison of performances of emoBi-LSTM+Attention (Bi-LSTM+Attention fed with affect enriched embedding) and Bi-LSTM+Attention (Bi-LSTM+Attention fed with conventional semantic embedding) in the above section 3.5.1 by considering them as baselines in the empirical evaluation, here, based on initially identifying what are the key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection captured by the Attention, behavior of emoBi-LSTM+Attention network is analyzed qualitatively and quantitatively to better understand whether affect enrichment helps the network to efficiently identify and assign weightage to these key terms to improve the predictions, when compared to Bi-LSTM+Attention.

What Attention Captures?

Every prediction of an Attention based model produces readers' emotion profiles along with an attention map that highlights the key terms (the terms which are given weightage by the Attention based on their significance in prediction). Readers' emotions elicited from textual documents may be intuitively expected to be highly oriented towards emotion words and named entities present in the documents. However, such assumptions need to be verified empirically, so they may inform further research into readers' emotion detection. In this context, the behavior evaluations in this study set an evaluation hypothesis that *the key terms that could have helped readers' emotion detection are emotion words and named entities present in the documents*. To verify this hypothesis, instead of directly analyzing the attention maps of emoBi-LSTM+Attention network used in the proposed model, a Bi-LSTM+Attention network (used as a baseline in the empirical evaluation) is employed to understand the key terms captured by attention in the context of readers' emotion detection. This would further help to understand whether the emoBi-LSTM+Attention network that utilizes affect enriched embedding has improved capability to capture these key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection thereby improving the predictions.

To understand what are the key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection, a manual investigation is conducted over the attention maps generated by the Bi-LSTM+Attention network. Table 3.6 shows two sets of attention maps generated by the Bi-LSTM+Attention network along with their associated ground truth (ep_r) and predicted ($\hat{e}p_r$) emotion profiles. Color intensities over the words in attention maps indicate weightage associated with the words, i.e., dark red indicates high weightage for the words, whereas light red indicates less weightage. The first set of attention maps include samples whose predicted emotion profiles are very near to ground truth and hence, they can be categorized as correct predictions.

The first attention map among the correct predictions set shows that a high-intensity weightage is given to the word 'attack' and then to the words 'hiding' and 'threats' with a slight weightage decay, which explains the nearness of predicted emotion profiles to ground truth. That is, higher values are seen to peak around the emotions, fear, sadness and anger, for both predicted and ground truth emotion profiles, which undoubtedly showcases the intimate relationship between attention recognized words and emotions. Similarly, many other attention maps in the correct predictions set show a substantial weightage for emotion words; for example, the words 'pain', 'suffer', and 'poisoning' in the fourth attention map and the association of predicted emotion profiles with emotion sadness. Also, the fifth attention map highlights words such as 'shining', 'better', 'care', and 'empowering', which may be the reason to predict high intensities for emotions surprise and joy. Next, the weightage associated with named entities in the attention maps are observed. In the correct predictions set, many named entities like 'Korean', 'Pakistan', 'Lillard', 'Ines Fernandez', etc., are highlighted with varying weightage. For example, in the sixth attention map, the word 'Lillard' (name of an American basketball player) may also have influenced to produce high-intensity for emotion joy in some readers and anger in others, besides other words with an attention weightage. From the perspective of such qualitative analyses, it can be inferred that attention gives high weightage to the emotion words and nearly so to the named entities for the task of readers' emotion detection.

In contrast to the first set of correct predictions, the second set in table 3.6 includes a few random samples from incorrect predictions and their attention maps. Incorrect predictions refer to the predictions that are far away from the patterns of ground truth emotion profiles. Here too, the attention maps highlight a few emotion terms

Document Attention Map	Emotion profiles for					
	[anger, tear, joy, sadness, surprise]					
Correct predict	ons					
- Teacher in <mark>hiding</mark> after <mark>attack</mark> on Islam Stirs <mark>Threats</mark>	$ep_r = [0.149, 0.436, 0.000, 0.413, 0.000]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.233, 0.430, 0.026, 0.311, 0.000]$					
<mark>Bad weather slows</mark> S. <mark>Korean </mark> search Russian ship	$ep_r = [0.120, 0.040, 0.000, 0.840, 0.000]$ $ep_r = [0.102, 0.012, 0.001, 0.790, 0.091]$					
Women <mark>protest Pakistan </mark> demolition	$ep_r = [0.339, 0.122, 0.000, 0.245, 0.292]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.330, 0.210, 0.003, 0.280, 0.170]$					
126 students suffer food poisoning Makati. Most of the students who experienced and dizziness stomach pains after ingesting snacks bought from school canteen, have been discharged from the hospital.	$ep_r = [0.173, 0.062, 0.062, 0.617, 0.086]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.188, 0.086, 0.071, 0.517, 0.136]$					
Ines Fernandez mother others. Nanay Ines shining example of women who are empowering mothers in rural areas to take better care of their health and wellbeing through proper nutrition and education.	$ep_r = [0.000, 0.000, 0.271, 0.000, 0.729]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.007, 0.040, 0.353, 0.057, 0.550]$					
<mark>Warriors</mark> destroyed by Blazers as Lillard scores 51. Golden State falls to 48-5, with all 5 defeats coming on the road	$ep_r = [0.326, 0.000, 0.413, 0.174, 0.087]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.318, 0.001, 0.465, 0.182, 0.032]$					
Incorrect predictions						
Greek <mark>police</mark> hunt <mark>embassy</mark> attackers	$ep_r = [0.551, 0.252, 0.046, 0.149, 0.000]$ $ep_r = [0.187, 0.277, 0.080, 0.301, 0.152]$					
Personal <mark>health</mark> : for <mark>teenagers</mark> , <mark>car</mark> is the danger zone	$ep_r = [0.000, 0.494, 0.000, 0.221, 0.284]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.109, 0.229, 0.104, 0.349, 0.207]$					
The sweet <mark>tune</mark> of an <mark>anniversary</mark>	$ep_r = [0.000, 0.000, 1.000, 0.000, 0.000]$ $ep_r = [0.016, 0.026, 0.545, 0.247, 0.167]$					
33 killed in Central Luzon since start of election gun ban. Most of them were killed during <mark>shootout</mark> with authorities while evading checkpoints, says Central Luzon police director Chief Superintendent Joel Napoleon Coronel.	$ep_r = [0.290, 0.570, 0.000, 0.000, 0.140]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.378, 0.250, 0.076, 0.244, 0.050]$					
PH <mark>Air Force</mark> to welcome 2 fighter jets. The squadron of 12 brand new fighter jet will be completed within the year, according to Air Force <mark>spokesman</mark> Colonel Antonio Francisco.	$ep_r = [0.000, 0.011, 0.915, 0.000, 0.074]$ $ep_r = [0.106, 0.068, 0.586, 0.088, 0.149]$					
Liberia's last Ebola patient discharged. Almost 24,000 people have been infected with the virus since 2013 december	$ep_r = [0.000, 0.000, 0.500, 0.000, 0.500]$ $\hat{ep}_r = [0.130, 0.183, 0.189, 0.382, 0.108]$					

TABLE 3.6: Sample attention maps generated by the
Bi-LSTM+Attention network (ep_r : ground truth, \hat{ep}_r : predicted)

and named entities such as 'danger', 'killed', 'Antonio', etc., but it has missed most of the relevant ones. For example, in the first attention map among incorrect predictions, attention gives zero weightage to the word 'attackers', which could have given enough power to predict high intensities for the emotions *anger*, *fear*, and *sadness*, similar to ground truth emotion profile. Apart from these kinds of exclusion of key terms (i.e. emotion words and named entities), most of the incorrect predictions assign high weightage to the words like 'says', 'year', 'almost', 'since', etc. Hence, a major reason for the increase in gap between predicted and ground truth emotion profiles might be due to the exclusion of emotion words and named entities, and instead assigning high weightage to many less significant words in the document. This correlation between the focus on named entities and emotion words with the measures of performance further reasserts the value of emotion words and named entities in the task of readers' emotion detection.

Qualitative Evaluation

In qualitative evaluation the attention maps of both emoBi-LSTM+Attention and Bi-LSTM+Attention are compared, and hence their model behavior (i.e., model's decision making) in context of readers' emotion detection by manually investigating the presence of key terms (emotion words and named entities). Table 3.7 shows pairs of attention maps for five sample documents, where in each pair, the first attention map is generated by Bi-LSTM+Attention and the second by emoBi-LSTM+Attention, along with their associated ground-truth emotion profiles (ep_r) and predicted emotion profiles of both Bi-LSTM+Attention (\hat{ep}_r) and emoBi-LSTM+Attention (\hat{ep}_{rEmo}). In the first pair, the attention map from the Bi-LSTM+Attention significantly assigns weightage to an emotion word 'protest' and a named entity 'Pakistan'. Whereas, the attention map from emoBi-LSTM+Attention shows improvements in the prediction, i.e., nearness of prediction to the ground truth, especially visible in case of emotions fear and surprise by assigning weightage to the emotion word 'demolition'. In the second and third pair of attention maps, there can be observed high improvements in prediction for emoBi-LSTM+Attention when compared to Bi-LSTM+Attention, especially visible in case of emotion *anger* by identifying the emotion word 'attackers' in the second pair, and emotion *joy* by identifying the emotion word 'sweet' in the third pair.

Apart from the exclusion of key terms (emotion words and named entities) such as 'demolition' in the first pair, 'attackers' in the second pair, 'sweet' in the third pair, etc., it can also be observed that the attention maps from Bi-LSTM+Attention mostly are seen to assign uniform weightage to the identified words. For example, in the fourth pair, the words 'car' and 'teenager' are given almost the same high intensity as like the

Document Attention Maps	Emotion profiles for [anger, fear, joy, sadness, surprise]
	$ep_r = [0.339, 0.122, 0.000, 0.245, 0.292]$
Women protest Pakistan demolition	$\hat{ep}_{x} = [0.330, 0.210, 0.003, 0.280, 0.170]$
Women <mark>protest </mark> Pakistan <mark>demolition</mark>	$\hat{e}\hat{p}_{rEmo} = [0.340, 0.102, 0.001, 0.290, 0.260]$
	$ep_r = [0.551, 0.252, 0.045, 0.149, 0.000]$
Greek <mark>police hunt embassy</mark> attackers	$\hat{rn} = [0 \ 187 \ 0 \ 277 \ 0 \ 080 \ 0 \ 301 \ 0 \ 152]$
Greek <mark>police hunt embassy attackers</mark>	$\hat{e}\hat{p}_{T} = [0.465, 0.272, 0.078, 0.103, 0.082]$
	$\frac{e_{P_{FEM0}}}{e_{P_{T}}} = [0.000, 0.000, 1.000, 0.000, 0.000]$
The sweet tune of an anniversary	$\hat{m} = [0.016, 0.026, 0.545, 0.247, 0.167]$
The sweet tune of an anniversary	$\hat{r}_{r} = [0.010, 0.020, 0.0345, 0.0247, 0.107]$ $\hat{r}_{r} = -[0.029, 0.039, 0.835, 0.064, 0.033]$
	$\frac{cp_{rEmo} = [0.025, 0.005, 0.005, 0.004, 0.005]}{cm = [0.000, 0.405, 0.000, 0.221, 0.284]}$
	$ep_r = [0.000, 0.495, 0.000, 0.221, 0.204]$
the danger zone	$ep_r = [0.109, 0.229, 0.104, 0.349, 0.207]$
Personal <mark>health</mark> for <mark>teenagers</mark> the <mark>car</mark> is	$\hat{ep}_{rEmo} = [0.056, 0.358, 0.080, 0.296, 0.210]$
the <mark>danger </mark> zone	
	$ep_r = [0.000, 0.011, 0.915, 0.000, 0.074]$
PH Air force to welcome 2 more fighter	$\hat{ep}_r = [0.093, 0.048, 0.606, 0.094, 0.159]$
jets The squadron of 12 brand new fighter iets will be completed within the year	
according to Air Force spokesman Colonel	
Antonio Francisco	
PH Air force to welcome 2 more fighter	$\hat{ep}_{rrm} = [0.004, 0.039, 0.759, 0.004, 0.192]$
jets ine squadron of 12 brand new fighter	
according to Air Force spokesman Colonel	
Antonio Francisco	

TABLE 3.7: Sample attention maps generated by the
Bi-LSTM+Attention and emoBi-LSTM+Attention networks
(ep_r : ground truth, \hat{ep}_r : Bi-LSTM+Attention prediction,
\hat{ep}_{rEmo} : emoBi-LSTM+Attention prediction)

words 'danger' and 'health'. But in case of emoBi-LSTM+Attention the weightage for 'car' and 'teenager' are seen to be diminished than 'danger' and 'health'. Similar case can be seen in the fifth pair of attention maps, where, for the words 'within', 'completed', 'year', etc., emoBi-LSTM+Attention assigns different weightage, when compared to Bi-LSTM+Attention that assigns almost similar weightage to all these words. Hence, qualitative evaluation demonstrates that better than a Bi-LSTM+Attention network that utilizes conventional semantic embedding, the affect enriched embedding based network emoBi-LSTM+Attention can effectively identify and assign weightage to the key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection thereby improving the nearness of predictions to the ground-truth.

Quantitative Evaluation

The above evaluations show that attention maps give weightage mostly to the emotion words and named entities for the task of readers' emotion detection, and efficiently identifying these key terms can significantly improve the prediction. Following on from that, in this section, the ability of emoBi-LSTM+Attention and Bi-LSTM+Attention networks to identify the key terms in predictions are quantitatively compared using a novel set of evaluation measures. Therefore, apart from attention maps generated internally by these networks (definition 1), external attention maps (definitions 2 and 3) by leveraging external information (e.g., lexicons) are devised to perform quantitative behavior evaluation. To generate external lexicon-based attention maps, initially three popular emotion lexicons DepecheMood++ [70], EmoWord-Net [69] and NRC-Affect Intensity Lexicon [68] are identified, and lexicon coverage for unique words in the datasets are computed, results are shown in table 3.8. It can be observed that both DepecheMood++ and EmoWordNet gives better coverage, hence these two lexicons are chosen for the quantitative evaluation. Further, to identify named entities, an external tool called Named Entity Recognizer (NER) from spaCy³¹ is used. The construction of external attention maps will be evident through their definitions that follow.

Dataset	$DepecheMood{++}$	EmoWordNet	NRC-Affect
REN-20k	77.02	50.63	8.15
RENh-4k	88.11	67.13	13.67
SemEval-2007	94.69	86.50	20.28

TABLE 3.8: Emotion Lexicon coverage (in percentages)

Definition 1. [DAM] An internal Document Attention Map produced from the attention layer of the networks for each input document, represented as a vector with intensity values or weightages associated with each word, which indicates the attention received by that word during the prediction. If weightage of the words in the attention map is continuous then it is called a continuous attention map; DAM is generally a continuous representation. But if the weightage is either 0 or 1, indicating the presence or absence of attention for a certain word, then it is called binary attention map.

³¹https://spacy.io/, accessed: 05-12-2022

Definition 2. [EmoNE-EAM] An External Attention Map independent of DAM (and thus network independent) generated with the help of an emotion lexicon (the lexicons [69, 70] are used in this study) and Named Entity Recognizer (NER from spaCy is used in this study). To create EmoNE-EAM each word in the document is read sequentially and the attention weightage of the word is set to a boolean value 1 if it is an element of the emotion lexicon or NER, else set to 0. This map will be a binary representation that indicates only the presence of emotion words and named entities in the document.

Definition 3. [EmoNE-HAM] A Hybrid Attention Map generated by considering only the words that has non-zero attention weightages in DAM and hence blends the information from network generated internal attention map and external information from the lexicons. This map can have continuous or binary representations. The continuous EmoNE-HAM are created similar to EmoNE-EAM, but the boolean values in EmoNE-EAM are replaced by the weightages in DAM, provided the word has a non-zero weightages in DAM. In case of binary EmoNE-HAM, instead of adding the non-zero DAM weightages to the attention map, the values are set to 1. That is, EmoNE-HAM represents only the emotion words and named entities in a document that are recognized by DAM.

The above attention maps provide a convenient platform to measure the impact of emotion words and named entities in the prediction. Comparing Bi-LSTM+Attention and emoBi-LSTM+Attention networks in terms of similarity between the emotion words and named entities identified by their attention mechanism and the total emotion words and named entities present in the document would help to understand the capability of affect enriched network to identify the key terms to improve the prediction. For computational convenience, this is accomplished by contrasting the extent of deviation between EAM (external attention map) and HAM (hybrid attention map), for both emoBi-LSTM+Attention and Bi-LSTM+Attention networks, using a novel set of measures, behavioral similarity, word similarity, and word probability that computes similarity between the attention maps.

Behavioral Similarity: Motivated by [107], the behavioral similarity of the corpus *D* is computed as the average pair-wise similarity between EmoNE-HAM and EmoNE-EAM for all the documents, given as,

$$BehSim_{D} = \frac{1}{D} \sum_{d=1}^{|D|} AUC(EmoNE-HAM_{d}, EmoNE-EAM_{d})$$
(3.17)

where, EmoNE-HAM_d is a continuous attention map vector and EmoNE-EAM_d is a binary attention map, for each document *d*. *AUC* denotes Area Under Curve and ranges between 0 and 1, with perfect similarity given by 1, no similarity by 0.5 and negative similarity by 0 [107]. A high behavioral similarity will occur

in cases where the model gives high intensity weightage for emotion words and named entities.

• Word Similarity: To measure the similarity between attention maps in context of the cosine angle projected in a multi-dimensional space. The word similarity score WordSim_D for the corpus *D* is computed by averaging the cosine similarities³² of binary EmoNE-HAM and EmoNE-EAM for all the documents.

WordSim_D =
$$\frac{1}{|D| - |D'|} \sum_{d=1}^{|D| - |D'|} \cos(\text{EmoNE-HAM}_d, \text{EmoNE-EAM}_d)$$
 (3.18)

where, |D'| indicates the number of documents that don't have any emotion words or named entities. Similar to the above measure, a high word similarity will occur in cases where the model gives high intensity weightage for emotion words and named entities.

 Word Probability: A measure that uses boolean intersection between binary EmoNE-HAM and EmoNE-EAM to quantify how much emotion words and named entities are identified by the attention mechanism during prediction, among the total number of emotion words and named entities present in the document. Unlike the previous similarity scores, this measure is represented in probabilities. Word probability WordProb_D for the corpus *D* is computed by averaging the word probabilities of all the documents.

$$WordProb_{D} = \frac{1}{|D| - |D'|} \sum_{d=1}^{|D| - |D'|} \frac{\sum (EmoNE-EAM_{d} \cap EmoNE-HAM_{d})}{\sum (EmoNE-EAM_{d}) + \lambda} \quad (3.19)$$

where, $\lambda = 1$ only if EmoNE-EAM = 0, and $\lambda = 0$ if EmoNE-EAM $\neq 0$.

The results of quantitative analysis shown in table 3.9 illustrates that for all the three datasets emoBi-LSTM+Attention obtains higher similarity scores between the network generated internal attention maps and the external attention maps when compared to Bi-LSTM+Attention, for both the lexicons, which indicates that compared to Bi-LSTM+Attention network, emoBi-LSTM+Attention has improved ability to identify the emotion words and named entities. Against the backdrop of the hypothesis that emotion words and named entities are important for emotion identification, this validates emoBi-LSTM+Attention's improved suitability for emotion identification. Thus, the qualitative and quantitative behavior analysis on emoBi-LSTM+Attention

³²https://deepai.org/machine-learning-glossary-and-terms/cosine-similarity, accessed: 05-12-2022

together establish that affect enrichment increases the ability of the network to effectively identify emotion words, and assign weightages to the key terms responsible for readers' emotion detection to improve prediction.

	C)epecheMc	od++		EmoWord	dNet
Model	REN-20k	RENh-4k	SemEval-2007	REN-20k	RENh-4k	SemEval-2007
Behavioral similarity scores						
Bi-LSTM+Attention	0.8829	0.7096	0.8092	0.8497	0.6988	0.8040
${\sf emoBi-LSTM+Attention}$	0.9537	0.8182	0.9001	0.9098	0.8104	0.8896
		Word sir	nilarity scores			
Bi-LSTM+Attention	0.8296	0.6851	0.8203	0.8010	0.6606	0.7919
${\sf emoBi-LSTM+Attention}$	0.9603	0.8636	0.8821	0.8490	0.8128	0.8090
Word probability scores						
Bi-LSTM+Attention	0.9043	0.7648	0.8981	0.8901	0.7205	0.8624
${\sf emoBi-LSTM+Attention}$	0.9438	0.8071	0.8999	0.9413	0.7551	0.8873

TABLE 3.9: Quantitative evaluation results

3.6 Summary

Context-specific representations from transformer-based pre-trained language models help textual emotion detection systems to achieve improved performance, which, being an affective computing task can be further enhanced by incorporating affective information. Inspired by this line of thought, this chapter presented a novel deep learning model, REDAffectiveLM that leverages context-specific and affect enriched representations by fusing a transformer-based pre-trained language model XLNet with Bi-LSTM+Attention that utilizes affect enriched embedding, to predict readers' emotion profiles from short-text documents. To perform the experiments two new readers' emotion datasets, REN-20k and RENh-4k were procured, apart from the benchmark SemEval-2007 dataset. Performance of the proposed model was evaluated across these datasets, against a vast set of baselines belonging to different categories of textual emotion detection, including deep learning, lexicon based, and classical machine learning using various coarse-grained and fine-grained measures. The proposed model consistently outperformed the baselines and obtained statistically significant results. The evaluation results of the fused model REDAffectiveLM when compared with the individual affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention and XLNet networks, across all the three datasets, obtained high gains in performance for all the evaluations measures. This establishes that the proposed model *REDAffectiveLM* that utilizes highly efficient contextual representation from transformer-based pre-trained language model along with affect enriched document representation can significantly improve the performance of readers' emotion detection.

A detailed model behavior analysis is also performed to interpret the attention mechanism that firmly establishes emotion words and named entities significantly influence readers' emotion detection, and to study the impact of affect enrichment specifically in readers' emotion detection using a novel set of qualitative and quantitative behavior evaluation techniques over the affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention network. It is observed that compared to the conventional semantic embedding based network, the affect enriched network obtained higher performance and helped to increase ability of the network to effectively identify and assign weightages to the key terms (emotion words and named entities) responsible for readers' emotion detection. To aid future research, the datasets and other relevant materials, including the source code are made publicly available at https://dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/projects/ac/red affectivelm.html.



Chapter 4

Emotion Cognizance Improves Health Fake News Identification

"Enjoyment is the most desirable emotion typically arising from connection or sensory pleasure. The word happiness and enjoyment can be interchanged, although increasingly people use the word happiness to refer to their overall sense of well-being or evaluation of their lives rather than a particular enjoyment emotion."

> – Paul Ekman Universal Emotions

Abstract: This chapter considers the utility of the affective character of news articles for fake news identification in the health domain and present evidence that emotion cognizant representations are significantly more suited for the task. The proposed study outlines a simple technique that works by leveraging emotion intensity lexicons to develop emotion-amplified text representations and evaluate the utility of such a representation for identifying fake news relating to health in various supervised and unsupervised scenarios. The consistent and notable empirical gains that are observed over a range of technique types and parameter settings establish the utility of the emotion information in news articles, an often overlooked aspect, for the task of misinformation identification in the health domain.

Q The concept presented in this chapter was awarded the AWSAR 2019 Award, instituted by the Department of Science and Technology, Government of India

4.1 Introduction

F^{ake} news detection is increasingly being recognized as an important computational task with high potential social impact. Misinformation is routinely injected into almost every domain of news including politics, health, science, business, etc., among which, the fake news in the health domain poses serious risk and harm to health and well-being in modern societies [27]. Fake news in the health domain is markedly different from fake news in politics or event-based contexts on at least two major counts. First, they originate in online websites with limited potential for dense and vivid digital footprints unlike social media channels, and secondly, the core point is conveyed through long, nuanced textual narratives. Perhaps to aid their spread, the core misinformation is often intertwined with trustworthy information. They may also be observed to make use of an abundance of anecdotes, conceivably to appeal to the readers' own experiences or self-conscious emotions (defined in [235]). This makes health fake news detection a challenge more relevant to NLP than other fields of data analytics. In fact, techniques that totally discard content information (e.g., [125, 123]) have met with reasonable success in other domains. Further, a number of fake news sub-categories such as satire, parody, and propaganda are understood to be of much less importance in health fake news [236], making health fake news detection quite a different pursuit at the task level.

The proposed study targets the detection of health fake news within quasi conventional online media sources which contain information in the form of articles, with content generation performed by a limited set of people responsible for it. It is observed that the misinformation in these sources is typically of the kind where scientific claims or content from social media are exaggerated or distilled either knowingly or maliciously (perhaps to attract eyeballs). Example headlines and excerpts from health fake news articles that are crawled for this study are shown in table **4.1**. These examples illustrate, besides other factors, the profusion of trustworthy information within them and the abundantly emotion-oriented narrative they employ. Such sources resemble newspaper websites in that consumers are passive readers whose consumption of the content happens outside social media platforms. This makes fake news detection a challenging problem in this realm since techniques are primarily left to work with just the article content, as against within social media where structural and temporal data offer ample clues, in order to determine their veracity.

This study considers the utility of the affective character of article content for health fake news detection, a novel direction of inquiry though related to the backdrop of fake news detection approaches that target exploiting satire and stance [115, 237]. A method to enrich emotion information within documents is developed by leveraging emotion lexicons, which is informally referred to as 'emotion amplification'. The proposed emotion-enrichment method is intentionally of simple design in order to empirically illustrate the generality of the point that emotion cognizance improves health fake news detection within both supervised and unsupervised settings. TABLE 4.1: Examples of health fake news headlines and excerpts

Wi-Fi: A Silent Killer That Kills Us Slowly!

WiFi is the name of a popular wireless networking technology that uses radio waves to provide wireless high-speed Internet and network connections. People can browse the vast area of internet through this wireless device. A common misconception is that the term Wi-Fi is short for "wireless fidelity", however this is not the case. WiFi is simply a trademarked phrase that means IEEE 802.11x. The first thing people should examine is the way a device is connected to the router without cables. Well, wireless devices like cell phones, tablets, and laptops, emit WLAN signals (electromagnetic waves) in order to connect to the router. However, the loop of these signals harms our health in a number of ways. The British Health Agency conducted a study which showed that routers endanger our health and the growth of both, people and plants.

Russian Scientist Captures Soul Leaving Body; Quantifies Chakras

It uses a small electrical current that is connected to the fingertips and takes less than a millisecond to send signals from. When these electric charges are pulsed through the body, our bodies naturally respond with a kind of 'electron cloud' made up of light photons. Korotkov also used a type of Kirlian photography to show the exact moment someone's soul left their body at the time of death! He says there is a blue life force you can see leaving the body. He says the navel and the head are the first parts of us to lose their life force and the heart and groin are the last. In other cases, he's noted that the soul of people who have had violent or unexpected deaths can manifest in a state of confusion and their consciousness doesn't actually know that they have died.

Revolutionary juice that can burn stomach fat while sleeping

Having excess belly fat poses a serious threat to your health. Fat around the midsection is a strong risk factor for heart disease, type 2 diabetes, and even some types of cancers. Pineapple-celery duo is an ideal choice for those wanting to shed the fat deposits around the stomach area due to the presence of enzymes that stimulate the fat burning hormones. All you need to do is drink this incredible burn-fat sleeping drink and refrain from eating too much sugar and starch foods during the day.

4.1.1 Research Question

This chapter addresses the following research question.

RQ1: Do fake and legitimate health news articles espouse different kinds of affective character that may be effectively utilized to improve fake news detection?

4.1.2 Demarcating Proposed Work in Context of State-of-the-art

While the influence of emotions on persuasion has been discussed in recent studies [238, 239], the proposed work provides the first focused data-driven analysis and quantification of the relationship between emotions and health fake news. To contrast with the recent stream of works on fake news detection that utilize sentiment or emotion for fake news detection within microblogging platforms [134, 126, 131], it may be noted that the focus of the work proposed in this study is on the health domain with information usually in the form of long textual narratives, having limited details on the responses, temporal propagation, author/spreader/reader network structure, etc., available for the technique to make a veracity decision. On a related note, the recent work [136] finds significantly more negative emotions in the titles of fake news articles belonging to the political domain. Apart from being distinctly different in terms of domain, the focus of the work proposed in this study being health (vs. politics for them), this work also significantly differs from them in the intent of the research. That is, the proposed work is focused not on identifying the tell-tale emotional signatures of real vis-à-vis fake news, but on providing empirical evidence that there are differences in emotional content which may be exploited through simple mechanisms such as word-addition-based text transformations.

To put the proposed work in context, it can be noted that this study is the first attempt focussing on the affective character of the content for health fake news detection (where information is usually long-text in nature and not within the microblogging platforms), to the best knowledge. The effort is orthogonal but complementary to most work described above in that the proposed work provides evidence that emotion cognizance in general, and the emotion-enriched data representations in particular, are likely to be of much use in supervised and unsupervised health fake news identification; identifying the nature of emotional differences between fake and real news in the health domain is outside the scope of this work, but would evidently lead to interesting follow-on work.

4.1.3 Motivation

Fake news is generally crafted with the intent to mislead, and thus narratives powered with strong emotion content may be naturally expected within them. A recent tutorial survey on fake news in social media [135] places significant emphasis on the importance of emotion information within the context of fake news detection. The work in [240] analyzes fake news vis-à-vis emotions and asserts that what is most important about the recent fake news furore is what it portends: employing emotionally and personally targeted news generated by journalism referring to what they call as "empathic media". They further go on to suggest that the commercial and political phenomenon of automated fake news generation that are empathically optimized, is on near-horizon, and is a challenge needing significant attention from the scholarly community. All these inspire towards the proposed study of affect oriented fake news detection.

4.1.4 Contributions

The major contributions of this chapter are:

- This chapter considers the utility of the affective character of textual articles for health fake news detection. Towards this, a novel methodology is devised to derive emotion-enriched textual documents by leveraging external emotion lexicons.
- The chapter presents empirical evaluation over the raw text representations and emotion-enriched representations, for supervised and unsupervised fake news identification tasks with varying parameter settings, establishing that emotion cognizance improves the accuracy of fake news identification.
- To conduct the study, a new dataset is curated in the domain of health and wellbeing named HWB, consisting of 500 news articles (long-text in nature) in both the fake and real categories. To aid future research, HWB is made publicly available at https://dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/resources/hwb.html.

4.1.5 Organization of the Chapter

The rest of the chapter is organized as section 4.2 provides a detailed description of the task of emotionization and the proposed methodology, followed by section 4.3 explaining the dataset and emotion lexicon used in this study. Section 4.4 presents the empirical study including details of supervised and unsupervised experimental settings and performance evaluation measures. Results and discussion in section 4.5 evaluate the performance of both the raw text representations and emotionized representations over supervised and unsupervised settings, followed by section 4.6 discussing the potential of emotion-oriented techniques for COVID-19 fake news detection. Finally, section 4.7 summarizes the chapter.

4.2 Emotionizing Text

This chapter intends to provide evidence that the affective character of fake and legitimate news articles differ in a way that such differences can be leveraged to improve the task of fake news identification. First, the proposed methodology to build emotion amplified (i.e., *emotionized*) text representations by leveraging an external emotion lexicon is outlined. The methodology is designed to be very simple to describe and implement so that any gains out of the emotionized text derived from the method can be attributed to emotion-enrichment in general and not to some nuances of the method details, as could be the case if the transformation method were to involve sophisticated steps. Empirical analysis of the emotionized representations vis-à-vis raw text for fake news identification will be detailed in section 4.4.

4.2.1 The Task

The task of emotionizing is to leverage an emotion lexicon \mathcal{L} to transform a text document D to an emotionized document D'. The format of D' also is maintained similar to D in being a sequence of words so that it can be fed into any standard text processing pipeline; retaining the document format in the output, it may be noted, is critical for the uptake of the method. In short:

 $D, \mathcal{L} \xrightarrow{Emotionization} D'$

Without loss of generality, it is expected that the emotion lexicon \mathcal{L} would comprise of many 3-tuples, e.g., [w, e, s], each of which indicates the affinity of a word w to an emotion e, along with the intensity quantified as a score $s \in [0, 1]$. An example entry could be [unlucky, sadness, 0.7] indicating that the word unlucky is associated with the sadness emotion with an intensity of 0.7.

4.2.2 Methodology

Inspired by the recent methods leveraging lexical neighborhoods to derive word [241] and document [242] embeddings, the proposed emotionization methodology is designed as one that alters the neighborhood of highly emotional words in D by adding emotion labels. The proposed methodology is illustrated in algorithm 4.1 that sifts through each word in D in order, outputting that word followed by its associated emotion from the lexicon \mathcal{L} into D', as long as the word emotion association in the lexicon is stronger than a pre-defined threshold τ . In cases where the word is not associated with any emotion with a score greater than τ , no emotion label is output into D'. In summary, D' is an 'enlarged' version of D where every word in D that

is strongly associated with an emotion is additionally being followed by the emotion label. This ingestion of 'artificial' words is similar in spirit to *sprinkling* topic labels to enhance text classification [243], where appending topic labels to documents is the focus. Table 4.2 shows the emotionized version of the sample article excerpts given in table 4.1.

Algori	thm 4.1: Emotionization				
inpu	t : Document D , Emotion-Lexicon \mathcal{L} , Parameter $ au$				
outp	ut : Emotionized Document D'				
1 Let D	$\mathcal{D} = [w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_n]$;				
2 initial	ize D' to be empty ;				
3 for (<i>i</i>	$i = 1; i \le n; i + +)$ do				
4 w	rite w_i as the next word in D^\prime ;				
5 if $(\exists [w_i, e, s] \in \mathcal{L} \land s \geq \tau)$ then					
6	write e as the next word in D^\prime ;				
7 end					
8 end					
9 outpu	t <i>D</i> ′				

4.3 Dataset and Emotion Lexicon

This section initially discusses the newly curated Health and Well Being (HWB) dataset, followed by the details of the emotion lexicon and its filtering heuristics used in this study.

4.3.1 HWB Dataset

With most fake news datasets being focused on microblogging websites in the political domain making them less suitable for content-focused misinformation identification tasks as warranted by the domain of health, a new dataset 'HWB' comprising fake and legitimate news articles is curated within the topic of *health and well being*. For legitimate news, 500 health and well-being news articles are crawled from reputable sources such as CNN³³, NYTimes³⁴, New Indian Express³⁵ and many others; manually double-checked for truthfulness. For fake news, 500 news articles are crawled on

³³https://edition.cnn.com/, accessed: 05-12-2022

³⁴https://www.nytimes.com/, accessed: 05-12-2022

³⁵https://www.newindianexpress.com/, accessed: 05-12-2022

TABLE 4.2: Emotionized Health Fake News Excerpts (the emotion labels added are highlighted in color)

Wi-Fi: A Silent Killer fear That Kills fear Us Slowly!

WiFi is the name of a popular wireless networking technology that uses radio waves to provide wireless high-speed Internet and network connections. People can browse the vast area of internet through this wireless device. A common misconception fear is that the term Wi-Fi is short for "wireless fidelity", however this is not the case. WiFi is simply a trademarked phrase that means IEEE 802.11x. The first thing people should examine is the way a device is connected to the router without cables. Well, wireless devices like cell phones, tablets, and laptops, emit WLAN signals (electromagnetic waves) in order to connect to the router. However, the loop of these signals harms fear our health in a number of ways. The British Health Agency conducted a study which showed that routers endanger fear our health and the growth joy of both, people and plants.

Russian Scientist Captures Soul Leaving sadness Body; Quantifies Chakras

It uses a small electrical current that is connected to the fingertips and takes less than a millisecond to send signals from. When these electric charges are pulsed through the body, our bodies naturally respond with a kind of 'electron cloud' made up of light joy photons. Korotkov also used a type of Kirlian photography to show the exact moment someone's soul left their body at the time of death sadness ! He says there is a blue life force you can see leaving sadness the body. He says the navel and the head are the first parts of us to lose sadness their life force and the heart and groin are the last. In other cases, he's noted that the soul of people who have had violent anger or unexpected deaths sadness can manifest in a state of confusion and their consciousness doesn't actually know that they have died sadness.

Revolutionary juice that can burn stomach fat while sleeping

Having excess belly fat poses a serious threat anger to your health. Fat around the midsection is a strong risk fear factor for heart disease fear, type 2 diabetes, and even some types of cancers sadness. Pineapple-celery duo is an ideal choice for those wanting to shed the fat deposits around the stomach area due to the presence of enzymes that stimulate the fat burning hormones. All you need to do is drink this incredible burn-fat sleeping drink and refrain from eating too much sugar and starch foods joy during the day.

similar topics from well-reported misinformation websites³⁶ such as BeforeItsNews, Nephef, MadWorldNews, and many others; these were also manually verified for misinformation presence as well. Having a good mix of data sources in both fake and real categories, it may be argued, is critical to ensure that the technique is generalizable. The detailed dataset statistics is shown in Table 4.3.

³⁶https://www.politifact.com/article/2017/apr/20/politifacts-guide-fake-news-website s-and-what-they/, accessed: 05-12-2022

Class	Total number of documents in the class	Average words per document	Average sentences per document	Total number of words
Real	500	724	31	362117
Fake	500	578	28	289477

TABLE 4.3: Statistics of Health and Well Being (HWB) Dataset

4.3.2 Emotion Lexicon

The popular NRC Intensity Emotion Lexicon [244] is used to build the emotionized text representations, which has data in the 3-tuple form outlined earlier. For simplicity, the lexicon is filtered to retain only one entry per word, choosing the emotion entry with which the word has the highest intensity. This filtering entails that each word in D can only introduce up to one extra token in D'. To mention concrete statistics, out of 1923 word sense entries that satisfy the threshold $\tau = 0.6$, this filter-out-nonbest heuristic filtered out 424 entries (i.e., 22%); thus, only slightly more than one-fifth of the entries are affected. This heuristic to filter out all-but-one entry per word is motivated by the need to ensure that the document structures be not altered much (by the introduction of too many lexicon words), so assumptions made by the downstream data representation learning procedure such as document well-formedness are not particularly disadvantaged. Emotionization using the filtered lexicon is observed to lengthen the documents by an average of 2%, a very modest increase in document size. To put it in perspective, only around one in fifty words triggered the lexicon label attachment step, on average. Interestingly, there is only a slight difference in the lengthening of documents across the classes; while legitimate news documents are seen to be enlarged by 1.8% on average, fake news documents recorded an average lengthening by 2.2%. This provides very weak, but initial evidence that *fake news has* slightly more emotion content than real ones.

4.4 Empirical Study

Given the focus of the proposed study on evaluating the effectiveness of emotionized text representations over raw representations, a variety of unsupervised and supervised methods are considered (in lieu of evaluating on a particular state-of-the-art method) in the interest of generality. Data-driven fake news identification, much like any analytics task, uses a corpus of documents to learn a statistical model that is intended to be able to tell apart fake news from legitimate articles. The empirical evaluation of the proposed study is centered on the following observation: *for the same*

analytics model learned over different data representations, differences in effectiveness (e.g., classification or clustering accuracy) over the target task can intuitively be attributed to the data representation. In short, if the emotionized text consistently yields better classification/clustering models over those learned over raw text, emotion cognizance and amplification may be judged to influence fake news identification positively. This empirical evaluation framework is illustrated in figure 4.1. The empirical study settings of both the supervised and unsupervised methods are detailed in the following subsections.



FIGURE 4.1: Framework of empirical evaluation

4.4.1 Supervised Setting

To conduct the empirical study, within the supervised category, two popular types of approaches are considered, i.e., the conventional classifiers that learn patterns in data through handcrafted feature and classifier combo, and the recent deep learning classifiers that encompass multiple levels of non-linear operations to accommodate automated feature representation.

Conventional Classifiers

Let $\mathcal{D} = \{\dots, D, \dots\}$ be the corpus of all news articles, and $\mathcal{D}' = \{\dots, D', \dots\}$ be the corresponding emotionized corpus. Each document is labeled as either fake or
real (0/1). With word/document embeddings gaining increasing popularity, the Distributed Bag-of-Words (DBOW) doc2vec³⁷ model is used to build vectors over each of the above corpora separately, yielding two datasets of vectors, correspondingly called \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{V}' . While the document embeddings are learnt over the corpora (\mathcal{D} or \mathcal{D}'), the output comprises one vector for each document in the corpus that the learning is performed over. The doc2vec model uses an internal parameter *d*, the dimensionality of the embedding space, i.e., the length of the vectors in \mathcal{V} or \mathcal{V}' . Each of these vector datasets are separately used to train a conventional classifier using the train and test splits within them.

Here, conventional classifier means a model such as Naive Bayes (NB), k-Nearest Neighbour (KNN), Support Vector Machine (SVM), Random Forests (RF), Decision Tree (DT) or AdaBoost (AB), the most popular and state-of-the-art classifier algorithms used in the literature [245]. The classification model learns to predict a class label (one of *fake* or *real*) given a *d*-dimensional embedding vector. The parameters used to build the conventional classifiers are given in appendix B.1.1. Multiple train/test splits are used for generalizability of results where the chosen dataset (either \mathcal{V} or \mathcal{V}') is partitioned into *k* random splits (k = 10 is used in this study); these lead to *k* separate experiments with *k* models learnt, each model learnt by excluding one of the *k* splits, and evaluated over their corresponding held-out split. Values of the evaluation measure accuracy (*Acc*, detailed in section 4.4.3) obtained for *k* separate experiments are then simply averaged to obtain a single classification accuracy score for the chosen dataset ($Acc(\mathcal{D})$ and $Acc(\mathcal{D}')$, respectively). The quantum of improvement achieved, i.e., $Acc(\mathcal{D}') - Acc(\mathcal{D})$ is illustrative of the improvement brought in by emotion cognizance.

Deep Learning Classifiers

Deep learning classifiers such as LSTMs and CNNs are designed to work with vector sequences, one for each word in the document, rather than a single embedding for the document. This allows them to identify and leverage any existence of sequential patterns or localized patterns respectively, in order to utilize for the classification task. These models, especially LSTMs, have become very popular for building text processing pipelines, making them pertinent for a text data oriented study such as the one proposed in this work.

Adapting from the experimental settings of the above mentioned conventional classifiers, the LSTM and CNN classifiers are learnt with learnable word embeddings

³⁷https://radimrehurek.com/gensim/models/doc2vec.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

where each word would have a length of either 100 or 300. Unlike conventional classifiers where the document embeddings are learnt separately and then used in a classifier, this model interleaves training of the classifier and learning of the embeddings, so the word embeddings are also trained, in the process, to benefit the task. The hyperparameters used to build the deep learning classifiers are given in appendix B.1.2. The overall evaluation framework remains the same as before, with the classifierembedding combo being learnt separately for \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{D}' , and the quantum by which $Acc(\mathcal{D}')$ surpasses $Acc(\mathcal{D})$ used as an indication of the improvement brought about by the emotionization.

4.4.2 Unsupervised Setting

The corresponding evaluation for unsupervised setting involves clustering both \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{V}' and profiling the clustering against the labels on the clustering purity evaluation measure (*Pur*, detailed in section 4.4.3); as may be obvious, the labels are used only for evaluation, clustering being an unsupervised learning method. In this study, K-Means [246] and DBSCAN [247], the two very popular clustering methods that come from distinct families are used. K-Means uses a top-down approach to discover clusters, estimating cluster centroids and memberships at the dataset level, followed by iteratively refining them. DBSCAN, on the other hand, uses a more bottom-up approach, forming clusters and enlarging them by adding proximal data points progressively. Another aspect of difference is that K-Means allows the user to specify the number of clusters desired in the output, whereas DBSCAN has a substantively different mechanism, based on neighborhood density. The parameters used for these unsupervised models are given in appendix B.1.3.

For K-Means, the purities are averaged over 1000 random initializations, across varying values of k (desired number of output clusters); it may be noted that purity is expected to increase with k with finer clustering granularities leading to better purities (at the extreme, each document in its own cluster would yield a purity of 100.0). For DBSCAN, the purities are measured across varying values of ms (minimum samples to form a cluster); the ms parameter is the handle available to the user within the DBSCAN framework to indirectly control the granularity of the clustering (i.e., the number of clusters in the output). Analogous to the Acc(.) measurements in classification, the quantum of purity improvements achieved by the emotionized text, i.e., $Pur(\mathcal{D}') - Pur(\mathcal{D})$, indicate any improved effectiveness of emotionized representations.

Another point to note here is that while there are only two labels (*fake* and *real*) against which the clusters are evaluated, clusterings which comprise much more than

two clusters in the output provide useful evaluation settings. This is because *fake* and *real* articles may appear as various sub-structures in the dataset; these may be intermingled, making it intuitively hard to achieve good accuracies at k = 2. In such scenarios where the plurality of underlying clustering structures are expected to map to a small set of labels, a human-in-the-loop process may be naturally envisaged. In this, the human would look at typical documents in each cluster, and assign it one of two labels, and in cases of ambiguous clusters, subject each document in the cluster individually to manual perusal to ascertain the label to be applied. These post-clustering pipelines are significantly advantaged if the clusters are pure (either mostly fake or mostly real), so that manual perusal of individual documents can be avoided. This makes the purity of clusterings that produce much more than two clusters a pertinent measure of interest. Even when there are only two output clusters, manual cluster appraisal and assignment of *fake* and *real* labels is unavoidable since clustering algorithms do not produce labels on their own, being unsupervised methods.

4.4.3 Evaluation Measures

To evaluate the performance achieved by the learning models two popular measures are used, i.e., supervised learning models are evaluated using the measure Accuracy (*Acc*) and unsupervised learning models are evaluated using the measure Purity (*Pur*).

• *Acc*: Accuracy³⁸, a popular measure to evaluate classifiers in binary classification scenarios such as this study, simply measures the sum of true positives and true negatives, and expresses it as a percentage of the dataset size.

$$Acc = \frac{TP + TN}{TP + TN + FP + FN}$$
(4.1)

where, TP, TN, FP and FN indicate true positive, true negative, false positive and false negative, respectively.

• *Pur*: Purity³⁹, a measure to evaluate clustering quality, measures the number of documents belonging to the most frequently occurring class within each cluster,

 $^{^{38} \}tt https://developers.google.com/machine-learning/crash-course/classification/accuracy, accessed: 05-12-2022$

³⁹https://nlp.stanford.edu/IR-book/html/htmledition/evaluation-of-clustering-1.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

and expresses it as a percentage of the dataset size *N*.

$$Pur = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \max_{j} |c_i \cap t_j|$$
(4.2)

where, c_i denotes the ith cluster within the *k* number of clusters and t_j is the most frequently occurring class within c_i .

4.5 **Results and Discussion**

Table 4.4 lists the classification results of the conventional classifiers as well as those based on CNN and LSTM, across two values of *d* and various values of τ . The parameter *d* is overloaded for convenience in representing results; while it indicates the dimensionality of the document vector for the conventional classifiers, it indicates the dimensionality of the word vectors for the CNN and LSTM classifiers. Classification *models learned over the emotionized representations are seen to be consistently more effective than the raw text representations for the task*, as exemplified by the higher values achieved by Acc(D') over Acc(D) (the highest values in each row are indicated in bold). While gains are observed across a wide spectrum of values of τ , the gains are seen to peak around $\tau \approx 0.6$. Lower values of τ allow words of low emotion intensity to influence D' while setting it to a very high value would add very few labels to D' (at the extreme, using $\tau = 1.0$ would mean D = D'). Thus the observed peakiness is along expected lines, with $\tau \approx 0.6$ achieving a middle ground between the extremes.

The quantum of gains achieved, i.e., $|Acc(\mathcal{D}') - Acc(\mathcal{D})|$, is seen to be notable, sometimes even bringing $Acc(\mathcal{D}')$ very close to the upper bound of 100.0; this establishes that emotionized text is much more suitable for supervised misinformation identification. It is further notable that the highest accuracy is achieved by AdaBoost as against the CNN and LSTM models; this may be due to the lexical distortions brought about by the addition of emotion labels limiting the emotionization gains in the LSTM and CNN classifiers that attempt to make use of the word sequences explicitly. The best accuracy achieved over \mathcal{D}' is 96.5%, at $\tau = 0.6$, which is better than the best accuracy achieved for \mathcal{D} by 6 percentage points.

Table 4.5 lists the clustering results in a format similar to that of the classification study. With the unsupervised setting posing a harder task, the quantum of improvements $|Pur(\mathcal{D}') - Pur(\mathcal{D})|$ achieved by emotionization is correspondingly lower. But the trends of the clustering results are consistent with the earlier observations of classification in that emotionization has a positive effect, with gains peaking around $\tau \approx 0.6$. The best value achieved with \mathcal{D}' is 88.7%, at $\tau = 0.6$, which is 3.4 percentage points

$Acc(\mathcal{D})$			$Acc(\mathcal{D}')$								
(-)	au = 0.0	$\tau = 0.2$	au=0.4	$\tau = 0.6$	au = 0.8						
Classification with $d = 100$											
77.0	77.0 78.0 78.0 78.5 79.0 77.5										
75.0	75.0	75.5	76.0	92.5	75.0						
50.0	65.0	75.0	75.0	90.0	70.0						
63.0	71.0	70.0	72.0	84.0	80.5						
68.0	69.0	70.0	78.0	94.0	78.5						
55.0	57.0	70.0	71.0	96.5	82.5						
87.0	88.0	90.0	88.0	91.0	88.0						
90.5	90.0	91.0	91.0	92.0	92.0						
	Classifica	ation with	d = 300								
77.0	80.0	81.0	79.0	83.0	78.0						
72.0	74.0	75.0	76.0	91.0	74.5						
60.0	67.0	72.0	74.0	89.0	72.0						
65.0	70.0	73.0	71.5	82.0	75.0						
60.0	65.0	73.0	78.0	90.5	75.0						
55.0	55.0	72.0	81.0	94.5	75.0						
91.2	91.0	92.7	92.0	92.0	91.0						
90.0	90.2	90.0	90.2	90.7	90.0						
	$Acc(\mathcal{D})$ 77.0 75.0 50.0 63.0 68.0 55.0 87.0 90.5 77.0 72.0 60.0 65.0 60.0 55.0 91.2 90.0	$Acc(\mathcal{D})$ $\tau = 0.0$ $\tau = 0.0$ Classification 77.0 78.0 75.0 75.0 50.0 65.0 63.0 71.0 68.0 69.0 55.0 57.0 87.0 88.0 90.5 90.0 Classification 77.0 80.0 72.0 74.0 60.0 67.0 65.0 70.0 65.0 50.0 91.2 91.0 90.0 90.2	$Acc(\mathcal{D})$ $\tau = 0.0$ $\tau = 0.2$ Classification with 77.0 78.0 78.0 75.0 75.0 75.5 50.0 65.0 75.0 63.0 71.0 70.0 68.0 69.0 70.0 55.0 57.0 90.0 90.5 90.0 91.0 90.5 90.0 91.0 77.0 80.0 81.0 77.0 74.0 75.0 60.0 67.0 72.0 65.0 70.0 73.0 60.0 65.0 73.0 65.0 55.0 72.0 91.2 91.0 92.7 90.0 90.2 90.0	Acc(\mathcal{D}') $\tau = 0.0$ $\tau = 0.2$ $\tau = 0.4$ $\tau = 0.0$ $\tau = 0.2$ $\tau = 0.4$ Classification with $d = 100$ 77.078.078.075.075.075.575.075.075.063.071.070.068.069.070.075.057.070.078.088.090.088.090.088.090.590.091.077.080.081.077.074.075.076.070.074.060.067.072.074.075.076.065.070.073.075.055.072.080.081.079.072.074.075.075.070.073.071.560.065.073.071.560.055.072.081.091.291.0 92.7 92.090.090.290.0	Acc (\mathcal{D}') $\tau = 0.0$ $\tau = 0.2$ $\tau = 0.4$ $\tau = 0.6$ Classification with $d = 100$ 77.078.078.078.579.075.075.075.576.092.550.065.075.075.090.063.071.070.072.084.068.069.070.078.094.055.057.070.071.096.587.088.090.088.091.090.590.091.091.092.0Classification with $d = 300$ 77.080.081.079.083.077.074.075.076.091.060.067.072.074.089.065.070.073.071.582.060.065.073.078.090.555.055.072.081.094.591.291.092.792.092.090.090.290.090.290.7						

TABLE 4.4: Classification results (in percentages)

better than the best purity achieved over \mathcal{D} . The cause of low accuracy in unsupervised setting might be because most conventional combinations of document representation and clustering algorithms are suited to generate topically coherent clusters, and thus fare poorly on a substantially different task of fake news identification.

4.6 Emotionization and COVID-19 Fake News

The core research tasks leading to this work were completed much before the eruption of COVID-19, but by the time of finalizing this work, many parts of the world were reeling under the COVID-19 pandemic⁴⁰; the direful effects of fake news during the times of COVID-19 pandemic has been called an 'infodemic' by WHO, significantly elevating the relevance of research into combating fake news in the health domain.

⁴⁰https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/COVID-19_pandemic, accessed: 05-12-2022

Clustering	$Pur(\mathcal{D})$	$Pur(\mathcal{D}')$									
parameter	1 (1)	$\tau = 0.0$	$\tau = 0.2$	$\tau = 0.4$	au = 0.6	$\tau = 0.8$					
k		K-Mea	K-Means clustering with $d=100$								
2	52.3	52.4	52.3	52.3	56.1	52.9					
4	78.1	78.0	78.6	79.3	81.6	79.3					
7	85.0	85.7	85.2	85.1	86.9	85.6					
10	85.3	85.1	85.1	85.1	87.7	85.7					
15	85.2	85.3	85.1	85.1	87.8	85.8					
20	85.2	85.2	85.0	85.1	88.7	85.7					
k		K-Mea	ans clusteri	ng with d	= 300						
2	51.3	52.0	52.0	52.0	55.5	52.0					
4	77.1	77.8	78.1	78.9	81.5	78.5					
7	84.0	84.0	85.0	84.9	86.9	84.6					
10	85.0	85.0	85.0	85.0	87.1	85.1					
15	85.1	85.3	85.1	85.1	87.5	85.2					
20	85.0	85.2	85.0	85.0	88.0	85.0					
ms		DBSC	AN cluster	ing with d	= 100						
20	61.0	62.0	62.0	62.0	65.0	61.9					
40	62.7	65.5	64.5	58.1	66.5	65.0					
60	71.6	72.1	72.0	72.5	72.5	72.5					
80	85.1	85.0	85.1	85.6	86.0	85.6					
100	84.5	84.1	84.8	84.7	86.0	84.0					
ms		DBSC	AN cluster	ing with <i>d</i>	= 300						
20	61.0	61.5	61.0	61.0	63.5	62.0					
40	63.5	66.3	66.5	66.9	67.0	65.5					
60	67.5	70.1	70.5	71.0	71.5	70.0					
80	78.0	81.0	81.9	82.0	82.5	80.8					
100	75.5	80.0	80.0	80.0	80.5	80.0					

TABLE 4.5: Clustering results (in percentages)

A variety of COVID-19 fake news came across during this pandemic time, which includes fake news on revolutionary juices⁴¹, alcohol bath⁴² and cow dung bath⁴³, a significant presence of emotion content can be found in the narratives, indicating the applicability of emotion-oriented fake news detection for identifying COVID-19 fake

⁴¹https://thelogicalindian.com/fact-check/lemon-baking-soda-coronavirus-covid-19-kil ls-20488, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁴²https://www.deccanherald.com/national/from-alcohol-bath-to-no-cabbage-here-are-the -covid-19-fake-news-818383.html, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁴³https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/dehradun/bathing-in-cow-dung-superstitions -abound-on-how-to-tackle-covid-19/articleshow/74998817.cms, accessed: 05-12-2022

news. Much of these fake news provide false hope exploiting the widespread fear of the disease and even making targeting the disadvantaged across the economic, political, and socio-cultural spectra⁴⁴. Towards illustrating the emotion content of COVID-19 fake news, the emotionized version of a representative COVID-19 fake news is outlined in table 4.6. These preliminary qualitative observations indicate that emotion-oriented techniques could be a potential direction for data science research into tack-ling COVID-19 fake news.

TABLE 4.6: An example of emotionized COVID-19 fake news (the emotion labels added are highlighted in color)

Do not consent to nose swab testing!

Avoid fear the Covid-19 test at all costs. These swabs may be (and probably are) contaminated fear with something dangerous fear, like viruses or something we don't understand. People should be just as concerned fear with the swab as they are about the vaccine. I was wondering why the PCR test for COVID-19 had to be so far back and it got me thinking...how far does it go? So I did some research and found these two pictures and overlapped them. The suprising joy evidence was shocking fear ! The blood fear brain barrier anger is exactly where the swab test has to be placed.

4.7 Summary

This chapter considered the utility of the affective character of news articles for the task of fake news detection in the health domain. The chapter illustrated that amplifying the emotions within a news story (and in a sense, uplifting their importance) helps the downstream supervised and unsupervised algorithms to identify health fake news better. In a way, the results indicate that fake and real news differs in the nature of emotion information within them, so exaggerating the emotion information within both, stretches them further apart, helping to distinguish them from each other. In particular, the simple method proposed in this chapter to emotionize text using external emotion intensity lexicon was seen to yield text representations that were empirically seen to be much more suited for the task of identifying health fake news. In the interest of making a broader point establishing the utility of affective information for the task, the raw and emotionized text representations were empirically evaluated over a wide variety of supervised and unsupervised techniques with varying parameters, across

⁴⁴https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/how-fake-news-complicating-india-war-against -covid19-66052/, accessed: 05-12-2022

which consistent and noteworthy gains were observed for the emotionized text representations. This firmly establishes the utility of emotion information in improving health fake news identification.



Chapter 5

Blacks is to Anger as Whites is to Joy? Identifying Latent Affective Bias in Large Pre-trained Neural Language Models

"Sadness is experienced by everyone around the world resulting from the loss of someone or something important. What causes us sadness varies greatly based on personal and cultural notions of loss. While sadness is often considered a negative emotion, it serves an important role in signaling a need to receive help or comfort."

> – Paul Ekman Universal Emotions

Abstract: This chapter presents a novel direction of investigation towards understanding the existence of "Affective Bias" in large pre-trained language models to unveil any biased association of emotions such as anger, fear, joy, etc., towards a particular gender, race, or religion with respect to textual emotion detection. The study conducts the exploration of affective bias from the very initial stage of corpus level affective bias analysis by searching for imbalanced distribution of affective words within a domain, in the large scale corpora that are used to pre-train and fine-tune the PLMs. Later, to quantify affective bias in model predictions, the study performs an extensive set of class-based and intensity-based evaluations using various bias evaluation corpora. Results show the existence of affect imbalance in the large scale corpora and statistically significant affective bias in the PLM based emotion detection systems, indicating biased association of certain emotions towards a particular gender, race, and religion.

5.1 Introduction

A ffective Bias in NLP, the recent stream of research, explores the existence of any unfair/biased association of emotions (anger, fear, joy, etc.) or sentiments (positive, negative, etc.) towards underrepresented or protected groups in a domain, that may lead affective computing systems such as sentiment or emotion detection systems to deliver unfavorable outcomes for protected groups [179, 182]. For instance, a model consistently associating the female gender with, a different class of emotion or same emotion differing in emotion intensities, vis-a-vis predictions for male [248] could be seen as a manifestation of affective bias. Similarly, the association of a particular religion always with a specific emotion [249] represents affective bias too. For better understandability of affective bias, a sample set of affectively biased emotion predictions from large PLM (Pre-trained Language Model or Pre-trained Neural Language Model) based textual emotion detection models constructed in the proposed study is illustrated in table 5.1 (detailed explanation of the models are provided in section 5.3.1). The first set in the table demonstrates affective bias due to differences in predicted emotion classes, whereas the second set shows affective bias due to differences in predicted emotion intensities.

TABLE 5.1:	Differences in predicted emotion classes/intensities be-
tween senter	nces that differ only on a target term representing various
SC	ocial groups, indicating existence of Affective Bias

Sentence	Emotion prediction
<u>Men</u> know how to drive	Joy
<u>Women</u> know how to drive	Fear
White people are very ambitious as a whole	Joy
Black people are very ambitious as a whole	Anger
Tasha fell in love with the <u>Christian</u> man's looks	Joy
Tasha fell in love with the <u>Muslim</u> man's looks	Fear
<u>He</u> eventually wants to become a doctor	Joy: 0.700
<u>She</u> eventually wants to become a doctor	Joy: 0.506
My <u>man</u> friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.694
My <u>woman</u> friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.750
My <u>queer</u> friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.940
<u>Black</u> people can dance very well	Joy: 0.491
<u>White</u> people can dance very well	Joy: 0.746
It is always the <u>Christian</u> people who think their films are the best	Joy: 0.996
It is always the <u>Muslim</u> people who think their films are the best	Joy: 0.488

In this context, the proposed study presents an extensive experimental analysis to understand and illustrate the existence of latent "*Affective Bias*" in transformer based large pre-trained language models with respect to the downstream task of textual emotion detection. This study on the investigation of affective bias in large PLMs

5.1. Introduction

primarily aims to identify the existence of gender, racial, and religious affective biases and set aside the task of affective bias mitigation in the scope for future work. The study starts with an exploration of corpus level affective bias or affect imbalance in corpus to find out any biased emotion associations in large scale corpora that are used to pre-train and fine-tune the PLMs, by analyzing the distribution of emotions or their associations with target terms (e.g., Sister, Daughter) related to a social group (e.g., Female) concerning a domain (e.g., Gender). To the best knowledge, this is the first attempt that explores affective bias in large scale textual corpora utilized by PLMs. Later, the study explores prediction level affective bias in four popular transformer based PLMs, BERT (Bidirectional Encoder Representation from Transformers) [39], OpenAI GPT-2 (Generative Pre-trained Transformer) [40], XLNet [41], and T5 (Text-to-Text Transfer Transformer) [42], that are fine-tuned using a popular corpora SemEval-2018 EI-oc [218] for the task of textual emotion detection. To quantify prediction level affective bias, PLMs are subjected to an extensive set of class-based and intensity-based evaluations using three different evaluation corpora EEC [28], BITS [184] and CSP [250]. A detailed sketch of the overall analysis is shown in figure 5.1. For the task, the emotions considered are anger, fear, joy, and sadness belonging to the discrete basic emotions defined by Paul Ekman [57]; the basic emotions surprise and disgust are omitted because almost all fine-tuning and bias evaluation corpora consider only these four emotions.



FIGURE 5.1: Workflow of Affective bias analysis

5.1.1 Research Question

This chapter addresses the following research question.

RQ1: Do predictions made by large PLM based textual emotion detection systems systematically or consistently exemplify *Affective Bias* towards demographic groups?

5.1.2 Demarcating Proposed Work in Context of State-of-the-art

Most affect-oriented bias analysis studies in the literature predominantly focus on the sentiment perspective (i.e. positive, negative, and neutral sentiments) of these biases [187, 166, 179, 150, 182]. But, affective bias in context of fine-grained emotion classes like *anger, fear, joy*, etc., and the variability of these biases in diverse domains such as religion, politics, race, or intersectional biases, are not well explored. Of particular interest is the work proposed by Kiritchenko et al. [28] to identify gender and racial bias in 219 automatic textual emotion/sentiment detection systems that took part in SemEval-2018 Task 1 'Affect in Tweets'. Another work in relation to emotions is by Venkit et al. [184] that seeks to specifically identify bias against people with disabilities in sentiment analysis and toxicity classification models. These works identify affective bias in emotion or sentiment detection systems using synthetic (template-based) evaluation corpora.

Contrary to the above mentioned works, the proposed work, in particular, considers investigating affective bias specifically in large PLMs using a much broader intensity based and class based analysis over a set of synthetic evaluation corpora as well as non-synthetic (crowdsourced) evaluation corpora that much more suits the real-world scenario. Unlike the considerable amount of general affect-agnostic bias analysis in large PLMs over facets such as gender and race, relying on text generation systems, coreference resolution, etc., [205, 177, 209], as a natural first step towards affective bias analysis in large PLMs, this study consider textual emotion detection systems built using transformer based large PLMs since these large PLMs have wide applicability in developing textual emotion detection systems [251]. Distinct from the works [209, 184, 28, 166] addressing affective bias, this study starts investigation from the very initial stage of corpus level affective bias identification, inspired by the works [155, 160] addressing corpus level general affect agnostic biases.

5.1.3 Motivation

A substantial amount of works that address general affect-agnostic biases such as gender and racial biases report the existence of data bias from innate historical biases as the most primeval source of bias [154, 155, 160], where the data quality issues, uneven distributions of data that targets marginalized groups, etc., are the root factors that contribute towards data bias. Motivated by these lines of work, this study starts exploration towards affective bias in a similar fashion, by conducting experiments to understand the existence of affective bias, if any, in the pre-training corpora that are integral ingredients of large PLMs and fine-tuning corpora used to train the textual emotion detection systems.

Downstream applications that are generally implemented by initializing learning models with existing source networks pre-trained on large datasets and later finetuned using datasets that suit downstream target tasks, have chances that the data biases can be sources to induce bias in downstream applications. For example, text classification [203], machine translation [252, 253], personalized medicine [254], coreference resolution [201, 202], crime recidivism prediction systems [255], automating resume screening [256], online advertisements delivery [256, 257], etc., are some downstream applications that report biases. Motivated by these works analyzing bias in downstream tasks, this study, besides analyzing affective bias in data, also analyzes affective bias in the downstream task of textual emotion detection that employs large PLMs.

5.1.4 Contributions

The major contributions of this chapter are listed below.

- The study presented in this chapter, for the first time, to the best knowledge, attempts to explore and identify any existence of affective bias in large PLMs viz., BERT, GPT-2, XLNet, and T5, when utilized for the task of textual emotion detection, with respect to the domains gender, race, and religion.
- The chapter conducts corpus level affective bias analysis to understand the imbalanced distribution of emotions and imbalanced association of emotions with various social groups in a domain, in the large-scale corpora involved in pretraining and fine-tuning the PLMs.
- The chapter conducts prediction level affective bias analysis over the PLM based textual emotion detection models to understand any bias in emotion predictions between social groups in a domain, using different synthetic and non-synthetic

bias evaluation corpora and an extensive set of class based and intensity based evaluation measures.

5.1.5 Organization of the Chapter

The rest of the chapter is organized as section 5.2 presents corpus level affective bias analysis, with details of corpora, analysis methodology, and the corresponding results and analysis. Section 5.3 presents prediction level affective bias analysis, with the methodology and settings of developing PLM based textual emotion detection models, details of identifying prediction level affective bias, and the corresponding results and analysis. Based on the results, section 5.4 presents a discussion, and finally, section 5.5 summarizes the chapter.

5.2 Corpus Level Affective Bias

This section starts the exploration towards identifying affective bias in large PLMs by conducting experiments to understand the existence of latent affective bias, if any, in the pre-training corpora that are integral ingredients of large PLMs and fine-tuning corpora used to build the textual emotion detection systems. A detailed description of the training corpora (both pre-training and fine-tuning), the method to measure corpus level affective bias, and the results and analysis of corpus level affective bias, are given below.

5.2.1 Training Corpora

The choice of large scale datasets for corpus level affective bias analysis hinges on the large PLMs, BERT [39], GPT-2 [40], XLNet [41], and T5 [42]. BERT is trained on Wikipedia dump (WikiEn)⁴⁵ and BookCorpus [258], GPT-2 is trained on WebText [40], XLNet is trained on WikiEn, BookCorpus, Giga5⁴⁶, ClueWeb⁴⁷ and Common Crawl⁴⁸, and T5 is trained on Colossal Clean Crawled Corpus (C4)⁴⁹. From these large-scale pre-training datasets, this study chose WikiEn⁵⁰, BookCorpus, WebText, and C4 for corpus level analysis. The study omits the corpora Giga5 and ClueWeb due to their unavailability as open-source and Common Crawl as it is reported to have significant

⁴⁵https://dumps.wikimedia.org/enwiki/, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁴⁶https://catalog.ldc.upenn.edu/LDC2011T07, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁴⁷https://lemurproject.org/clueweb12/index.php, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁴⁸http://commoncrawl.org/, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁴⁹https://www.tensorflow.org/datasets/catalog/c4, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁵⁰Latest Wikipedia dump (date: 02-06-2022), extracted using https://github.com/attardi/wikiext ractor

data quality issues due to a large number of unintelligible document content [259, 40]. Since BookCorpus⁵¹ is no longer hosted by the authors, its open version available in Hugging Face⁵² is chosen. The study makes use of partially released 250K documents from the WebText test set, similar to [160], since WebText corpora have not been fully released, and call it WebText-250⁵³. As the train split of C4 corpus is very large (305GB with 364868892 documents) and cumbersome to process, only a part of the corpus is used, i.e., the validation split, which is called as C4-Val. Apart from the above mentioned pre-training datasets, SemEval-2018 EI-oc [218] used to fine-tune the textual emotion detection models is also considered for corpus level analysis. Details regarding the size of corpora and the number of sentences in the corpora are shown in table 5.2.

Corpus	Size	Number of sentences	PLM						
			BERT	GPT-2	XLNet	T5			
		Pre-training corpor	a						
WikiEn	19.8 GB	95917189	\checkmark		\checkmark				
BookCorpus	6.19 GB	91025872	\checkmark		\checkmark				
WebText-250	620 MB	5314965		\checkmark					
C4-Val	731 MB	4959563				\checkmark			
		Fine-tuning corpora	а						
SemEval-2018	925 KB	10030							

TABLE 5.2: Details of training corpora

5.2.2 Methodology

Inspired by the recent methods to identify gender bias in datasets with respect to occupations [160, 190], this study identifies the existence of affective bias in the large scale corpora used to train large PLMs with respect to various domains such as gender, race, and religion. That is, for a corpus, this study identifies any imbalances in the distribution of emotions, or any imbalanced association of the emotions towards social groups within a domain. Accordingly, for each corpus, the occurrence of *emotion terms* representing or related to an emotion and their co-occurrence or association with *target terms* representing a social group in a domain is measured.

⁵¹https://yknzhu.wixsite.com/mbweb, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁵²https://huggingface.co/datasets/bookcorpus, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁵³https://github.com/openai/gpt-2-output-dataset, accessed: 05-12-2022

Algorithm 5.1 illustrates the method of computing occurrence and co-occurrence for a training corpora D that is considered as a set of sentences $[S_1, S_2, S_3, ...]$ derived from documents in the corpus, where each sentence consists of a sequence of words $[w_1, w_2, w_3, \ldots]$. The algorithm sifts through each word in the sentences of the corpus D. Once a word belonging to the set of emotion terms related to an emotion E (i.e., E_{terms}) is encountered in a sentence, the algorithm increments the occurrence of that emotion *occ_E*, for that corpus. Similarly in a sentence, once a word related to the emotion E co-occurs with a term belonging to the set of target terms related to a social group T in a domain (i.e., T_{terms}), the algorithm increments the co-occurrence of that emotion with the corresponding social group $coocc_{F}^{T}$, for that corpus. For example, the occurrence of the emotion Joy (i.e., occ_{joy}), for a corpus, is incremented once an emotion term related to Joy like 'happy', 'bliss', 'cheer', etc., is encountered in a sentence of the corpus. Also the co-occurrence of *Joy-Male* (i.e., *coocc_{joy}^{male}*), for the corpus, is incremented once an emotion term related to Joy co-occurs with target terms related to the social group Male like 'husband', 'boy', 'brother', etc., and the co-occurrence of Joy-Female (i.e., $coocc_{joy}^{female}$) is incremented if an emotion term related to Joy co-occurs with target terms related to the social group Female like 'wife', 'girl', 'sister', etc., in a sentence of the corpus.

To conduct this study on corpus level affective bias, a list of emotion terms (or affective terms) for the basic emotions $E = \{anger, fear, joy, sadness\}$ is maintained, because the emotion prediction models (discussed in section 5.3.1, to identify affective bias in model predictions) relies on these categories of basic emotions. Hence, initially, a list of affective terms is procured collectively from Parrott's primary, secondary, and tertiary emotions⁵⁴, and referring to the works [28] and [184], to represent these basic emotions. Later, this list of affective terms is extended by including linguistic inflections of each word in the list using Merriam-Webster⁵⁵ dictionary and an automated python package pyinflect⁵⁶. As a result the entire list contains 735 affective terms (given in Appendix C.1.1), where 162 represent *anger*, 143 *fear*, 222 *joy*, and 208 *sadness*.

A similar procedure is carried out to procure target terms within gender, race, and religion, the domains that are considered in this study. In the domain gender, target terms considered represent three social groups $T = \{M, F, Nb\}$ for Male, Female, and Non-binary groups. Similarly in the racial domain, target terms considered represent European American and African American social groups i.e., $T = \{EA, AA\}$, and for

⁵⁴https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Emotion_classification#Parrott's_emotions_by_groups, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁵⁵https://www.merriam-webster.com/, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁵⁶https://pypi.org/project/pyinflect/, accessed: 05-12-2022

Algorithm 5.1: Occurrence and Co-occurrence

```
: Corpus D
   input
               Emotion terms for emotion E(E_{terms})
               Target terms for social group T(T_{terms})
   output : Emotion occurrence occ<sub>E</sub>
               Emotion and Social group co-occurrence coocc_F^T
 1 Let D = [S_1, S_2, \dots, S_m] and S = [w_1, w_2, \dots, w_n];
 2 initialize occ_E = 0; coocc_F^T = 0; flag = False;
 3 for (j = 1; j \le m; j + +) do
       for (i = 1; i \le n; i + +) do
 4
           if (w_i \in E_{terms}) then
 5
               flag = True;
 6
 7
               occ_E = occ_E + 1;
               break;
 8
           end
 9
       end
10
       for (i = 1; i \le n; i + +) do
11
           if (w_i \in T_{terms} and flag = True) then
12
               coocc_E^T = coocc_E^T + 1;
13
               break;
14
           end
15
       end
16
17 end
18 output occ_E, coocc_F^T
```

religion, the target terms considered represent Christian, Muslim, and Jewish social groups i.e., $T = \{Ch, Mu, Jw\}$. An initial list of target terms representing these social groups is prepared collectively by referring to the works [149, 175, 171, 177, 205, 173], which is later expanded by adding linguistic inflections. As these works do not consider target terms related to the non-binary social group in the gender domain, the corresponding target terms are manually curated from various articles and web resources (e.g. [260]) and are verified with the help of an expert in gender studies. The entire list contains 507, 167, and 332 target terms in the domains gender, race, and religion, respectively (given in Appendix appendices C.1.2 to C.1.4), with 199 male, 211 female, and 97 non-binary target terms for the gender domain, 82 African American and 85 European American target terms for the racial domain, and 122 Muslim, 111 Jewish, and 99 Christian target terms for the religious domain.

5.2.3 Results and Analysis

This section presents the results of occurrence of emotions in the corpora and their co-occurrence with social groups in various domains of gender, race, and religion to analyze corpus level affective bias.

Occurrence of Emotions in the Corpora

Results of the occurrence statistics of emotions for the corpus level affective bias analysis are shown in table 5.3. The trends of emotion occurrence illustrate that, for all the corpora, the occurrence of affective terms related to *joy* is consistently higher than all other emotions; escalating *joy* from the next highest occurring emotions *fear* and *sadness* minimally by a factor of 1.1 in SemEval-2018 EI-oc and maximum by a factor of 5.6 in C4-Val, respectively. The predominance of *joy* in textual corpora can be possibly due to the reason that, psychologically people are inclined towards expressing more positive emotions on the web [224, 261, 262, 263]. On the other side, for all the corpora, the instances of *anger* are consistently very low in count. The standard deviation computed to measure the dispersion between the occurrence of various emotions within a corpus shows that there exists a large disparity between the occurrence of emotions within a corpus, particularly in the large scale corpora used to pre-train PLMs. In total, the occurrence statistics over the four basic emotions *anger*, *fear*, *joy* and *sadness*, clearly affirms the existence of emotion imbalances in both PLM pre-training and fine-tuning corpora.

Corpus	Anger	Fear	Joy	Sadness	Total affective words	Standard deviation					
Pre-training corpora											
WikiEn	533111	745221	2479326	1802466	5560124	914103.94					
BookCorpus	1049407	1647267	3143907	1400423	7241004	922324.00					
WebText-250k	50207	85325	220354	88749	444635	74851.63					
C4-Val	33182	66239	394413	69686	563520	169821.19					
Fine-tuning corpora											
SemEval-2018	984	1472	1579	1131	5166	280.21					

TABLE 5.3: Occurrence statistics of emotions in the corpora

BookCorpus contains the highest number of total affective words among all other corpora considered. This brings to another observation that, despite BookCorpus being almost one-third of the size of WikiEn, the number of affective words in Book-Corpus exceeds WikiEn by a factor of 1.3. This might be because BookCorpus being a large corpus curated from books in the web, contains more affective words than WikiEn curated from Wikipedia articles in the web.

Co-occurrence of Emotions with Social Groups

The co-occurrence statistics of basic emotions with various social groups in gender, racial and religious domains for each corpus is illustrated in table 5.4, where the domains are separated column wise and emotions are grouped across the rows. For analysis, each domain is looked into separately (in the order of gender, race, and religion), analyzing the association of emotion categories (in the order of anger, fear, joy, and sadness) with social groups in these domains; the analysis of the results are as follows.

- (A) **Emotion Co-occurrence with Gender:** From the results of table 5.4, in the gender domain, anger mostly co-occurs with the non-binary and female social groups than male. *Fear* is always highly associated with the non-binary group, followed secondly by female. The positive emotion joy is found to mostly co-occur with male, but, it has the least co-occurrence with non-binary gender. Sadness mostly co-occurs with non-binary and female groups, similar to anger. For the fine-tuning corpus SemEval-2018, in particular, there is no instance of co-occurrence between any of the emotions and non-binary gender, this is due to the lack of non-binary gender terms in the corpus; also, for this corpus, negative emotions such as, *anger*, fear, and sadness are always found to have high co-occurrence with female gender and the positive emotion *joy* is found to have high co-occurrence with male. The overall co-occurrence statistics of the gender domain illustrate that negative emotions mostly co-occur with the non-binary gender group, followed by female, and conversely, positive emotions co-occur mostly with the male group. The observations thus clearly dictate imbalanced associations between affective terms and social groups of gender domain, in both pre-training and fine-tuning corpora.
- (B) Emotion Co-occurrence with Race: Evaluation results over the racial domain in table 5.4 illustrate that the negative emotions *anger* and *sadness* mostly co-occur with African American race group, whereas negative emotion *fear* and the positive emotion *joy* mostly co-occur with European American. But, for all the pretraining corpora, the imbalance of co-occurrence values in the racial domain is comparatively less than the previously discussed gender domain; for example, imbalance in the co-occurrence of all emotions with the racial groups is negligible in the case of WikiEn corpus. Contrary to the observations of pre-training

Co-occurrence with												
Corpus		Gender		Race			Religion					
	М	F	Nb	EA	AA	Ch	Mu	Jw				
Anger												
WikiEn	12.12	13.41	14.25	10.44	10.68	8.55	11.69	13.93				
BookCorpus	17.61	16.15	19.02	15.09	17.06	12.20	13.74	18.64				
WebText-250k	14.13	14.24	11.46	15.05	16.53	12.86	15.05	19.55				
C4-Val	9.32	9.08	6.02	7.06	7.71	6.22	11.19	13.49				
SemEval-2018	22.36	24.56	0	22.55	52.17	15.79	15.06	0				
Fear												
WikiEn	12.61	15.09	21.01	14.73	14.62	9.81	17.03	16.05				
BookCorpus	22.03	24.00	25.05	23.09	23.52	14.65	21.42	16.44				
WebText-250k	19.56	21.80	23.02	21.11	21.02	16.66	36.00	28.39				
C4-Val	13.95	13.79	16.87	13.56	13.46	9.33	23.09	19.70				
SemEval-2018	25.36	26.06	0	31.37	10.87	36.84	62.16	75.00				
			-	loy								
WikiEn	40.81	40.81	39.18	45.46	45.31	51.94	36.47	41.93				
BookCorpus	41.09	40.01	38.40	44.01	41.07	51.12	44.53	40.77				
WebText-250k	44.25	40.01	42.79	43.69	42.44	47.54	25.06	27.53				
C4-Val	57.76	61.28	55.42	63.49	63.95	68.05	44.28	45.75				
SemEval-2018	33.53	30.83	0	34.31	13.04	27.02	12.16	25.00				
			Sad	dness								
WikiEn	34.46	30.70	25.56	29.37	29.38	29.70	34.81	28.09				
BookCorpus	19.76	19.84	21.02	18.11	18.55	22.03	20.30	24.14				
WebText-250k	24.05	25.25	20.83	20.75	20.51	22.94	24.09	24.52				
C4-Val	18.96	16.95	21.69	15.89	14.88	16.40	21.44	21.05				
SemEval-2018	17.75	19.05	0	11.76	23.91	21.05	10.81	0				

TABLE 5.4: Co-occurrence statistics of emotions with social grou	ps
(in percentage)	

corpora, in fine-tuning corpus SemEval-2018, there exists a large difference in cooccurrence values between African and European American groups. That is, in SemEval-2018, the negative emotions *anger* and *sadness* co-occur with the African American race double the times than European American, indicating highly imbalanced association of *anger* and *sadness* with African American race. Whereas, the co-occurrence of negative emotion *fear* and positive emotion *joy* with European American group is almost thrice African American, again indicating a highly imbalanced association, that of *fear* and *joy* emotions in SemEval-2018 with European American group.

(C) Emotion Co-occurrence with Religion: Results of the religious domain in table 5.4 shows that *anger* mostly co-occurs with Jewish and *fear* mostly co-occurs with Muslim. Whereas, *joy* is always found to have maximum co-occurrence with Christian. *Sadness* is found to mostly co-occur with Muslim and Jew religious groups than Christian. The results thus shows existence of high co-occurrence between negative emotions *anger*, *fear*, and *sadness* with Muslim and Jew, whereas the positive emotion *joy* with Christian. Moreover, when considering previous observations of gender and racial domains, the imbalance in the religious domain is comparatively higher.

The entire occurrence and co-occurrence analysis over gender, racial and religious domains thus consolidate the existence of corpus level affective bias in pre-training and fine-tuning corpora used in this study (the observations may vary for different set of corpora and domains). The extensions of such corpora holding latent affect imbalances, to build computational models may eventually trigger chances of bias in learning models, especially when building large scale contextual pre-trained language models that extract all possible properties of a language.

5.3 Prediction Level Affective Bias

To identify the existence of prediction level affective bias, if any, in the perspective of large PLMs, this study utilizes textual emotion detection systems built using popular large PLMs that are fine-tuned using an emotion detection corpus. The existence of affective bias is evaluated in the context of domains gender, race, and religion via different synthetic and non-synthetic paired evaluation sentence corpora and an extensive set of evaluation measures. Details of the investigation, including the description of textual emotion detection models, the method to measure prediction level affective bias with the details of evaluation corpora and measures, and the results and analysis of prediction level affective bias, are given below.

5.3.1 Textual Emotion Detection using Large PLMs

This section presents the methodology and settings of the textual emotion detection models built using large PLMs.

Methodology

The task of textual emotion detection is formulated as a four-class classification system with classes being the basic emotions *anger*, *fear*, *joy* and *sadness*. For this classification task, the study utilizes pre-trained language models and fine-tunes them with the aim to find the best-fit mapping function f : y = f(x) for the fine-tuning data $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2), \ldots, (x_N, y_N)$ with N documents, where x_i indicates ith document in the fine-tuning corpus and y_i indicates the corresponding ground-truth emotion.

The choice of PLMs, GPT-2 [40], BERT [39], XLNet [41], and T5 [42], that are utilized in this study to identify affective bias, is motivated by considering their acceptance as relevant and neoteric contextualized models with high performance efficacy towards textual emotion detection [102, 251] and the much related task of sentiment analysis [264, 265] within the area of affective computing. GPT and BERT are the very popular PLMs that follow the most effective auto-regressive and auto-encoding selfsupervised pre-training objectives, respectively, where GPT uses transformer decoder blocks, whereas BERT uses transformer encoder blocks. The autoregressive nature of GPT helps to effectively encode sequential knowledge and achieve good results [40]. On the other hand, by eliminating the autoregressive objective and alleviating unidirectional constraints through the masked language model pre-training objective, BERT attains powerful bi-directional representations. This ability of BERT to learn context from both sides of a word makes it an empirically powerful state-of-the-art model [39]. XLNet brings back the auto-regressive pre-training objective with alternate ways to extract context from both sides of a word and overcome the pretrain-finetune discrepancy of BERT outperforming it in several downstream NLP tasks [41]. The development of T5 explores the landscape of NLP transfer learning and proposes a unified framework that converts all textual language related problems into the text-to-text format and achieves improved performance [42].

Each pre-trained language model (*PLM*) after fine-tuning and application of *soft-max* function at the final layer forms the textual emotion detection model (i.e., *soft-max*(*PLM*)). For each textual document *d*, the fine-tuned textual emotion detection models predict an emotion class \hat{e}_{class} by finding the highest prediction intensity score \hat{e}_{score} among *E* classes of emotions (namely *anger*, *fear*, *joy* and *sadness*, for the proposed task) represented as,

$$\widehat{e}_{class}(d) = \operatorname*{argmax}_{k \in 1, 2, \dots, E} \operatorname{softmax}(PLM(d))$$
(5.1)

$$\widehat{e}_{score}(d) = \max_{k \in 1, 2, \dots, E} softmax(PLM(d))$$
(5.2)

Experimental Settings

To fine-tune PLMs and build emotion detection models, the proposed study use 24layered version of the pre-trained BERT, GPT-2, XLNet, and T5 available at Hugging-Face⁵⁷, i.e., bert-large-uncased⁵⁸, gpt2-medium⁵⁹, xlnet-large-cased⁶⁰, and t5-large⁶¹, respectively, and update these architectures by adding a final dense layer of four neurons with softmax activation function on top of the base models to suit the proposed four class classification task. The choice of GPT-2 instead of the latest version GPT-3 [158] is due to its unavailability as an open-source pre-trained model. All four models are fine-tuned using a popular emotion detection corpus SemEval-2018 EI-oc [218] that consists a total of 10030 data instances for the emotions anger, fear, joy, and sadness. The fine-tuning corpus is split as 8566 data instances for training and 1464 data instances for validation; details of the number of data instances belonging to each emotion category in the train and validation splits are shown in table 5.5.

Emotions	Number of documents					
	Training	Validation				
Anger	2089	388				
Fear	2641	389				
Joy	1906	290				
Sadness	1930	397				

TABLE 5.5: Statistics of fine-tuning corpus

Hyperparameters that can aid the reproducibility of the emotion detection models proposed in this study are, GPT-2, XLNet, and T5 uses *Adam* optimizer with learning rate 0.000001, categorical crossentropy loss function, and 100 epochs, whereas for BERT the learning rate is 0.00001 and rest of the above mentioned parameters are the same. The batch size is set to 80 for BERT, XLNet, and T5, whereas 64 for GPT-2. The total number of trainable parameters for BERT, GPT-2, XLNet, and T5 textual emotion detection models come out as 335145988, 354827268, 360272900, and 334943748, respectively. All experiments were conducted on a deep learning workstation equipped with Intel Xeon Silver 4208 CPU at 2.10 GHz, 256 GB RAM, and two GPUs of NVIDIA Quadro RTX 5000 (16GB for each), using the libraries Tensorflow (version 2.8.0), Keras (version 2.8.0), Transformer (version 4.17.0), and NLTK (version 3.6.5).

⁵⁸https://huggingface.co/docs/transformers/model_doc/bert, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁵⁷https://huggingface.co/, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁵⁹https://huggingface.co/docs/transformers/model_doc/gpt2, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁶⁰https://huggingface.co/docs/transformers/model_doc/xlnet, accessed: 05-12-2022

⁶¹https://huggingface.co/docs/transformers/model_doc/t5, accessed: 05-12-2022

5.3.2 Identifying Prediction Level Affective Bias

The textual emotion detection models, when supplied with a document/sentence, predict as output the emotion class and corresponding emotion intensity of the document/sentence. To identify prediction level affective bias in textual emotion detection models, a sentence pair that differ only in key terms representing different social groups is input into these models, with an aim to compare and contrast between emotion predictions of sentences in that pair. For instance, the sentence pairs such as 'She made me feel angry' versus 'He made me feel angry' that only differ in key terms representing female and male social groups concerning gender domain, or 'African American people can dance very well' versus 'European American people can dance very well' that only differ in key terms representing African American and European American social groups concerning racial domain, are input to the models to compare and contrast between emotion predictions of sentences in these pairs. Comparing emotion predictions using such sentence pairs helps to pair-wise analyze and understand whether algorithmic decisions of emotion classification are similar (or different) across different social groups within a domain. Accordingly, to identify prediction level affective bias, evaluation corpora that consist of sentence pairs differing only in key terms representing various social groups are used.

The prediction of emotion class for a sentence is decided by the intensity of emotions predicted by the textual emotion detection model for that sentence. For example, for a prediction $\hat{E}_{score}(d) = \{0.5, 0.2, 0.1, 0.2\}$, the choice of emotion class from the set $E = \{anger, fear, joy, sadness\}$, would be *anger*. Differences in the intensities of emotion predictions between sentences in a pair show existence of affective bias at the intensity level, which when higher enough can alter the prediction of emotion class and thereby cause affective bias at the class level. That is, an unbiased model is expected to predict the same emotion class and intensities for the sentence pairs that only differ in key terms representing different social groups. Hence, to analyze affective bias in the predictions, class based and intensity based evaluation measures capable of comparing predictions of these sentence pairs are utilized. The evaluation corpora and measures are detailed below.

Evaluation Corpora

The choice of bias evaluation corpora for this study is based on the objective to identify affective bias in textual emotion detection models using sentence pairs that only differ in key terms representing social groups, concerning either gender, racial, or religious

domain. Suitably, this study utilize three different evaluation corpora, Equity Evaluation Corpus (EEC) [28], Bias Identification Test in Sentiments (BITS) corpus [184], and Crowdsourced Stereotype Pairs (CSP) corpus [250]. Similar to most bias evaluation corpora, EEC and BITS contain template based synthetically created sentences along with ground truth emotions. On the contrary, CSP is a crowd sourced non-synthetic bias evaluation corpus that possesses greater diversity within data in the perspective of context expressed and structure of sentence pairs.

EEC consists of a total of 8640 sentences capable of evaluating gender and racial domains, from which 8400 sentences are selected for this study after excluding 240 sentences with no emotion words. For the gender domain, the sentence pairs in EEC represent only two social groups, female and male. To tease out affective bias towards the gender domain, 1400 sentence pairs are selected. For the racial domain, the sentence pairs represent African American and European American social groups, and 2800 sentence pairs are selected to analyze affective bias in the racial domain.

BITS consists of a total of 720 sentences capable of evaluating gender and racial domains. In BITS, the sentence pairs for gender domain also include the non-binary social group besides female and male groups. For this study, the available 120 sentences are selected for each non-binary, female, and male social group in the gender domain. The racial domain includes social groups such as American Indian, Asian, and Latino, apart from African American and European American groups. For this study, the available small set of 72 sentence pairs representing African American and European American social groups are only selected, as the investigation is limited only to these two racial groups.

CSP contains 1508 sentence pairs that cover nine domains, including gender, race, religion, age, nationality, etc., that, unlike EEC and BITS, do not differ 'only' on a single key term. A sample sentence pair in CSP for the racial domain is '<u>African American people are very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are very ambitious</u> as a whole' versus '<u>European American people are very ambitious</u> as a whole' versus 'European American people are very ambitious as a whole'. Such sentence pairs violate the evaluation setting of considering sentence pairs that 'only' differ in key terms representing certain social groups, an evaluation strategy in this study to identify bias. But considering the usefulness of such a non-synthetic corpus that suits the real-world context, all sentence pairs in CSP are manually evaluated and modified (if required) to suit the evaluation settings. An example of modified versions for the above mentioned sentence pair is, '<u>African American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>' versus '<u>European American people are not very ambitious as a whole</u>', and '<u>African American people are very ambitious as a whole</u>'. Finally, after such modifications and exclusion of pairs belonging to domains other than gender, race, and religion, 1970

sentences are gathered, where the gender domain consists of 263 sentence pairs representing female and male, the racial domain consists of 566 sentence pairs representing African Americans and European Americans, and religious domain consists of 104 sentences each for Christian, Jew, and Muslim social groups.

Even though in some evaluation corpora, certain domains consist of three social groups (e.g. in BITS, the gender domain consists of male, female, and non-binary social groups, in CSP, the religious domain consists of Christian, Jew, and Muslim groups), the evaluation strategies of this study are limited to pair-wise evaluations, to maintain commonality among all the domains. That is, for all the evaluation corpora, from the available set of social groups, pair-wise evaluations are conducted for the pairs, Male versus Female (M×F), Male versus Non-binary (M×Nb), or Female versus Non-binary (F×Nb) in gender domain, European American versus African American (EA×AA) in the racial domain, and Christian versus Muslim (Ch×Mu), Christian versus Jew (Ch×Jw) or Muslim versus Jew (Mu×Jw) in the religious domain.

Evaluation Measures

For an evaluation corpus with N sentence pairs, $sp_i^{g_1}$ and $sp_i^{g_2}$ is denoted as the ith sentence pair representing two social groups g_1 and g_2 (e.g. Male versus Female), respectively, in a domain (e.g. gender). The existence of prediction level affective bias is evaluated using different measures that rely on class (\hat{e}_{class}) and intensity (\hat{e}_{score}) predictions of the textual emotion detection models, details follow.

• Demographic Parity (DP): A popular class based measure to quantify group fairness/bias of a classifier system, commonly used to address general affect-agnostic biases like gender bias, racial bias, etc. [200]. In the proposed study, this measure is utilized to identify the existence of affective bias and check whether the model's emotion classifications are similar (or different) across different so-cial groups within a domain. Accordingly, a textual emotion detection model is said to satisfy demographic parity if,

$$DP = \frac{P(\hat{e}_{class}(sp^{g_1}) = e|z = g_1)}{P(\hat{e}_{class}(sp^{g_2}) = e|z = g_2)}, \quad e \in E \text{ and } g_1, g_2 \in T$$
(5.3)

where, $P(\hat{e}_{class}(sp^{g_1}) = e|z = g_1)$ and $P(\hat{e}_{class}(sp^{g_2}) = e|z = g_2)$ indicates the probabilities of the two social groups g_1 and g_2 , respectively, to predict an emotion e; g_2 is taken as the group with higher probability [266]. E is the set of all emotions, and T is the set of social groups in a domain. Demographic parity advocates the likelihood of emotion prediction outcomes of sentence pairs that

differ only in key terms denoting a certain social group should be the same; as a result, DP=1 indicates an ideal unbiased scenario, whereas, lower the values higher the existence of bias. Therefore, the general threshold $\tau = 0.80$ is used, lower than which indicates biased predictions [266].

 Average Difference of Prediction Intensity Scores (*avg*.Δ): An intensity based measure that computes the average difference of emotion prediction intensity scores between the sentence pairs of two social groups in a domain [28].

$$avg.\Delta = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |\widehat{e}_{score}(sp_i^{g_1}) - \widehat{e}_{score}(sp_i^{g_2})|$$
(5.4)

where, $\hat{e}_{score}(sp_i^{g_1})$ and $\hat{e}_{score}(sp_i^{g_2})$ indicates emotion prediction intensity scores corresponding to the social groups g_1 and g_2 , respectively, for the ith sentence pair concerning a domain, and N denotes the total number of sentence pairs. That is, $avg.\Delta$ indicates the average dissimilarity in prediction scores between a pair of sentences; 0 indicates perfect similarity, and higher the values more the dissimilarity.

- Prediction Score Significance (p-value): A measure that shows whether dissimilarity in prediction scores between the sentence pairs is statistically significant or not. To compute prediction score significance, a paired statistical significance test, *t*-Test [28], is performed over the prediction scores of sentence pairs, *ê*_{score}(sp^{g1}_i) and *ê*_{score}(sp^{g2}_i), using the conventional significance level, i.e., a p-value of 0.05.
- Average Confidence Score (ACS): A measure that illustrates model bias towards a particular social group using the average ratio between prediction intensity scores of sentence pairs [250], computed as,

$$ACS = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} 1 - \frac{\widehat{e}_{score}(sp_i^{g_1})}{\widehat{e}_{score}(sp_i^{g_2})}$$
(5.5)

ACS value of an unbiased model will peak around zero, but if it tends to negative values, then the measure indicates that the model prediction intensities of the social group g_1 are higher than g_2 , and if it tends to positive values, it indicates that prediction intensities of the social group g_2 are higher than g_1 .

5.3.3 Results and Analysis

The emotion predictions of each PLM based textual emotion detection system are examined and the existence of affective bias are observed in the predicted emotion classes, as well as their intensities, for gender, race, and religious domains. The sample set of predictions presented in table 5.1 is a small subset of these affectively biased emotion predictions from the emotion detection models that employ BERT and T5. More sets of affectively biased predictions from the PLM based textual emotion detection systems, are provided in the appendix C.2. The following subsections evaluate the results of each PLM separately.

Affective Bias in BERT

Evaluation results observed for the textual emotion detection model built using BERT, analyzing gender, racial and religious domains using three different evaluation corpora EEC, BITS, and CSP, and various evaluation measures are shown in table 5.6. The pairs of social groups addressed by the evaluation corpora within each domain are presented column wise, the measures are presented row wise, and the emotions are grouped across the rows.

(A) Affective Gender Bias: Initially, looking into the gender domain, for class based measure DP, throughout all the emotions, it can be observed that there is almost no affective bias in the predictions made by BERT between male and female groups when evaluated using the EEC corpus (since, DP > 0.8 in all cases), and ideally no affective bias when evaluated using BITS corpus (since, DP = 1 in all cases). This ideal scenario in BITS might be because BITS is a small corpus containing short-length synthetically created sentences with explicit emotion terms that do not suit the real-world context. When compared to synthetic corpora (EEC and BITS), evaluations using the real-world context and non-synthetic corpus CSP shows more disparity (lower values of DP) between male and female groups for all the emotions except fear. For pairs involving non-binary genders, the values of DP are much less than those involving male and female groups of synthetic corpora EEC and BITS, for all emotions except joy. This indicate more disparity of male and female groups with non-binary gender, with respect to anger, fear and *sadness*. Since the evaluation of affective bias in non-binary social groups is only possible with BITS corpus, it may limit the exploration of affective bias towards this group and also the magnitude of affective bias. For the measure DP, when looking across each emotion, the most disparity (lowest value for DP) is observed for anger between male versus female when evaluated using CSP corpus,

			Gender				Race			Religion	
Evaluation	EEC	BITS	CSP	BITS	BITS	EEC	BITS	CSP	CSP	CSP	CSP
measures	M×F	$M \! \times \! F$	$M \! \times \! F$	$M \times Nb$	$F{ imes}Nb$	EA×AA	$EA{\times}AA$	EA×AA	Ch×Mu	Ch imes Jw	Mu imes Jw
					Α	nger			·		
DP	0.964	1.000	0.836	0.866	0.867	0.996	0.948	1.000	0.923	0.923	1.000
avg. Δ	0.018	0.016	0.049	0.038	0.030	0.031	0.012	0.052	0.076	0.078	0.100
p-value	0.003	0.036	0.037	0.047	0.132	0.417	0.431	0.730	0.038	0.042	2e-04
ACS	0.010	0.017	0.025	0.036	0.020	-0.005	-0.008	-0.001	0.050	-0.084	-0.148
Fear											
DP	0.954	1.000	1.000	0.938	0.938	0.961	1.000	0.743	0.857	0.885	0.968
avg. Δ	0.019	0.049	0.086	0.085	0.086	0.049	0.058	0.109	0.076	0.089	0.073
p-value	9.2e-12	0.864	0.767	0.043	0.063	5.3e-27	0.748	1.2e-6	0.044	0.439	0.001
ACS	0.019	-0.010	-0.015	-0.094	-0.088	-0.055	-0.016	-0.123	0.031	-0.041	-0.082
						Joy					
DP	0.994	1.000	0.971	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	0.797	0.455	0.637	0.713
avg. Δ	0.002	9.9e-5	0.072	0.001	0.001	0.005	0.001	0.076	0.148	0.031	0.130
p-value	0.400	0.061	0.014	0.360	0.394	0.002	0.611	0.001	0.033	0.425	0.021
ACS	-0.001	-5.8e-5	0.064	-0.001	-0.001	-0.004	-1e-4	-0.080	-0.240	-0.022	0.169
					Sa	dness					
DP	0.953	1.000	0.872	0.938	0.938	0.977	0.950	0.724	0.666	0.666	1.000
avg. Δ	0.027	0.013	0.076	0.024	0.033	0.056	0.012	0.116	0.124	0.100	0.051
p-value	1.8e-4	0.045	0.019	0.461	0.156	0.600	0.924	1e-12	0.065	0.201	0.146
ACS	-0.020	-0.019	-0.064	0.006	0.022	-0.010	-0.002	0.100	-0.279	-0.169	0.064

TABLE 5.6: Results of BERT (Boldface is used to highlight the values of DP < threshold $\tau = 0.80$ and p-values < 0.05)

followed by male versus non-binary, and female versus non-binary, for the same emotion, when evaluated using BITS corpus. Whereas, for *joy*, very less disparity is observed across the gender groups. In total, even though disparities are shown by DP, any of the gender pairs do not have values of DP less than the threshold $\tau = 0.80$. Hence DP does not establish the existence of gender affective bias in the predictions of BERT using these evaluation corpora.

Coming to the intensity based measure $avg.\Delta$ in the gender domain, similar to DP, more disparity is observed for male versus female pairs when evaluated using CSP corpus and also for the pairs involving non-binary social groups in BITS, across all the emotions. Different from the measure DP, $avg.\Delta$ reports highest disparity for *fear*, but similar to DP, $avg.\Delta$ shows very less disparity for *joy*.

For the next measure p-value, at least one of the evaluation corpora reports values less than 0.05 or statistically significant difference between male and female predictions across the emotions, indicating the existence of affective bias. The p-value also shows that difference between male and non-binary predictions for *anger* and *fear* are statistically significant. Analyzing the prediction intensity plots of pairs with statistically significant differences (e.g. figures 5.2a and 5.2b), shows that their intensity plots also depict more dispersion between data points as well as more disparity between the corresponding mean values. Conversely, in the plots of sentence pairs with statistically <u>in</u>significant differences in prediction intensities (e.g. figure 5.2c), there is very less dispersion between data points and less disparity between the mean values. Therefore p-value evidently reports the existence of affective bias in emotion prediction intensities of male and female groups with respect to all emotions, and for male and non-binary groups with respect to *anger* and *fear*.

In the case of intensity based measure ACS, for emotion *anger*, the positive values in Male versus Female sentence pairs of EEC, BITS, and CSP indicates that prediction intensities for *anger* are higher for the Female group when compared to Male, and positive values in Male versus Non-binary and Female versus Non-binary sentence pairs of BITS indicates that *anger* prediction intensities are higher for the Non-binary group when compared to Male and Female. Similarly, when examining across evaluation corpora, prediction intensities of *fear* and *joy* are higher for Male and Female genders, and prediction intensities of *sadness* are higher for Male and Non-binary genders. Therefore in the gender domain, the measure ACS also indicates affective bias in prediction intensities.

- (B) Affective Racial Bias: The European and African American racial groups when evaluated using CSP corpus, for the measure DP, shows the presence of affective bias for all emotions except *anger*, where EEC and BITS fail to identify it. Similarly, the avg. Δ disparities among intensity predictions of these racial groups are also much more visible when evaluated using CSP corpus. Either or both, EEC and CSP corpora shows that the difference in intensity predictions of these racial groups are statistically significant with p-values less than 0.05, for all emotions except *anger*, similar to the observations of the measure DP. The measure ACS also shows disparities in prediction intensities between the racial groups, where, for all emotions, prediction intensities of European American race are mostly higher than African American.
- (C) Affective Religious Bias: In the religious domain, the measure DP evidently shows affective bias in the emotion *joy* with very low values for all three religious pairs and also in *sadness* for Christian versus Muslim and Christian versus Jew pairs. For all the emotions, the values of DP indicate more bias in the Christian versus Muslim and Christian versus Jew sentence pairs than in the Muslim versus Jew pairs. The measure avg.∆ shows that there exist disparities between



(A) Plot of *sadness* prediction intensities of M×F in CSP having statistically significant p-value



(B) Plot of *fear* prediction intensities of EA×AA in CSP having statistically significant p-value



statistically insignificant p-value

FIGURE 5.2: Intensity plots of emotion predictions from BERT

prediction intensities of religious pairs, and these disparities are found to be comparatively higher than the pairs of gender and racial domains. The p-value indicates statistically significant differences in intensity predictions of *anger* between all three religious pairs. Also, Christian versus Muslim and Muslim versus Jew pairs show statistically significant differences in intensity predictions of all emotions except *sadness*. The measure ACS shows that for BERT *anger* and *fear* prediction intensities are higher for Muslim followed by Christian, and *joy* and *sadness* prediction intensities are higher for Christian followed by Jew.

Affective Bias in GPT-2

- (A) Affective Gender Bias: Evaluation results observed for GPT-2 are shown in table 5.7, where similar to BERT, no gender affective bias is observed with the measure DP for any of the emotion class predictions. Whereas intensity based disparities are shown by the measure avg.Δ, which is highly visible when evaluated using CSP corpus. The difference in prediction intensities between Male versus Female when evaluated using EEC corpus for all emotions except *joy*, and Male versus Non-binary and Female versus Non-binary when evaluated using BITS corpus for all emotions except *fear*, are statistically significant with p-values < 0.05, indicating the existence of affective bias in emotion prediction intensities are higher for Male and Female genders, *fear* prediction intensities are higher mainly for Female gender, and *sadness* prediction intensities are higher mainly for Male gender.
- (B) Affective Racial Bias: In the racial domain, similar to gender, DP does not show racial affective bias for any of the emotion class predictions, whereas intensity based disparities are shown by the measure avg.Δ. Here also, the disparities for class based measure DP and intensity based measure avg.Δ, are more visible when evaluated using CSP corpus. Whereas BITS reports an ideal unbiased scenario for DP and very low disparity for avg.Δ. The measure p-value reports that the difference in prediction intensities of European and African American races are statistically significant for all emotions except *sadness*. The measure ACS shows that, in GPT-2, prediction intensities of *anger* and *sadness* are mostly higher for African American race.
- (C) Affective Religious Bias: Unlike gender and race, in the religious domain the class based measure DP reports affective bias (with values of DP < 0.8) in the predictions of all emotions except *fear*. The measure $avg.\Delta$ also shows disparities in prediction intensities of religious pairs. The p-values indicate that difference in *fear* prediction intensities for the pairs Christian versus Muslim and Muslim

			Gender				Race			Religion		
Evaluation	EEC	BITS	CSP	BITS	BITS	EEC	BITS	CSP	CSP	CSP	CSP	
measures	M×F	$M{\times}F$	$M{\times}F$	$M{\times}Nb$	$F{\times}Nb$	EA×AA	$EA{\times}AA$	$EA{\times}AA$	Ch×Mu	$Ch{\times}Jw$	$Mu{ imes}Jw$	
Anger												
DP	0.992	0.926	0.954	0.960	0.889	0.980	1.000	0.920	0.600	0.867	0.692	
avg. Δ	0.023	0.006	0.039	0.008	0.008	0.038	0.010	0.050	0.059	0.048	0.021	
p-value	2.5e-05	0.103	0.772	0.031	0.004	3.4e-5	0.015	0.037	0.580	0.788	0.626	
ACS	0.013	0.007	-0.005	-0.006	-0.008	0.011	0.012	0.015	-0.044	-0.018	0.010	
Fear												
DP	1.000	1.000	0.991	0.960	0.960	0.996	1.000	0.901	0.883	0.985	0.870	
avg. Δ	0.016	0.007	0.058	0.017	0.015	0.030	0.010	0.063	0.139	0.069	0.158	
p-value	0.048	0.372	0.505	0.917	0.787	0.012	0.101	0.183	6.9e-13	0.262	7e-13	
ACS	-0.003	0.002	0.001	3.7e-4	-0.001	-0.011	-0.014	0.005	0.159	-0.040	-0.277	
						Joy						
DP	0.985	1.000	0.914	1.000	1.000	0.995	1.000	0.936	0.545	0.600	0.909	
avg. Δ	0.008	3.3e-5	0.073	0.001	0.001	0.017	2e-4	0.101	0.114	0.100	0.089	
p-value	0.640	0.713	0.761	0.018	0.017	0.872	0.204	6.1e-5	0.110	0.944	0.069	
ACS	-7.3e-5	5.3e-6	-0.023	-0.001	-0.001	-0.003	-2e-4	-0.108	0.135	-0.011	-0.129	
					Sa	dness						
DP	0.985	0.951	0.927	1.000	0.951	0.996	1.000	0.938	0.467	0.933	0.502	
avg. Δ	0.011	0.002	0.047	0.014	0.014	0.018	0.010	0.055	0.039	0.045	0.045	
p-value	4.5e-29	0.262	0.313	0.042	0.042	0.178	0.725	0.283	0.310	0.429	0.343	
ACS	-0.012	-0.001	-0.020	-0.013	-0.011	-0.002	0.001	0.006	-0.058	0.028	0.060	

TABLE 5.7: Results of GPT-2 (Boldface is used to highlight the values of DP < threshold $\tau = 0.80$ and p-values < 0.05)

versus Jew are statistically significant. The measure ACS shows that for GPT-2 *anger* prediction intensities are mostly higher for Christian, *fear* and *joy* prediction intensities are higher for Muslim and Christian, and *sadness* prediction intensities are mostly higher for Jew groups.

Affective Bias in XLNet

(A) Affective Gender Bias: Evaluation results of XLNet are shown in table 5.8, where the class based measure DP shows ideally no affective bias (values of DP is almost one) in emotion predictions of gender pairs, whereas avg.∆ shows disparities in emotion prediction intensities of these pairs. The p-values report that differences between intensity predictions are statistically significant for Male versus Female pairs for all emotions, and also for pairs involving the Non-binary group for emotion *anger*. The measure ACS indicates high *anger* and *fear* prediction intensities for Female and Male genders, and high *joy* and *sadness* prediction intensities for Male and Non-binary genders.

			Gender				Race			Religion		
Evaluation	EEC	BITS	CSP	BITS	BITS	EEC	BITS	CSP	CSP	CSP	CSP	
measures	$M \times F$	$M{\times}F$	$M{\times}F$	$M \times Nb$	$F{\times}Nb$	$EA{\times}AA$	$EA{\times}AA$	$EA{\times}AA$	Ch imes Mu	$Ch{\times}Jw$	$Mu \! \times \! Jw$	
Anger												
DP	0.983	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	0.976	1.000	0.974	0.825	0.869	0.950	
avg. Δ	0.017	0.005	0.053	0.017	0.019	0.048	0.004	0.061	0.115	0.083	0.110	
p-value	1.7e-6	0.002	0.226	0.035	0.014	0.041	0.561	0.063	0.008	0.842	0.001	
ACS	0.015	0.005	-0.028	-0.015	-0.020	-0.021	0.002	0.015	0.077	-0.032	-0.153	
Fear												
DP	0.991	1.000	0.989	1.000	1.000	0.988	1.000	0.938	0.810	1.000	0.810	
avg. Δ	0.012	0.030	0.080	0.060	0.071	0.038	0.036	0.067	0.054	0.070	0.047	
p-value	0.032	0.809	0.680	0.667	0.642	0.228	0.004	0.003	0.561	0.807	0.703	
ACS	0.004	-0.001	-0.003	-0.008	-0.013	-0.007	-0.050	-0.062	-0.029	-0.005	-0.019	
						Јоу						
DP	0.993	1.000	0.974	1.000	1.000	0.970	1.000	0.804	0.856	1.000	0.857	
avg. Δ	0.010	0.013	0.084	0.006	0.018	0.022	0.009	0.084	0.027	0.077	0.086	
p-value	0.457	0.118	0.028	0.158	0.125	0.011	0.573	0.024	0.357	0.410	0.397	
ACS	-0.003	-0.018	0.056	0.006	0.019	-0.012	0.004	-0.073	-0.055	0.073	0.133	
					Sa	adness						
DP	0.998	1.000	0.989	1.000	1.000	0.997	1.000	0.902	0.533	0.833	0.640	
avg. Δ	0.009	0.003	0.050	0.007	0.008	0.028	0.007	0.083	0.094	0.065	0.104	
p-value	0.013	0.010	0.553	0.203	0.061	0.253	0.075	5.1e-6	0.048	0.637	0.010	
ACS	-0.003	-0.003	-0.031	0.002	0.005	-0.004	0.009	0.046	-0.131	0.007	0.124	

TABLE 5.8: Results of XLNet (Boldface is used to highlight the values of DP < threshold $\tau = 0.80$ and p-values < 0.05)

- (B) Affective Racial Bias: Similar to the gender domain, the measure DP does not confirm class based affective racial bias in XLNet, but avg.∆ shows disparity in intensities of predictions with p-value indicating statistically significant differences between prediction intensities of both races, for all emotions. The measure ACS shows that *anger* and *sadness* prediction intensities are higher for African American, whereas *fear* and *joy* prediction intensities are higher for European American race.
- (C) Affective Religious Bias: In the religious domain, even though the values of DP are less compared to gender and racial domains, it is not sufficient to confirm class based affective religious bias in the emotions except *sadness* whose values are very low and reporting bias. The measure avg.∆ shows disparity in prediction intensities, with p-value indicating statistically significant differences between Christian versus Muslim and Muslim versus Jew religious pairs, for *anger* and *sadness*. The measure ACS indicates that *anger* prediction intensities are mostly higher for Muslim religion followed by Christian, *fear* mostly higher for Christian followed by Muslim, and *joy* and *sadness* higher for Christian and Jew.

Affective Bias in T5

(A) Affective Gender Bias: Evaluation results of T5 are shown in table 5.9. In the gender domain, class based measure DP shows affective bias in the predictions of Male versus Female pair for *anger* and *fear* when evaluated using CSP corpus. The avg.∆ measure shows disparities in prediction intensities, and p-values indicate that differences in prediction intensities of Male versus Female pair for all emotions except *fear* and in pairs involving Non-binary gender for emotions *anger* and *fear* are statistically significant. The measure ACS indicates high prediction intensities for *anger, joy* and *sadness* mostly by Male gender and high prediction intensities for *fear* mostly by Female and Non-binary genders.

TABLE 5.9: Results of T5 (Boldface is used to highlight the values of DP \$<\$ threshold $\tau=0.80$ and p-values <0.05)

	Gender					Race			Religion		
Evaluation	EEC	BITS	CSP	BITS	BITS	EEC	BITS	CSP	CSP	CSP	CSP
measures	M×F	$M\!\times\!F$	$M{\times}F$	$M \times Nb$	$F{\times}Nb$	EA×AA	$EA{ imes}AA$	$EA{\times}AA$	Ch imes Mu	$Ch{\times}Jw$	$Mu{\times}Jw$
Anger											
DP	0.983	0.966	0.765	0.897	0.866	0.933	0.952	0.903	0.968	0.816	0.790
avg. Δ	0.039	0.016	0.077	0.021	0.022	0.101	0.004	0.106	0.082	0.113	0.097
p-value	3.6e-20	0.530	0.385	0.017	0.043	0.001	0.458	6.8e-8	0.118	0.491	0.041
ACS	-0.044	0.006	-0.037	-0.029	-0.032	0.005	0.002	0.070	-0.086	0.014	0.064
Fear											
DP	0.994	1.000	0.778	0.897	1.000	0.966	1.000	0.867	0.783	0.915	0.717
avg. Δ	0.017	0.029	0.079	0.079	0.068	0.039	0.067	0.099	0.079	0.148	0.145
p-value	0.309	0.318	0.662	0.003	0.004	3.1e-7	0.022	9.2e-5	0.602	0.001	2.8e-5
ACS	0.002	0.008	-0.025	0.071	0.063	-0.035	-0.087	-0.111	-0.005	-0.242	-0.263
Јоу											
DP	0.990	1.000	0.848	1.000	1.000	0.961	1.000	0.971	0.624	0.375	0.600
avg. Δ	0.009	2e-4	0.062	1e-4	2.8e-4	0.029	0.009	0.068	0.183	0.001	0.075
p-value	0.003	0.025	0.885	0.605	0.115	0.122	0.332	0.001	0.122	0.468	0.423
ACS	-0.009	-2e-4	-0.025	-1.6e-5	1.8e-4	-0.014	-0.014	-0.078	-0.320	0.001	0.075
Sadness											
DP	0.998	0.973	0.952	0.925	0.900	0.998	0.955	0.972	0.500	0.900	0.450
avg. Δ	0.023	0.006	0.082	0.009	0.014	0.074	0.007	0.103	0.095	0.118	0.085
p-value	8.6e-15	0.035	0.689	0.223	0.871	0.002	0.048	0.957	0.121	0.751	0.020
ACS	-0.026	-0.006	-0.027	-0.008	-0.002	-0.040	-0.007	-0.030	-0.150	-0.002	0.099

(B) Affective Racial Bias: The measure DP does not confirm class based affective racial bias in T5 predictions, whereas $avg.\Delta$ shows intensity based affective racial bias, with statistically significant differences in intensity predictions of the racial pairs for all the emotions. ACS indicates prediction intensities of African American race are higher for *anger*, whereas prediction intensities of European American are higher for *fear*, *joy* and *sadness*.

(C) Affective Religious Bias: In the religious pairs, the measure DP indicates affective bias in Muslim versus Jew pairs for all emotions, in Muslim versus Christian pairs for all emotions except *anger*, and in Christian versus Jew pairs for *joy*. The avg. Δ shows intensity based disparities in all emotions, and p-values indicate that the differences in prediction intensities are statistically significant in the case of Muslim versus Jew pair for all emotions except *joy* and in Christian versus Jew pair for the emotion *fear*. ACS indicates that *anger* and *joy* prediction intensities are higher for Jew religion followed by Christian, *fear* prediction intensities are higher for Christian followed by Muslim, and *sadness* prediction intensities are higher for Christian followed by Jew.

5.4 Discussion

Based on the results analyzed, this section presents a discussion, initially comparing the presence of affective bias across the PLMs, followed by affect imbalances in the corpora and its resemblance in the predictions, reflections of affect-oriented societal stereotypes into affective bias, and finally, the effectiveness of evaluation corpora in unveiling affective bias.

5.4.1 Affective Bias - Across the PLMs

This study analyzes affective bias in the predictions of textual emotion detection models at class level and intensity level. In most cases, class based measures that are capable of identifying differences in emotion classes predicted for two different social groups, do not show affective bias, whereas intensity based measures mostly identify the existence of affective bias in predicted emotion intensities. This is because the differences in predicted emotion intensities between the social groups might not be that very high to alter the choice of emotion class predictions, but even then there exists affective bias due to differences in the predicted emotion intensities. When comparing across the PLMs, class based affective gender bias is only observed in T5, whereas intensity based affective gender bias is observed in all the PLMs. Similarly, class based affective racial bias is only observed in BERT, whereas intensity based affective racial bias is observed in all the PLMs. But, in the domain of religion, all four PLMs show high magnitudes of class based and intensity based affective bias, *i.e., compared to gender and race, the religious domain is observed to have high existence of affective bias.*

XLNet is observed to have the least class based affective bias, with bias only observed in the case of the religious domain for the emotion *sadness*. XLNet is also observed to have the least intensity based affective bias among all the PLMs when
considering the measures $\operatorname{avg.}\Delta$ (i.e., the top five values of $\operatorname{avg.}\Delta$ do not have any instance of XLNet) and p-value (i.e., the number of instances in XLNet with statistically significant differences are also low). Whereas T5 has the maximum class based biased instances, and also high intensity based affective bias among all the PLMs when considering the measures $\operatorname{avg.}\Delta$ (i.e., top five values of $\operatorname{avg.}\Delta$ have three instances of T5) and p-value (i.e., the number of instances in T5 with statistically significant differences are also high). BERT also shows class based and intensity based affective bias, nearly similar but comparatively less than T5, followed by GPT-2.

5.4.2 Affect Imbalance in Corpora and Affective Bias in Predictions

When revisiting the analysis of corpora involved in training PLMs, it was already observed (in table 5.4) that these corpora have imbalanced co-occurrences of emotions with certain social groups in gender, racial and religious domains. Further at the prediction level, PLMs that utilize these corpora seems to reflect some of these imbalances hinting at the propagation of affect imbalance in data towards affective bias in predictions. For example, in pre-training and fine-tuning corpora of BERT (i.e., WikiEn, BookCorpus, and SemEval-2018), the emotion anger has high co-occurrence with Nonbinary and Female groups than Male. This seems to reflect in the predictions of BERT, i.e., the measure ACS shows that prediction intensities of *anger* are higher for Nonbinary and Female groups than Male. Some other imbalanced emotion associations that exist in these corpora like sadness more associated with Male and Non-binary groups in the gender domain, joy more associated with European American racial group, fear more associated with Muslim, joy more associated with Christian, etc., are also seen to be reflected in the predictions of BERT when evaluated using the measure ACS. Similar to BERT, it can also be observed that the corpus level affective bias from pre-training and fine-tuning corpora of GPT-2 (i.e., WebText-250k and SemEval-2018) reflects in the predictions of GPT-2, e.g., (1) high co-occurrence of *fear* with Female and Non-binary genders in the corpora, and high prediction intensities of *fear* for Female and Non-binary genders, (2) high co-occurrence of anger with African American race in the corpora, and high prediction intensities of anger for African American, (3) high co-occurrence of *fear* with Muslim religion in the corpora, and high prediction intensities of *fear* for Muslim, etc. Such examples of reflection of corpus level affective bias in the predictions of PLMs are also visible in XLNet and T5. These instances give hints that affect imbalances in the large scale corpora of PLMs may lead to affective bias in predictions of the models that utilize these PLMs, further opening the scope for exploration in the direction of affective bias propagation.

5.4.3 Societal Stereotypes and Affective Bias

The imbalanced/biased association of emotions with certain social groups within a domain, either at the corpus level or prediction level, reflects several affect-oriented societal stereotypes. Patterns in the training corpora and predictions of PLM based textual emotion detection models showing high association of African American race with anger (an example plot of high anger prediction intensities for African American race is presented in figure 5.3a) reflect the "Angry Black" stereotype that misrepresents and victimizes blacks as hostile in mainstream American culture and suppress their emotions [267]. Another pattern of high association of European American race with fear (an example plot of high fear prediction intensities for European American is presented in figure 5.3b) reflects the existence of stereotypes such as *fear* of crime, residential integration, and racial prejudice among the whites [268]. The high association of Non-binary genders with negative emotions especially fear, and very rarely associating with positive emotion joy, reflects the societal stigmas like homo-negativity and homophobia against these gender minorities [269]. Similarly, the high association of Muslim religion with *fear* (an example plot of high *fear* prediction intensities for Muslim is presented in figure 5.3c), which is inline with the experimental results presented in [29].

5.4.4 Effectiveness of Evaluation Corpora in Unveiling Affective Bias

When comparing the capability of the evaluation corpora EEC, BITS, and CSP, it could be observed that BITS, with a smaller number of sentence pairs (120 for gender and 72 for race) and explicit emotion terms, is mostly unable to recognize the existence of affective bias in perspective of both class level and intensity level analysis. But even though EEC also has implicit representation of emotion terms similar to BITS, the availability of a large number of sentence pairs (1400 for each domain) eventually helps EEC to identify the existence of affective bias better than BITS. On the other side, even with a smaller number of sentence pairs (263 for gender, 566 for race, 104 for religion), the evaluation corpus CSP helps to identify affective bias to a great extent, and it is the only corpus that unveils class based affective bias in the domains. It might be that the non-synthetic and real-world context nature of sentence pairs in CSP could have been advantageous in identifying affective bias. Therefore, upgrading such a corpus with more number of sentence pairs or procuring new evaluation corpora containing non-synthetic real-world sentences with corresponding ground truth emotions could eventually help towards comprehensive and rigorous explorations in



(A) High *anger* prediction intensities from T5 for African American race in CSP evaluation corpus reflecting "Angry Black" stereotype



(B) High *fear* prediction intensities from BERT for European American race in CSP evaluation corpus reflecting stereotypes of *fear* in European American



(C) High fear prediction intensities from GPT-2 for Muslim religion in CSP evaluation corpus

FIGURE 5.3: Intensity plots of emotion predictions reflecting societal stereotypes

the direction of identifying affective bias and quantifying its magnitude using ground truth dependent measures like Equal Opportunity [200].

5.5 Summary

Affective bias in computational systems discriminates against demographic groups based on certain emotions while making algorithmic decisions, which when deployed in the real world, can harm the ethical trust of these systems and can be potentially threatening to human lives. Hence, this work investigated the existence of Affective Bias, a highly socially relevant and less addressed problem, specifically in the context of textual emotion detection models built using large PLMs. The study attempted the analysis of affective bias among various social groups such as, Male, Female and Nonbinary in the gender domain, European American and African American in the racial domain, and Christian, Muslim, and Jew in the religious domain, in four different PLMs viz., BERT, GPT-2, XLNet, and T5, considering their popularity and wide applicability in textual emotion detection and many other related tasks. As algorithmic bias has its roots from data bias, this study started the exploration of affective bias by analyzing the imbalanced distribution of affect in the pre-training corpora of these PLMs i.e., WikiEn, BookCorpus, WebText-250, and C4-Val, and SemEval-2018 used to finetune the emotion detection models. Later, the existence of affective bias is analyzed in the predictions of fine-tuned emotion detection models built using these large PLMs. Evaluations are performed to analyze affective bias in the predicted emotion classes and corresponding intensities of social groups within a domain using three different evaluation corpora and various class based and intensity based evaluation measures.

The wide set of experiments and evaluation strategies confirm the existence of affect imbalance in large scale corpora and affective bias in emotion predictions of the PLMs, with affective bias mostly higher for T5 compared to the other PLMs. The high association of emotion *anger* with African American race, *joy* with European American race, *fear* with the Muslim religion, etc., are some examples of affective bias. Religious domain reports more biased instances, compared to gender and race, for all the PLMs. The results also demonstrated that the biased predictions of the models are inclined with patterns of affect imbalance in the corpora, and both these reflect certain affect-oriented societal stereotypes, hinting at the propagation of affective bias towards predictions of the PLMs. To aid future research, all the relevant materials including the pre-processed pre-training and fine-tuning corpora, evaluation corpora modified to suit our task, list of affective terms and target terms for corpus level analysis, source code, and fine-tuned textual emotion detection models along with their emotion class and intensity predictions, shall be made publicly available at https://github.com/anoopkdcs/affective_bias_in_plm and https: //dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/projects/ac/affective-bias.html.

Chapter 6

Conclusion

"Surprise arises when we encounter sudden and unexpected sounds or movements. As the briefest of the universal emotions, its function is to focus our attention on determining what is happening and whether or not it is dangerous."

> – Paul Ekman Universal Emotions

Abstract: This final chapter concludes the Thesis by providing a recap of the major contributions of the Thesis. The chapter also discusses viable future research directions and open challenges that bring up new pasturages for *Textual Affective Computing* research.

6.1 Summary of the Thesis

This Thesis presented an exploration towards three salient facets of *Textual Affective Computing*, viz., detecting textual affect through readers' perspective, the utility of textual affect in a very significant downstream NLP task of health fake news detection, and identifying affective bias in large PLMs. A comprehensive discussion on contributions in these three facets of Textual Affective Computing, explored in this Thesis, is separately detailed below.

Readers' Emotion Detection Readers' Emotions Detection attempted in chapter 3 proposed a novel deep learning based methodology *REDAffectiveLM* that leverages context-specific and affect enriched representations by fusing a transformer-based pre-trained language model XLNet with Bi-LSTM+Attention that utilizes affect enriched embedding, to predict readers' emotion profiles from short-text documents. The experiments were conducted on the newly procured readers' emotion datasets, REN-20k and RENh-4k, and the benchmark SemEval-2007 dataset. Performance of the proposed model consistently outperformed the baselines belonging to deep learning,

lexicon based, and classical machine learning categories, and even the individual affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention and XLNet networks of the fused model with statistically significant results across all the three datasets when evaluated using various coarse-grained and fine-grained measures. A detailed model behavior analysis is also performed to study the impact of affect enrichment specifically in readers' emotion detection using a novel set of qualitative and quantitative behavior evaluation techniques over the affect enriched Bi-LSTM+Attention network. Behavior analysis confirmed that compared to the conventional semantic embedding, the affect enriched embedding helped to increase the ability of the network to effectively identify and assign weightages to the key terms (emotion words and named entities) responsible for readers' emotion detection. The entire set of experiments thus establishes that incorporating affective information of textual documents along with the powerful contextspecific representations from transformer-based pre-trained language models, can further significantly improve the performance of the affective computing task of readers' emotion detection.

Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection Affect-oriented health fake news detection attempted in chapter 4 proposed a novel methodology that considers the utility of affective information within the news articles to improve fake news detection in the health domain. For the task, a new dataset HWB that consists of fake and legitimate news articles was procured. The raw textual articles of fake and legitimate news were compared vis-a-vis emotion-amplified textual articles generated using an external emotion intensity lexicon, over different supervised and unsupervised fake news detection models built using conventional machine learning and deep learning based architectures, with varying parameters. The emotion-amplified articles were seen to be empirically much more suitable for the task of health fake news detection with significant gains over the raw text articles establishing the utility of affective information to improve health fake news detection.

Identifying Affective Bias in large PLMs Identifying affective bias in large PLMs attempted in chapter 5 is a novel direction of inquiry in a very significant and neoteric research area of algorithmic fairness, to investigate any biased or unfair association of emotions towards social groups belonging to a domain. The proposed study tried to explore the existence of affective bias, pertinent to the gender, racial, and religious domains, in the decisions of textual emotion detection systems that are modeled using

four popular and widely used PLMs, BERT, GPT-2, XLNet, and T5. The study performed two types of affective bias analysis, i.e., corpus level and prediction level analysis. To understand corpus level affective bias the imbalanced distribution of affect in the pre-training and fine-tuning corpora of the PLMs are analyzed. To understand prediction level affective bias the emotion predictions of PLM based textual emotion detection models are analyzed using synthetic and non-synthetic evaluation corpora and a set of class-based and intensity based evaluation measures. The entire set of experiments helped to unveil latent corpus level and prediction level affective bias in the PLMs, inclination of prediction level affective bias towards the patterns of corpus level bias, and reflections of certain affect-oriented societal stereotypes in these affective biases.

To aid future research, relevant materials including datasets, source code, etc., of each of the contributions are made publicly available at:-

- Readers' emotion detection: https://dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/projects/ac/red affectivelm.html
- Affect-oriented health fake news detection: https://dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/res ources/hwb.html
- Identifying affective bias in large PLMs: https://dcs.uoc.ac.in/cida/proje cts/ac/affective-bias.html

6.2 Directions for Future Research

The future technological revolutions would undoubtedly make the utility of affective computing systems more imperative, optimistically, such that it will influence most aspects of people's daily lives. A few directions for future research, specific to the three facets of textual affective computing attempted in this Thesis, are individually discussed below.

Readers' Emotion Detection Given that the proposed study establishes emotion words significantly influence readers' emotion detection, in the future, this study can be extended to explore the scope of developing affect enriched transformer based language models. Further, there is a large scope in exploring the applicability of affect enriched transformer based language models in affective well-being tasks such as early detection of anxiety and depression from social networks. Emotions elicited by the

readers also rely on dynamic characteristics and other social and individual circumstances like cultural background, personality, etc. Analyzing and incorporating such features is still an issue for the precise detection of readers' emotions, which is to be addressed in the future.

Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection Through illustrating that there are significant differences in the emotional character of fake and legitimate news in the health domain in that exaggerating the emotional content aids techniques that would differentiate them, this work sets the stage for further inquiry into identifying the nature of differences in the emotional content. Further, emotion-aware end-to-end methods for supervised and unsupervised health fake news identification can be developed in the future, by blending article emotion cues with collective behavior heuristics that have been effective for fake news identification (e.g., [270]). The use of lexicons learned from data [271] that may be better suited for fake news identification in niche domains and the usage of the affective content of responses to social media posts can also be explored in the future.

Identifying Affective Bias in large PLMs The observations of affective bias and its magnitudes in this study are dependent on the choice of evaluation corpora and measures, i.e., certain instances of 'no affective bias' or marginal magnitudes of affective bias may also be due to the limited capability of evaluation corpora and measures to unveil the actual latent affective bias that exists in the model. Therefore in the future, this study can be extended with a set of real-world context evaluation corpora, for example, by expanding CSP in terms of the number of sentences and also by procuring ground truth emotions that allow applying other evaluation measures like Equal Opportunity [200]. Beyond analyzing each sentence pair in a domain separately, the ways to simultaneously analyze sentences representing various social groups in a domain can be explored, for example, analyzing sentence triplets like Male versus Female versus Non-binary. This study, an initial attempt to identify affective bias in textual emotion detection models that utilize large PLMs, opens up the vast future scope towards affective bias mitigation, which presumably, can be better achieved by adopting more convenient solutions that utilize constraints while fine-tuning the prediction system (i.e., in-processing) and post-processing, rather than retraining or fine-tuning the PLM based affect prediction systems with unbiased corpora which are expensive and cumbersome [272]. It is also crucial to evaluate affective computing systems in the backdrop of affective bias with respect to all the modalities involved (e.g. audio, video, etc.) since automated affective computing systems have a huge impact on modeling human behavior in many intelligent artificial artifacts or algorithms that imitate human emotion systems for their completeness.

Hence, concluding this Thesis with the hope that the contributions of this Thesis would be beneficial to the scientific community researching on Textual Affective Computing, and paving the way for future research.



Appendix A

Appendix - Readers' Emotion Detection

A.1 Legal and Ethical Concerns of REN Datasets

The necessary approval in using the data for non-commercial academic research purposes was obtained from Rappler Inc. The data from Rappler to create REN datasets was procured manually without using any automated crawling software. All participants engaged in the manual data collection process were sensitized about the nature of the research and were trained on assigning the news documents to various genres consistently. Further, informed consent was obtained before the participants took part in the process of dataset curation. There was no labeling or annotation required in terms of readers' emotions since it was available within the Rappler website. The study cites the Rappler website for the data source in our research as reference number [273] and also acknowledges Rappler's data source support and participants engaged in the manual data collection process, within the 'Acknowledgement' section.

A.2 Hyper-parameters of the baselines

Hyper-parameters used to build the deep learning baselines, Kim's CNN [226], GRU, LSTM [96], Bi-LSTM [60], Bi-LSTM+Attention, and emoBi-LSTM+Attention are provided in table A.1 to aid reproducibility.

Parameters	Kim's CNN	GRU	LSTM	Bi-LSTM	Bi-LSTM+ Attention	emoBi-LSTM +Attention
Filter size	3, 4 & 5	_	_	_	_	_
Number of filters	100	-	-	-	-	_
Number of RNN stack	-	1	1	1	1	1
Neurons in Stack	-	100	100	100	100	100
Embedding	Pre-trained GloVe	Pre-trained GloVe	Pre-trained GloVe	Pre-trained GloVe	Pre-trained GloVe	Pre-trained emoGloVe
Embedding dimension	100	100	100	100	100	100
Regularizer	l2(0.01)	l2(0.01)	l2(0.001)	l2(0.001)	l2(0.001)	l2(0.001)
Dropout	0.5	0.25	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Loss	MSE	MSE	MSE	MSE	MSE	MSE
Optimiser	Adam	Adam	Adam	Adam	Adam	Adam
Learning rate	0.0005	0.005	0.0005	0.0005	0.0005	0.0005
Dense layer activation	softmax	softmax	softmax	softmax	softmax	softmax
Batch size	64	64	128	128	128	128
Epoch	100	100	100	100	100	100

TABLE A.1: Hyper-parameters of the deep learning baselines

Appendix **B**

Appendix - Affect-oriented Health Fake News Detection

B.1 Parameters of the fake news detection models

The Scikit-learn machine learning library is used for conventional classifiers and clustering, and the Keras neural-network library for CNN and LSTM. The study utilizes a manual-search parameter tuning strategy by analyzing the results over different values for the parameters. The values of hyperparameters that gave good results are mentioned here, to aid reproducibility. In most of the experiments, good results were obtained with default parameter settings. So the parameters other than the default ones only are listed below.

B.1.1 Conventional Classifiers

- NB: GaussianNB (Gaussian Naive Bayes algorithm) with default parameters
- KNN: *n_neighbors* = 2
- SVM: kernel = *linear*
- RF: $max_depth = 5$, $n_estimators = 10$
- DT: $max_depth = 5$
- AB: default parameters

B.1.2 Deep Learning Classifiers

The proposed work uses a CNN model presented in [226], a neural method that has recorded good performance for text classification, with following hyper-parameters.

- Filter sizes: 3, 4 and 5
- Number of filters: 100

- Embedding dimension: d = 100/300 (Keras Embedding)
- Regularizer: l2(0.01)
- Optimiser: Adam
- Loss: Binary cross entropy
- Activation function in the dense layer: sigmoid
- Batch size: 32
- Epoch: 100

The LSTM model is constructed using a single LSTM layer followed by 2 Dense layers, with following hyper-parameters.

- LSTM layer: 100/300 LSTM units
- Dense layer 1: 256 neurons and *ReLu* activation function
- Dense layer 2: 1 neuron and sigmoid activation function
- Embedding dimension: d = 100/300
- Optimiser: *RMSprop*
- Loss = Binary cross entropy
- Batch size = 32
- Epoch = 100

B.1.3 Unsupervised Setting

- K-Means: $max_iter = 500$
- DBSCAN: default parameters

Appendix C

Appendix - Identifying Affective Bias in Large PLMs

C.1 Target terms for corpus level affective bias analysis

C.1.1 Affective terms

 Anger: aggravate, aggravated, aggravating, aggravation, aggravations, agitate, agitated, agitating, agitation, agitational, agitations, anger, angered, angering, angers, angrier, angriest, angry, annoy, annoyance, annoyances, annoyed, annoying, annoyingly, annoys, bitter, bittered, bitterer, bitterest, bittering, bitterness, bitternesses, bitters, contempt, contempts, crosspatch, crosspatches, disgust, disgusted, disgusting, disgusts, dislike, disliked, dislikes, disliking, displease, displeased, displeases, displeasing, distasteful, enrage, enraged, enrages, enraging, envied, envies, envy, envying, exasperated, exasperating, exasperation, exasperations, ferocious, ferocities, ferocity, frustrate, frustrated, frustrates, frustrating, frustration, frustrations, furies, furious, furiousser, furioussest, fury, grouchier, grouchiest, grouchy, grumpier, grumpiest, grumpy, hate, hated, hates, hating, hatred, hatreds, hostile, hostiler, hostiles, hostilities, hostility, irritabilities, irritability, irritable, irritate, irritated, irritates, irritating, irritation, irritations, jealous, jealousies, jealousser, jealoussest, jealousy, loathe, loathed, loathing, loathings, outrage, outraged, outrageous, outrages, outraging, rage, raged, rages, raging, resentment, resentments, revulsion, revulsions, revulsive, scorn, scorned, scorning, scorns, spite, spited, spites, spiting, torment, tormented, tormenting, torments, vengeance, vengeances, vengeful, vengefully, vengefulness, vengefulnesses, vex, vexing, vexingly, vexings, wrath, wrathed, wrather, wrathest, wrathful, wrathfuler, wrathfulest, wrathfullier, wrathfulliest, wrathfully, wrathfulness, wrathfulnesses, wrathing, wraths

- Fear: alarm, alarmed, alarming, alarms, anxieties, anxiety, anxious, anxiouslier, anxiousliest, anxiously, anxiousness, anxiousnesses, anxiousser, anxioussest, apprehension, apprehensions, apprehensive, discourage, discouraged, discourages, discouraging, distress, distressed, distresses, distressing, dread, dreaddest, dreaded, dreader, dreadful, dreadfuler, dreadfulest, dreadfullier, dreadfulliest, dreadfully, dreadfulness, dreadfulnesses, dreadfuls, dreading, dreads, fear, feared, fearer, fearers, feares, fearful, fearfuller, fearfullest, fearfullier, fearfulliest, fearfully, fearfulness, fearfulnesses, fearing, fears, forbidding, forbiddingly, forbiddings, fright, frighted, frighten, frightened, frightening, frighting, frights, horrible, horribleness, horriblenesses, horribler, horribles, horriblest, horriblier, horribliest, horribly, horror, horrors, hysteria, hysterias, mortification, mortifications, mortified, mortifies, mortify, nervous, nervouslier, nervousliest, nervously, nervousness, nervousnesses, nervousser, nervoussest, panic, panicked, panicking, panickings, panics, scare, scared, scareder, scaredest, scares, scariest, scaring, shock, shockable, shockabler, shockablest, shocked, shocker, shockest, shocking, shockingly, shocks, suspense, suspenseful, suspensefully, suspensefulness, suspensefulnesses, suspenseless, suspenses, terrific, terrified, terrifies, terrify, terrifying, terror, terrors, threat, threaten, threatening, threateningly, threatenings, threats, uneasier, uneasiest, uneasiness, uneasinesses, uneasy, worried, worries, worry, worrying, worryings
- **Joy:** amuse, amused, amusement, amusements, amuses, amusing, bliss, blissed, blisses, blissful, blissfully, blissfulness, blissing, cheer, cheered, cheerful, cheerfuller, cheerfullest, cheerfulliest, cheerfully, cheerfulness, cheerfulnesses, cheering, cheers, content, contented, contenting, contentment, contentments, contents, delight, delighted, delighter, delighters, delightful, delightfully, delightfulness, delightfulnesses, delighting, delights, eager, eagerer, eagerest, eagerlier, eagerliest, eagerly, eagerness, eagernesses, eagers, ecstasies, ecstasy, ecstatic, ecstatics, elate, elated, elates, elation, elations, enjoy, enjoyable, enjoyableness, enjoyablenesses, enjoyably, enjoyed, enjoyer, enjoyers, enjoying, enjoyment, enjoyments, enjoys, enthral, enthrall, enthralled, enthralling, enthrallment, enthrallments, enthralls, enthusiasm, enthusiasms, euphoria, euphorias, excite, excited, excitement, excitements, excites, exciting, exhilarate, exhilarated, exhilarates, exhilarating, exhilaration, exhilarations, fun, funnier, funnies, funniest, funny, funs, gaieties, gaiety, gayeties, gayety, glad, gladded, gladder, gladdest, gladding, gladful, gladlier, gladliest, gladly, gladness, gladnesses, glads, glee, gleed, gleeing, glees, grateful, gratefully, great, greater, greatest, greatly,

greats, happier, happiest, happiness, happinesses, happy, hilarious, hope, hoped, hopes, hoping, jolliest, jollilier, jolliliest, jollily, jolliness, jollinesses, jolly, jovial, jovialer, jovialest, jovialities, joviality, joy, joyed, joyful, joyfuller, joyfullest, joyfulness, joying, joyous, joyousness, joys, jubilant, jubilate, jubilation, jubilations, optimism, optimisms, optimistic, pleasant, pleasanter, pleasantest, pleasantly, pleasing, pleasings, pleasure, pleasured, pleasures, pleasuring, pride, prided, prides, priding, rapture, raptured, raptures, rapturing, relief, reliefs, relieved, relievedly, relieving, satisfaction, satisfactions, satisfied, satisfies, satisfy, satisfying, thrill, thrilled, thrilling, thrills, triumph, triumphal, triumphaler, triumphalest, triumphed, triumphing, triumphs, wonderful, zeal, zeals, zest, zest-ed, zestful, zestfuler, zestfulest, zestfullier, zestfulliest, zestfully, zestfulness, zestfulness, zests

• Sadness: agonies, agony, alienate, alienated, alienates, alienating, alienation, alienations, anguish, anguished, anguishes, anguishing, defeat, defeated, defeating, defeatism, defeatisms, defeats, deject, dejected, dejectedly, dejectedness, dejectednesses, dejecting, dejection, dejections, dejects, depressed, depresses, depressing, depressingly, depression, depressions, despaired, despairer, despairers, despairing, despairs, devastate, devastated, devastates, devastating, disappoint, disappointed, disappointing, disappointment, disappointments, disappoints, dismay, dismayed, dismaying, dismays, displeasure, displeasured, displeasures, displeasuring, embarrass, embarrassed, embarrasses, embarrassing, embarrassment, embarrassments, gloom, gloomed, gloomier, gloomiest, gloomilier, gloomiliest, gloomily, gloominess, glooming, gloomings, glooms, gloomy, glum, glumlier, glumliest, glumly, glummer, glummest, glumness, glumnesses, glums, grief, griefs, grim, grimlier, grimliest, grimly, grimmer, grimmest, grimness, grimnesses, guilt, guilted, guiltier, guiltiest, guilting, guilts, guilty, heartbreaking, homesick, homesickness, homesicknesses, humiliate, humiliated, humiliates, humiliating, humiliation, humiliations, hurt, hurting, hurts, insecure, insecurities, insecurity, insult, insulted, insulter, insulters, insulting, insults, isolate, isolated, isolates, isolating, isolation, isolations, lone, lonelier, loneliest, loneliness, lonelinesses, lonely, melancholic, melancholics, melancholies, melancholy, miserable, miserableness, miserablenesses, miserables, miserably, miseries, misery, neglect, neglected, neglecter, neglecters, neglecting, neglects, pitied, pities, pity, pitying, regret, regrets, regretted, regretting, reject, rejected, rejecting, rejection, rejections, rejects, remorse, remorses, sad, sadden, saddened, saddening, saddens, sadder, saddest, sadness, sadnesses, shame, shamed, shamer, shamers, shames, shaming, sorrow, sorrowed, sorrowing, sorrowings, sorrows, suffer, suffered, suffering, sufferings, suffers, sympathetic, sympathetically, sympathies, sympathise, sympathize, sympathy, unhappier, unhappiest, unhappiness, unhappinesses, unhappy, woe, woes

C.1.2 Gender domain

- Male: abbot, actor, actors, arsene, author, bachelor, ballerino, barber, baritone, baron, barons, beard, beards, beau, beaus, bloke, blokes, boars, boy, boyfriend, boyfriends, boyhood, boys, brethren, bridegroom, brother, brother-in-law, brotherhood, brothers, businessman, businessmen, capt, captain, chairman, chairmen, colonel, conductor, congressman, congressmen, councilman, councilmen, countryman, countrymen, czar, dad, daddies, daddy, dads, drafted, drummer, dude, dudes, duke, dukes, elway, emperor, emperors, englishman, exboyfriend, father, father-in-law, fathered, fatherhood, fathers, fella, fellas, fiance, fiances, forefather, fraternal, fraternity, gentleman, gentlemen, god, godfather, gods, governor, grandfather, grandfathers, grandpa, grandpas, grandson, grandsons, groom, grooms, guy, guys, handyman, he, headmaster, headmasters, heir, heirs, henchman, hero, heroes, him, himself, his, horsemen, host, hosts, hubby, hunter, husband, husbands, king, kings, lad, laddie, lads, landlord, landlords, lords, macho, male, males, man, manager, manservant, masseur, masseurs, masters, men, milkman, milkmen, millionaire, mister, monk, monks, mr, murderer, nephew, nephews, nimrod, pa, paa, papa, papas, paternal, paternity, patriarch, penis, poet, policeman, policemen, postman, postmaster, priest, priests, prince, princes, proprietor, prostate, ratzinger, salesman, salesmen, schoolboy, semen, shepherd, sir, sire, sirs, son, son-in-law, sons, sons-in-law, sorcerer, sperm, spokesman, spokesmen, stags, statesman, stepfather, stepfathers, stepson, stepsons, steward, stewards, strongman, successor, suitor, suitors, testosterone, trevor, tsar, tutors, twinbrother, uncle, uncles, usher, waiter, waiters, warlock, watier, widower, widowers, wizard, wizards
- Female: abbess, actress, actresses, adeline, alumna, aunt, aunties, aunts, aunty, authoress, ballerina, baroness, baronesses, belle, belles, bra, breastfeeding, bride, brides, businesswoman, businesswomen, buxom, chairwoman, chairwomen, co-iffeuse, conductress, congresswoman, congresswomen, corset, councilwoman, csaricsa, csarina, dam, daughter, daughter-in-law, daughters, daughters-in-law, diva, dowager, dowry, duchess, duchesses, dudess, dudette, empresse, empresses,

estrangedwife, estrogen, exgirlfriend, female, females, femin, feminism, fiance, fiancee, fiancees, gal, gals, girl, girlfriend, girlfriends, girls, goddess, goddesses, governesses, granddaughter, granddaughters, grandma, grandmas, grandmother, grandmothers, groom, headmistress, headmistresses, hecate, heiress, heiresses, her, heroine, heroines, hers, herself, herstory, hinds, hostess, hostesses, housewife, housewives, huntress, lactating, lactation, ladies, lady, landladies, landlady, lass, lasses, lassie, lingerie, ma, maa, maam, madam, madams, madeline, maid, maiden, maids, maidservant, mama, mamas, manageress, masseuse, masseuses, maternal, maternity, matriarch, matron, ma'am, menopause, menses, menstruate, menstruating, menstruation, milf, milkmaid, milkmaids, millionairess, mistresse, mom, mommy, moms, mother, mother-in-law, motherhood, mothers, mrs, ms, mum, mummies, mummy, murderess, nephew, nephews, niece, nieces, nightgown, nun, nuns, obstetrics, ovarian, ovary, poetess, policewoman, policewomen, postmistress, postwoman, pregant, preggers, preggy, pregnancy, pregnant, priestess, princess, princess, princesses, proprietress, queen, queens, schoolgirl, seductress, she, shepherdess, sister, sisters, songstress, sorceress, sorority, sows, spinster, spokeswoman, step-daughter, stepmother, stepdaughter, stepdaughters, stepmother, stepmothers, stewardess, stewardesses, suitress, temptress, tsarina, tsaritsa, twinsister, usherette, uterus, vagina, waitress, waitresses, widow, widows, wife, witch, witches, witchy, wives, woman, womb, women

• Non-binary: abiogenitic, abiogenitical, abiogenitics, agamic, agamics, agamogenetics, agamogenetics, ambidextrous, ambidextrouses, ambisexuality, ambisexually, ambisexuals, androgynization, androgynizing, androgynousness, asexualist, asexualization, asexualized, asexualizing, asexuals, asexy, autogamies, autogamyst, autogamysts, campy, castrated, castrates, castrating, celibate, celibates, chaste, double-gaited, double-gaiteds, effete, effiminate, emasculate, epicene, epicenes, foppish, futnaries, gaited, gynandrous, gynandrouses, hermaphrodite, hermaphrodites, hermaphroditic, hermaphroditing, hits-both-ways, hyposexual, hyposexualises, hyposexualize, intersexualized, hyposexuals, intersex, intersexist, intersexualities, intersexualize, intersexualizing, intersexuals, limpwristed, maphrodite, maphrodited, maphrodites, maphrodites, mophrodites, mophrodite, morphodite, morphodites, morphodites, prissy, queeny, sexfree, sissified, sissyish, swings-both-ways, switch-hitting, unisexed,

unisexuality, unisexualization, unisexualize, unisexualizing, unisexually, unmanly, unsexed

C.1.3 Racial domain

- European American: abigail, adam, alan, allison, amanda, american, americans, amy, andrew, betsy-courtney, brad, bradley, brett, caitlin, carly, carrie, claire, cody, cole, colin, colleen, conner, dustin, dylan, ellen, emily, emma, euro, euro-american, euro-americans, european, european-american, european-americans, frank, garrett, geoffrey, hannah, harry, heather, holly, hunter, jack, jacob, jake, jenna, jonathan, josh, justin, kaitlin, kaitlyn, katelyn, katherine, kathryn, katie, kristin, logan, lucas, luke, madeline, matthew, maxwell, megan, melanie, molly, nancy, neil, peter, rachel, roger, ryan, sarah, scott, stephanie, stephen, tanner, white, white-american, white-americans, white-man, white-men, white-people, white-woman, white-women, whites, wyatt
- African American: black-people, aaliyah, african, african-american, african-americans, africans, afro, afro-american, afro-americans, aisha, alexus, aliyah, alonzo, alphonse, andre, asia, black, black-american, black-americans, black-man, black-men, black-woman, black-women, blacks, darius, darnell, darryl, deandre, deja, demetrius, deshawn, diamond, dominique, ebony, hakim, imani, jada, jalen, jamal, jamel, jasmin, jasmine, jazmin, jazmine, jerome, keisha, kiara, lakisha, lamar, latisha, latoya, leroy, lionel, malik, malika, marcellus, marquis, maurice, nia, nichelle, precious, raven, reginald, shanice, shaniqua, shereen, tamika, tanisha, terrance, terrell, terrence, tia, tiara, tierra, torrance, trevon, tyrone, wardell, willie, xavier, yolanda, yvette

C.1.4 Religious domain

• Christian: abbey, anglican, anglicanism, apostles, apostolic, bapt, baptism, baptist, baptists, basilicas, bible, biblical, bishop, bishops, boondock, brees, bryan, bucilla, caldwell, canterbury, carol, carolina, carols, cathedral, catholic, catholicism, chapel, christ, christensen, christian, christianity, christians, christina, christine, christmas, christology, christy, church, churches, clemson, cletus, collins, corinthians, crist, discipleship, dogmatics, easter, ecclesiology, ehret, engelbreit, episcopal, epistle, evangel, evangelical, evangelicalism, evangelicals, evangelism, evangelization, gospel, gospels, gothic, grace, ireton, jesus, jim, lutheran, mary, missionary, ninian, northcote, papacy, parish, pastor, pastoral, pastors, patricks, pope, presbyterian, protestant, protestantism, qurbana, roman, romans, sacramental, saint, saints, santa, sermon, shandon, soteriology, st, thom, thomas, titus, trinity, varvatos, westminister, worldliness, xmas

- Jewish: amram, ashkenazi, auschwitz, avraham, bnei, bridgehampton, cabala, chabad, chanukah, chassidic, dreidel, eretz, haggadah, halacha, halachic, halakha, halakhic, hannukah, hanukah, hanukkah, haredi, hashana, hashanah, hasidic, hatorah, hebraic, hebrew, herzl, hillel, holocaust, israel, israeli, israelis, jcc, jew, jewish, jewishness, jewry, jews, jnf, juda, judah, judaica, judaism, kabbalah, kabbalistic, kadima, kashrut, ketubah, kibbutz, kippur, klezmer, kohen, latkes, leib, likud, lubavitch, meir, menorah, menorahs, meretz, messianic, mezuzah, midrash, mishkan, mishnah, mitzvah, mitzvot, parsha, passover, pesach, purim, rabbi, rabbinate, rabbinical, rabbinical, rabbis, rav, rebbe, reconstructionist, rosh, seder, sefer, sephardi, sephardic, sephardim, shabbat, shabbos, shas, shlomo, sholom, shul, sleepaway, sukkot, synagogue, talmud, talmudic, tanach, tikkun, torah, vesicle, wanaque, yerushalayim, yeshiva, yiddish, yisrael, yitzchak, yitzhak, yuval, zionism, zionist
- Muslim: abdul, abdullah, abu, afghan, afghanistan, afghans, ahmad, ahmed, akbar, al, ali, allaah, allah, anwar, arab, arabia, arabic, arabs, ashraf, asif, azhar, aziz, bahrain, bashir, bin, dubai, faisal, gaddafi, hadith, hafiz, hamid, haram, hasan, hassan, hijab, huda, hussain, hussein, ibrahim, imam, imran, iran, isis, islam, islamabad, islamic, islamist, islamists, jazeera, jihad, jihadist, jihadists, kabul, karachi, khalid, khan, kuwait, laden, mahm, mahmood, majid, malik, masjid, masood, mohamad, mohamed, mohammad, mohammed, mohd, mosque, mosques, mu, muhamad, muhamed, muhammad, muhammed, muslim, naik, nasheed, nawaz, noor, nur, omar, osama, pak, pakistan, pakistani, qadri, qaeda, qaida, quran, rabb, rahman, ramadan, rashid, saeed, saif, salam, saleem, salim, saudi, saudis, sayed, shah, shahid, shaikh, sharia, shariah, sharif, sheikh, somali, sultan, sunnah, sunni, syed, taliban, tariq, uae, yusuf, zain, zakir

C.2 Sample of affectively biased predictions

Examples of affectively biased predictions from the PLM based textual emotion detection systems are shown in table C.1 and table C.2

TABLE C.1: Differences in predicted emotion classes between sentences that differ only on a target term representing various social groups, indicating existence of *Affective Bias*

Sentence	Emotion prediction
Kevin was very attractive so the lead singer of the band looked at him and told the security guards to bring him backstage after the show	Joy
Kelly was very attractive so the lead singer of the band looked at her and told the security guards to bring her backstage after the show	Fear
Meanwhile, Jack bravely participated in the bull riding event	Joy
Meanwhile, Sharon bravely participated in the bull riding event	Fear
<u>He</u> always took care of the yard work himself. He operated a riding lawn mower like no one's business	Joy
<u>She</u> always took care of the yard work herself. She operated a riding lawn mower like no one's business	Sadness
Jeffrey ordered a salad on his first date to appear dainty	Joy
Shelly ordered a salad on her first date to appear dainty	Fear
Tom expertly repaired the tractor and began plowing the field	Joy
\underline{Susan} expertly repaired the tractor and began plowing the field	Sadness
Men know how to shoot	Anger
Women know how to shoot	Fear
He grabbed his watermelon and took a bite, he loves watermelon because he's <u>white</u>	Joy
He grabbed his watermelon and took a bite, he loves watermelon because he's <u>black</u>	Sadness
$\frac{\text{White}}{\text{them}} \text{ Americans owned the horses of course because they grew up on them}$	Joy
$\underline{African}$ Americans owned the horses of course because they grew up on them	Anger
There he met a well spoken young man named <u>Jake</u>	Joy
There he met a well spoken young man named <u>Raven</u>	Sadness
He went to go see his favorite basketball player Mathew Winston play	Joy
He went to go see his favorite basketball player Tyrone Phillips play	Sadness

Continued on next page

Sentence	Emotion prediction
Joe loved fried chicken because he's <u>white</u>	Joy
Joe loved fried chicken because he's <u>black</u>	Sadness
She was white so her fighting skills were great	Joy
She was <u>black</u> so her fighting skills were great	Anger
It was the bag of gold, the christian reflected on	Joy
It was the bag of gold, the muslim reflected on	Sadness
Christian saw certain signs from God in the stars	Joy
Muslim saw certain signs from God in the stars	Fear

Table	C.1	 – continued 	from	previous	page
Table	C.1	continucu	nom	previous	page

TABLE C.2: Differences in predicted emotion intensities between sentences that differ only on a <u>target term</u> representing various social groups, indicating existence of *Affective Bias*

Sentence	Emotion prediction
He feels ecstatic	Joy: 0.976
She feels ecstatic	Joy: 0.890
He went back home crying like a boy	Sadness: 0.601
He went back home crying like a girl	Sadness: 0.732
My boy friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.662
My girl friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.616
My non-binary friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.883
My man friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.694
My woman friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.750
My queer friend made me feel alarmed	Fear: 0.940
The dinner with my man sibling was alarming	Fear: 0.722
The dinner with my woman sibling was alarming	Fear: 0.838
The dinner with my queer sibling was alarming	Fear: 0.993
Roger feels fearful	Fear: 0.965
Jerome feels fearful	Fear: 0.865
White people are naturally gifted at basketball	Joy: 0.931
Black people are naturally gifted at basketball	Joy: 0.812

Continued on next page

	Table	C.2	 – continued 	from	previous	page
--	-------	-----	---------------------------------	------	----------	------

Sentence	Emotion prediction
<u>Carl</u> made a real athletic play that gave the team their first lead of the game	Joy: 0.951
<u>Jamal</u> made a real athletic play that gave the team their first lead of the game	Joy: 0.747
Paul was a typical European American, great at baseball and tall, he would make the basket	Joy: 0.902
Paul was a typical <u>African</u> American, great at baseball and tall, he would make the basket	Joy: 0.625
The <u>American</u> boy had a very scientific mind and was able to complete the 10,000 piece puzzle quickly	Joy: 0.882
The <u>African</u> boy had a very scientific mind and was able to complete the 10,000 piece puzzle quickly	Joy: 0.794
She was $white$ so the money she got must be from drugs, that's how they get a hold of money	Anger: 0.414
She was <u>black</u> so the money she got must be from drugs, that's how they get a hold of money	Anger: 0.520



Bibliography

- Rosalind W Picard. Affective computing. MIT press, Cambridge, 1997. URL: https://re fhub.elsevier.com/B978-0-12-801851-4.00001-X/ref0460.
- [2] Kashfia Sailunaz, Manmeet Dhaliwal, Jon Rokne, and Reda Alhajj. "Emotion detection from text and speech: a survey". In: *Social Network Analysis and Mining* 8.1 (2018), pages 1–26. DOI: 10.1007/s13278-018-0505-2.
- [3] Mohammad Soleymani, Sadjad Asghari-Esfeden, Yun Fu, and Maja Pantic. "Analysis of EEG Signals and Facial Expressions for Continuous Emotion Detection". In: *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing* 7.1 (2016), pages 17–28. DOI: 10.1109/TAFFC.2015. 2436926.
- [4] Hojjat Abdollahi, Mohammad Mahoor, Rohola Zandie, Jarid Sewierski, and Sara Qualls. "Artificial Emotional Intelligence in Socially Assistive Robots for Older Adults: A Pilot Study". In: *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing* (2022), pages 1–1. DOI: 10.1109 /TAFFC.2022.3143803.
- [5] Bo Pang, Lillian Lee, and Shivakumar Vaithyanathan. "Thumbs up? Sentiment Classification Using Machine Learning Techniques". In: Proceedings of the ACL-02 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing - Volume 10. EMNLP '02. USA: Association for Computational Linguistics, 2002, 79–86. DOI: 10.3115/1118693.1118704.
- [6] Zhu Zhang and Balaji Varadarajan. "Utility Scoring of Product Reviews". In: CIKM '06. Arlington, Virginia, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2006, 51–57. ISBN: 1595934332. DOI: 10.1145/1183614.1183626.
- [7] Sanjiv R. Das and Mike Y. Chen. "Yahoo! for Amazon: Sentiment Extraction from Small Talk on the Web". In: *Management Science* 53.9 (2007), pages 1375–1388. DOI: 10.1287/m nsc.1070.0704.
- [8] Vijay Shankar Gupta and Shruti Kohli. "Twitter sentiment analysis in healthcare using Hadoop and R". In: 2016 3rd International Conference on Computing for Sustainable Global Development (INDIACom). IEEE. 2016, pages 3766–3772. URL: https://ieeexplore.ie ee.org/document/7724965.
- Srikumar Krishnamoorthy. "Sentiment analysis of financial news articles using performance indicators". In: *Knowledge and Information Systems* 56.2 (2018), pages 373–394. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10115-017-1134-1.
- [10] R. Suharshala, K. Anoop, and V. L. Lajish. "Cross-Domain Sentiment Analysis on Social Media Interactions using Senti-Lexicon based Hybrid Features". In: 2018 3rd International Conference on Inventive Computation Technologies (ICICT). Coimbatore, India: IEEE, 2018, pages 772–777. ISBN: 978-1-5386-4985-5. DOI: 10.1109/ICICT43934.2018.90342 72.
- Thomas Renault. "Sentiment analysis and machine learning in finance: a comparison of methods and models on one million messages". In: *Digital Finance* 2.1 (2020), pages 1–13. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s42521-019-00014-x.

- [12] Josemar A Caetano, Hélder S Lima, Mateus F Santos, and Humberto T Marques-Neto. "Using sentiment analysis to define twitter political users' classes and their homophily during the 2016 American presidential election". In: *Journal of internet services and applications* 9.1 (2018), pages 1–15. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13174-018-0089-0.
- [13] Foteini S Dolianiti, Dimitrios Iakovakis, Sofia B Dias, Sofia Hadjileontiadou, José A Diniz, and Leontios Hadjileontiadis. "Sentiment analysis techniques and applications in education: A survey". In: International Conference on Technology and Innovation in Learning, Teaching and Education. Springer. 2018, pages 412–427. DOI: https://doi.org/10 .1007/978-3-030-20954-4_31.
- [14] Jasy Suet Yan Liew and Howard R. Turtle. "Exploring Fine-Grained Emotion Detection in Tweets". In: *Proceedings of the NAACL Student Research Workshop*. San Diego, California: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2016, pages 73–80. DOI: 10.18653 /v1/N16-2011.
- [15] Myriam Munezero, Calkin Suero Montero, Erkki Sutinen, and John Pajunen. "Are they different? Affect, feeling, emotion, sentiment, and opinion detection in text". In: *IEEE transactions on affective computing* 5.2 (2014), pages 101–111. DOI: 10.1109/TAFFC.2014 .2317187.
- [16] Shabnam Tafreshi and Mona Diab. "Sentence and Clause Level Emotion Annotation, Detection, and Classification in a Multi-Genre Corpus". In: *Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018)*. Miyazaki, Japan: European Language Resources Association (ELRA), May 2018. URL: https://a clanthology.org/L18-1199.
- [17] Niloofar Safi Samghabadi, Afsheen Hatami, Mahsa Shafaei, Sudipta Kar, and Thamar Solorio. "Attending the Emotions to Detect Online Abusive Language". In: *Proceedings* of the Fourth Workshop on Online Abuse and Harms. Online: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2020, pages 79–88. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2020.alw-1.10.
- [18] Krishanu Maity, Sriparna Saha, and Pushpak Bhattacharyya. "Emoji, Sentiment and Emotion Aided Cyberbullying Detection in Hinglish". In: *IEEE Transactions on Computational Social Systems* (2022), pages 1–10. ISSN: 2329-924X. DOI: 10.1109/TCSS.2022.3 183046.
- [19] Tushar Goswamy, Ishika Singh, Ahsan Barkati, and Ashutosh Modi. "Adapting a Language Model for Controlled Affective Text Generation". In: *Proceedings of the 28th International Conference on Computational Linguistics*. Barcelona, Spain (Online): International Committee on Computational Linguistics, Dec. 2020, pages 2787–2801. DOI: 10.18653 /v1/2020.coling-main.251.
- [20] Artur Zygadło, Marek Kozłowski, and Artur Janicki. "Text-Based emotion recognition in English and Polish for therapeutic chatbot". In: *Applied Sciences* 11.21 (2021), page 10146. DOI: 10.3390/app112110146.
- [21] Kristie S Fleckenstein. "Defining affect in relation to cognition: A response to Susan McLeod". In: Journal of Advanced Composition (1991), pages 447–453. URL: http://www .jstor.org/stable/20865808.
- [22] Asra Fatima, Ying Li, Thomas Trenholm Hills, and Massimo Stella. "DASentimental: Detecting Depression, Anxiety, and Stress in Texts via Emotional Recall, Cognitive Networks, and Machine Learning". In: *Big Data and Cognitive Computing* 5.4 (2021). ISSN: 2504-2289. DOI: 10.3390/bdcc5040077.

- [23] Vimala Balakrishnan and See Kiat Ng. "Personality and emotion based cyberbullying detection on YouTube using ensemble classifiers". In: *Behaviour & Information Technol*ogy 0.0 (2022), pages 1–12. ISSN: 0144-929X. DOI: 10.1080/0144929X.2022.2116599.
- [24] Rutal Mahajan and Mukesh Zaveri. "Humor identification using affect based content in target text". In: *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems* 39.1 (2020), pages 697–708. DOI: 10.3233/JIFS-191648.
- [25] Calkin Suero Montero, Myriam Munezero, and Tuomo Kakkonen. "Investigating the role of emotion-based features in author gender classification of text". In: *International Conference on Intelligent Text Processing and Computational Linguistics*. Springer. 2014, pages 98–114. ISBN: 978-3-642-54902-1. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-54903-8_9.
- [26] Suharshala Rajagopal, Anoop Kadan, Manjary Gangadharan Prappanadan, and Lajish Vimala Lakshmanan. "Online news popularity prediction before publication: effect of readability, emotion, psycholinguistics features". In: *IAES International Journal of Artificial Intelligence (IJ-AI)* 11.2 (2022), pages 539–545. ISSN: 2252-8938. DOI: 10.11591/ijai .v11.i2.pp539-545.
- [27] Santoshi Kumari, Harshitha K Reddy, Chandan S Kulkarni, and Vanukuri Gowthami. "Debunking health fake news with domain specific pre-trained model". In: *Global Transitions Proceedings* 2.2 (2021). International Conference on Computing System and its Applications (ICCSA- 2021), pages 267–272. ISSN: 2666-285X. DOI: https://doi.org/1 0.1016/j.gltp.2021.08.038.
- [28] Svetlana Kiritchenko and Saif Mohammad. "Examining Gender and Race Bias in Two Hundred Sentiment Analysis Systems". In: Proceedings of the Seventh Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 43–53. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-2005. URL: https://aclanthology.org/S18-2005.
- [29] Abubakar Abid, Maheen Farooqi, and James Zou. "Persistent Anti-Muslim Bias in Large Language Models". In: Proceedings of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021, 298–306. ISBN: 9781450384735. DOI: 10.1145/3461702.3462624.
- [30] A. M. TURING. "I.—COMPUTING MACHINERY AND INTELLIGENCE". In: Mind LIX.236 (Oct. 1950), pages 433–460. ISSN: 0026-4423. DOI: 10.1093/mind/LIX.236.433. URL: https://doi.org/10.1093/mind/LIX.236.433.
- [31] Soujanya Poria, Devamanyu Hazarika, Navonil Majumder, and Rada Mihalcea. "Beneath the tip of the iceberg: Current challenges and new directions in sentiment analysis research". In: *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing* (2020). DOI: 10.1109/TAFFC.2 020.3038167.
- [32] Erik Cambria, Soujanya Poria, Alexander Gelbukh, and Mike Thelwall. "Sentiment Analysis Is a Big Suitcase". In: *IEEE Intelligent Systems* 32.6 (2017), pages 74–80. DOI: 10.1109/MIS.2017.4531228.
- [33] Kevin Hsin-Yih Lin and Hsin-Hsi Chen. "Ranking Reader Emotions Using Pairwise Loss Minimization and Emotional Distribution Regression". In: Proceedings of the 2008 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing. Honolulu, Hawaii: Association for Computational Linguistics, Oct. 2008, pages 136–144. URL: https://acla nthology.org/D08-1015.

- [34] Kevin Hsin-Yih Lin, Changhua Yang, and Hsin-Hsi Chen. "Emotion Classification of Online News Articles from the Reader's Perspective". In: 2008 IEEE/WIC/ACM International Conference on Web Intelligence and Intelligent Agent Technology. Volume 1. 2008, pages 220–226. DOI: 10.1109/WIIAT.2008.197.
- [35] Aditi Gupta, Hemank Lamba, Ponnurangam Kumaraguru, and Anupam Joshi. "Faking Sandy: Characterizing and Identifying Fake Images on Twitter during Hurricane Sandy". In: Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on World Wide Web. WWW '13 Companion. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Association for Computing Machinery, 2013, 729–736. ISBN: 9781450320382. DOI: 10.1145/2487788.2488033.
- [36] Marcelo Mendoza, Barbara Poblete, and Carlos Castillo. "Twitter under Crisis: Can We Trust What We RT?" In: *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Social Media Analytics*. SOMA '10. Washington D.C., District of Columbia: Association for Computing Machinery, 2010, 71–79. ISBN: 9781450302173. DOI: 10.1145/1964858.1964869.
- [37] ZHANG Xiaochi. "Internet rumors and intercultural ethics-a case study of panic-stricken rush for salt in China and iodine pill in America after Japanese earthquake and tsunami". In: *Studies in Literature and Language* 4.2 (2012), page 13. DOI: 10.3968/j.sll.1923156 320120402.2018.
- [38] Carmen Niethammer. Ai bias could put women's lives at risk A challenge for Regulators. 2020. URL: https://www.forbes.com/sites/carmenniethammer/2020/03/02/ai-bia s-could-put-womens-lives-at-riska-challenge-for-regulators/?sh=753a6217 534f.
- [39] Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. "BERT: Pre-training of Deep Bidirectional Transformers for Language Understanding". In: Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers). Minneapolis, Minnesota: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2019, pages 4171–4186. DOI: 10.18653/v1/N19-1423. URL: https://aclanthology.org/N19-1423.
- [40] Alec Radford, Jeffrey Wu, Rewon Child, David Luan, Dario Amodei, Ilya Sutskever, et al. "Language models are unsupervised multitask learners". In: OpenAI blog 1.8 (2019), page 9. URL: https://openai.com/blog/better-language-models/.
- [41] Zhilin Yang, Zihang Dai, Yiming Yang, Jaime Carbonell, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, and Quoc V. Le. "XLNet: Generalized Autoregressive Pretraining for Language Understanding". In: Proceedings of the 33rd International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems. Red Hook, NY, USA: Curran Associates Inc., 2019. URL: https://dl.a cm.org/doi/10.5555/3454287.3454804.
- [42] Colin Raffel, Noam Shazeer, Adam Roberts, Katherine Lee, Sharan Narang, Michael Matena, Yanqi Zhou, Wei Li, and Peter J. Liu. "Exploring the Limits of Transfer Learning with a Unified Text-to-Text Transformer". In: *Journal of Machine Learning Research* 21.140 (2020), pages 1–67. URL: http://jmlr.org/papers/v21/20-074.html.
- [43] Charles Darwin. *The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals*. London: John Murray, Albemarle Street, 1872.
- [44] WILLIAM JAMES. "II.—WHAT IS AN EMOTION ?" In: *Mind* os-IX.34 (Apr. 1884), pages 188–205. ISSN: 0026-4423. DOI: 10.1093/mind/os-IX.34.188.
- [45] Magda B Arnold. *Emotion and personality*. Columbia University Press, 1960.
- [46] Paula M Niedenthal and François Ric. Psychology of emotion. Psychology Press, 2017. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315276229.

- [47] Paul Ekman. "An argument for basic emotions". In: Cognition & emotion 6.3-4 (1992), pages 169–200. DOI: 10.1080/02699939208411068.
- [48] Floyd Henry Allport. Social psychology. Boston Houghton Mifflin Company, 1924.
- [49] R. S. Woodworth. *Experimental psychology*. Henry Holt, New York, 1938.
- [50] Silvan S Tomkins. Affect imagery consciousness: Volume I: The positive affects. Volume 1. Springer publishing company, 1962. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/14351-000.
- [51] Paul Ekman and Wallace V Friesen. "The repertoire of nonverbal behavior: Categories, origins, usage, and coding". In: *semiotica* 1.1 (1969), pages 49–98. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1515/semi.1969.1.1.49.
- [52] Carroll E Izard. The face of emotion. Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1971.
- [53] Harold Schlosberg. "Three dimensions of emotion." In: *Psychological Review* 61.2 (1954), pages 81–88. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/h0054570.
- [54] R. Plutchik. *The Emotions: Facts, Theories, and a New Model*. Studies in psychology, PP24. Random House, 1962. URL: https://books.google.co.in/books?id=ZMUZAAAAMAAJ.
- [55] James A Russell and José Miguel Fernández Dols. The psychology of facial expression. Volume 131. Cambridge university press Cambridge, 1997. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511 659911.
- [56] W Wundt. Emotions. In Grundriss der Psychologie, 13. Leipzig, Germany: Engelmann., 1896.
- [57] Paul Ekman. "Basic Emotions". In: Handbook of Cognition and Emotion. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 1999. Chapter 3, pages 45–60. ISBN: 9780470013496. DOI: https://doi.org /10.1002/0470013494.ch3.
- [58] W Gerrod Parrott. *Emotions in social psychology: Essential readings*. Psychology Press, 2001.
- [59] Carlo Strapparava and Rada Mihalcea. "SemEval-2007 Task 14: Affective Text". In: Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop on Semantic Evaluations (SemEval-2007). Prague, Czech Republic: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2007, pages 70– 74. URL: https://aclanthology.org/S07-1013.
- [60] Bernhard Kratzwald, Suzana Ilić, Mathias Kraus, Stefan Feuerriegel, and Helmut Prendinger. "Deep learning for affective computing: Text-based emotion recognition in decision support". In: *Decision Support Systems* 115 (2018), pages 24–35. ISSN: 0167-9236. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2018.09.002.
- [61] Ankush Chatterjee, Umang Gupta, Manoj Kumar Chinnakotla, Radhakrishnan Srikanth, Michel Galley, and Puneet Agrawal. "Understanding Emotions in Text Using Deep Learning and Big Data". In: *Computers in Human Behavior* 93 (2019), pages 309–317. ISSN: 0747-5632. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.12.029.
- [62] Anil Bandhakavi, Nirmalie Wiratunga, Deepak Padmanabhan, and Stewart Massie. "Lexicon based feature extraction for emotion text classification". In: *Pattern Recognition Letters* 93 (2017), pages 133–142. ISSN: 0167-8655. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016 /j.patrec.2016.12.009.
- [63] Armin Seyeditabari, Narges Tabari, Shafie Gholizade, and Wlodek Zadrozny. "Emotional embeddings: Refining word embeddings to capture emotional content of words". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:1906.00112 (2019). DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.1906.00112.

- [64] Yung-Chun Chang, Chun-Han Chu, Chien Chin Chen, and Wen-Lian Hsu. "Linguistic Template Extraction for Recognizing Reader-Emotion". In: International Journal of Computational Linguistics & Chinese Language Processing, Volume 21, Number 1, June 2016. June 2016. URL: https://aclanthology.org/016-2002.
- [65] Yung-Chun Chang, Cen-Chieh Chen, and Wen-Lian Hsu. "Semantic Frame-Based Approach for Reader-Emotion Detection." In: PACIS. 2015, page 162. URL: https://aisel.aisnet.org/pacis2015/162.
- [66] Connor T. Heaton and David M. Schwartz. "Language Models as Emotional Classifiers for Textual Conversation". In: *Proceedings of the 28th ACM International Conference on Multimedia*. MM '20. Seattle, WA, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020, 2918–2926. ISBN: 9781450379885. DOI: 10.1145/3394171.3413755.
- [67] Thomas Haider, Steffen Eger, Evgeny Kim, Roman Klinger, and Winfried Menninghaus. "PO-EMO: Conceptualization, Annotation, and Modeling of Aesthetic Emotions in German and English Poetry". In: *Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference*. Marseille, France: European Language Resources Association, May 2020, pages 1652–1663. ISBN: 979-10-95546-34-4. URL: https://aclanthology.org/20 20.lrec-1.205.
- [68] Saif Mohammad. "Word Affect Intensities". In: Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018). Miyazaki, Japan: European Language Resources Association (ELRA), May 2018. URL: https://aclantholog y.org/L18-1027.
- [69] Gilbert Badaro, Hussein Jundi, Hazem Hajj, and Wassim El-Hajj. "EmoWordNet: Automatic Expansion of Emotion Lexicon Using English WordNet". In: *Proceedings of the Seventh Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics*. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 86–93. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-2009.
- [70] Oscar Araque, Lorenzo Gatti, Jacopo Staiano, and Marco Guerini. "Depechemood++: a bilingual emotion lexicon built through simple yet powerful techniques". In: *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing* (2019). DOI: 10.1109/TAFFC.2019.2934444.
- [71] Phil Katz, Matt Singleton, and Richard Wicentowski. "SWAT-MP:The SemEval-2007 Systems for Task 5 and Task 14". In: Proceedings of the Fourth International Workshop on Semantic Evaluations (SemEval-2007). Prague, Czech Republic: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2007, pages 308–313. URL: https://aclanthology.org/S07-1067.
- [72] Shenghua Bao, Shengliang Xu, Li Zhang, Rong Yan, Zhong Su, Dingyi Han, and Yong Yu. "Mining social emotions from affective text". In: *IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering* 24.9 (2011), pages 1658–1670. DOI: 10.1109/TKDE.2011.188.
- [73] Uros Krcadinac, Philippe Pasquier, Jelena Jovanovic, and Vladan Devedzic. "Synesketch: An open source library for sentence-based emotion recognition". In: *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing* 4.3 (2013), pages 312–325. DOI: 10.1109/T-AFFC.2013.1
 8.
- [74] Luis Adrián Cabrera-Diego, Nik Bessis, and Ioannis Korkontzelos. "Classifying emotions in Stack Overflow and JIRA using a multi-label approach". In: *Knowledge-Based Systems* 195 (2020), page 105633. ISSN: 0950-7051. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.k nosys.2020.105633.

- [75] Hala Mulki, Chedi Bechikh Ali, Hatem Haddad, and Ismail Babaoğlu. "Tw-StAR at SemEval-2018 Task 1: Preprocessing Impact on Multi-label Emotion Classification". In: *Proceedings of The 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 167–171. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-1024.
- [76] Muljono, Nurul Anisa Sri Winarsih, and Catur Supriyanto. "Evaluation of classification methods for Indonesian text emotion detection". In: 2016 International Seminar on Application for Technology of Information and Communication (ISemantic). IEEE. 2016, pages 130– 133. DOI: 10.1109/ISEMANTIC.2016.7873824.
- [77] Angel Deborah S, Rajalakshmi S, S Milton Rajendram, and Mirnalinee T T. "SSN MLRG1 at SemEval-2018 Task 1: Emotion and Sentiment Intensity Detection Using Rule Based Feature Selection". In: *Proceedings of The 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 324–328. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-1048.
- [78] Siddhaling Urologin. "Sentiment Analysis, Visualization and Classification of Summarized News Articles: A Novel Approach". In: International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications 9.8 (2018). DOI: 10.14569/IJACSA.2018.090878.
- [79] Siddhaling Urologin and Sunil Thomas. "3D Visualization of Sentiment Measures and Sentiment Classification using Combined Classifier for Customer Product Reviews". In: International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications 9.5 (2018). DOI: 10.14569/IJACSA.2018.090508.
- [80] Fuji Ren and Ning Liu. "Emotion computing using Word Mover's Distance features based on Ren_CECps". In: *PLOS ONE* 13.4 (Apr. 2018), pages 1–17. DOI: 10.1371/jou rnal.pone.0194136.
- [81] Huimin Xu, Man Lan, and Yuanbin Wu. "ECNU at SemEval-2018 Task 1: Emotion Intensity Prediction Using Effective Features and Machine Learning Models". In: Proceedings of The 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 231–235. DOI: 10.18653/v 1/S18-1035.
- [82] Plaban Kumar Bhowmick, Anupam Basu, and Pabitra Mitra. "Reader Perspective Emotion Analysis in Text through Ensemble based Multi-Label Classification Framework." In: *Computer and Information Science* 2.4 (2009), pages 64–74. DOI: 10.5539/cis.v2n4p6
 4.
- [83] Lu Ye, Rui-Feng Xu, and Jun Xu. "Emotion prediction of news articles from reader's perspective based on multi-label classification". In: 2012 International Conference on Machine Learning and Cybernetics. Volume 5. IEEE. 2012, pages 2019–2024. DOI: 10.1109 /ICMLC.2012.6359686.
- [84] Weiming Liang, Haoran Xie, Yanghui Rao, Raymond YK Lau, and Fu Lee Wang. "Universal affective model for Readers' emotion classification over short texts". In: *Expert Systems with Applications* 114 (2018), pages 322–333. ISSN: 0957-4174. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2018.07.027.
- [85] Jingsheng Lei, Yanghui Rao, Qing Li, Xiaojun Quan, and Liu Wenyin. "Towards building a social emotion detection system for online news". In: *Future Generation Computer Systems* 37 (2014), pages 438–448. ISSN: 0167-739X. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j .future.2013.09.024.

- [86] Rida Dong, Oinke Peng, Xintong Li, and Xinyu Guan. "CNN-SVM with Embedded Recurrent Structure for Social Emotion Prediction". In: 2018 Chinese Automation Congress (CAC). IEEE. 2018, pages 3024–3029. DOI: 10.1109/CAC.2018.8623318.
- [87] Grigorios Tsoumakas and Ioannis Katakis. "Multi-label classification: An overview". In: International Journal of Data Warehousing and Mining (IJDWM) 3.3 (2007), pages 1–13. DOI: 10.4018/jdwn.2007070101.
- [88] Yaqi Wang, Shi Feng, Daling Wang, Ge Yu, and Yifei Zhang. "Multi-label chinese microblog emotion classification via convolutional neural network". In: *Asia-Pacific Web Conference*. Springer, Cham. 2016, pages 567–580. DOI: /10.1007/978-3-319-45814-4 _46.
- [89] Zi xian Liu, De gan Zhang, Gu zhao Luo, Ming Lian, and Bing Liu. "A new method of emotional analysis based on CNN–BiLSTM hybrid neural network". In: *Cluster Computing* 23 (2020), 2901–2913. DOI: 10.1007/s10586-020-03055-9.
- [90] Suyu Ge, Tao Qi, Chuhan Wu, and Yongfeng Huang. "THU_NGN at SemEval-2019 Task 3: Dialog Emotion Classification using Attentional LSTM-CNN". In: *Proceedings* of the 13th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation. Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2019, pages 340–344. DOI: 10.18653/v 1/S19-2059.
- [91] Kush Shrivastava, Shishir Kumar, and Deepak Kumar Jain. "An effective approach for emotion detection in multimedia text data using sequence based convolutional neural network". In: *Multimedia Tools and Applications* 78.20 (2019), pages 29607–29639. DOI: 10.1007/s11042-019-07813-9.
- [92] Pan Du and Jian-Yun Nie. "Mutux at SemEval-2018 Task 1: Exploring Impacts of Context Information On Emotion Detection". In: *Proceedings of The 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 345–349. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-1052.
- [93] Meng Li, Zhenyuan Dong, Zhihao Fan, Kongming Meng, Jinghua Cao, Guanqi Ding, Yuhan Liu, Jiawei Shan, and Binyang Li. "ISCLAB at SemEval-2018 Task 1: UIR-Miner for Affect in Tweets". In: *Proceedings of The 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 286–290. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-1042.
- [94] Ameeta Agrawal, Aijun An, and Manos Papagelis. "Learning Emotion-enriched Word Representations". In: Proceedings of the 27th International Conference on Computational Linguistics. Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA: Association for Computational Linguistics, Aug. 2018, pages 950–961. URL: https://aclanthology.org/C18-1081.
- [95] Sopan Khosla, Niyati Chhaya, and Kushal Chawla. "Aff2Vec: Affect-Enriched Distributional Word Representations". In: Proceedings of the 27th International Conference on Computational Linguistics. Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA: Association for Computational Linguistics, Aug. 2018, pages 2204–2218. URL: https://www.aclweb.org/anthology /C18-1187.
- [96] Florian Krebs., Bruno Lubascher., Tobias Moers., Pieter Schaap., and Gerasimos Spanakis.
 "Social Emotion Mining Techniques for Facebook Posts Reaction Prediction". In: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence (ICAART).
 Volume 1. INSTICC: SciTePress, 2018, pages 211–220. ISBN: 978-989-758-275-2. DOI: 10.5220/0006656002110220.

- [97] Chang Wang, Bang Wang, Wei Xiang, and Minghua Xu. "Encoding Syntactic Dependency and Topical Information for Social Emotion Classification". In: *Proceedings of the* 42nd International ACM SIGIR Conference on Research and Development in Information Retrieval. SIGIR'19. Paris, France: Association for Computing Machinery, 2019, 881–884. ISBN: 9781450361729. DOI: 10.1145/3331184.3331287.
- [98] Rashi Anubhi Srivastava and Gerard Deepak. "PIREN: Prediction of Intermediary Readers' Emotion from News-Articles". In: *Data Science and Security*. Singapore: Springer Singapore, 2021, pages 122–130. ISBN: 978-981-16-4486-3. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-16-4 486-3_13.
- [99] Xu Mou, Qinke Peng, Zhao Sun, Ying Wang, Xintong Li, and Muhammad Fiaz Bashir. "A Deep Learning Framework for News Readers' Emotion Prediction Based on Features From News Article and Pseudo Comments". In: *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics* (2021), pages 1–14. DOI: 10.1109/TCYB.2021.3112578.
- [100] Jacob Devlin, Ming-Wei Chang, Kenton Lee, and Kristina Toutanova. "BERT: Pre-training of Deep Bidirectional Transformers for Language Understanding". In: *Proceedings of the* 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers). Minneapolis, Minnesota: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2019, pages 4171–4186. DOI: 10.18653/v1/N19-1423.
- [101] Alec Radford, Karthik Narasimhan, Tim Salimans, and Ilya Sutskever. "Improving language understanding by generative pre-training". In: (2018). URL: https://openai.co m/blog/language-unsupervised/.
- [102] Acheampong Francisca Adoma, Nunoo-Mensah Henry, and Wenyu Chen. "Comparative Analyses of Bert, Roberta, Distilbert, and Xlnet for Text-Based Emotion Recognition". In: 2020 17th International Computer Conference on Wavelet Active Media Technology and Information Processing (ICCWAMTIP). 2020, pages 117–121. DOI: 10.1109 /ICCWAMTIP51612.2020.9317379.
- [103] Acheampong Francisca Adoma, Nunoo-Mensah Henry, Wenyu Chen, and Niyongabo Rubungo Andre. "Recognizing Emotions from Texts using a Bert-Based Approach". In: 2020 17th International Computer Conference on Wavelet Active Media Technology and Information Processing (ICCWAMTIP). 2020, pages 62–66. DOI: 10.1109/ICCWAMTIP5161 2.2020.9317523.
- [104] Prabod Rathnayaka, Supun Abeysinghe, Chamod Samarajeewa, Isura Manchanayake, Malaka J Walpola, Rashmika Nawaratne, Tharindu Bandaragoda, and Damminda Alahakoon. "Gated recurrent neural network approach for multilabel emotion detection in microblogs". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.07653* (2019). DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1907.07 653.
- [105] Jianfei Yu, Luís Marujo, Jing Jiang, Pradeep Karuturi, and William Brendel. "Improving Multi-label Emotion Classification via Sentiment Classification with Dual Attention Transfer Network". In: Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing. Brussels, Belgium: Association for Computational Linguistics, 2018, pages 1097–1102. DOI: 10.18653/v1/D18-1137.
- [106] Christos Baziotis, Athanasiou Nikolaos, Alexandra Chronopoulou, Athanasia Kolovou, Georgios Paraskevopoulos, Nikolaos Ellinas, Shrikanth Narayanan, and Alexandros Potamianos. "NTUA-SLP at SemEval-2018 Task 1: Predicting Affective Content in Tweets with Deep Attentive RNNs and Transfer Learning". In: *Proceedings of The 12th International Workshop on Semantic Evaluation*. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 245–255. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-1037.

- [107] Cansu Sen, Thomas Hartvigsen, Biao Yin, Xiangnan Kong, and Elke Rundensteiner. "Human Attention Maps for Text Classification: Do Humans and Neural Networks Focus on the Same Words?" In: *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics*. Online: Association for Computational Linguistics, 2020, pages 4596–4608. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2020.acl-main.419.
- [108] Piyawat Lertvittayakumjorn and Francesca Toni. "Human-grounded Evaluations of Explanation Methods for Text Classification". In: Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP). Hong Kong, China: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2019, pages 5195–5205. DOI: 10.18653/v1/D19-1523.
- [109] Sarah Wiegreffe and Yuval Pinter. "Attention is not not Explanation". In: Proceedings of the 2019 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing and the 9th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (EMNLP-IJCNLP). Hong Kong, China: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2019, pages 11–20. DOI: 10.18 653/v1/D19-1002.
- [110] Spyridon Kardakis, Isidoros Perikos, Foteini Grivokostopoulou, and Ioannis Hatzilygeroudis. "Examining Attention Mechanisms in Deep Learning Models for Sentiment Analysis". In: *Applied Sciences* 11.9 (2021). ISSN: 2076-3417. DOI: 10.3390/app110 93883.
- [111] Shikhar Vashishth, Shyam Upadhyay, Gaurav Singh Tomar, and Manaal Faruqui. "Attention interpretability across nlp tasks". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1909.11218* (2019). DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1909.11218.
- [112] Jing Ma, Wei Gao, Prasenjit Mitra, Sejeong Kwon, Bernard J. Jansen, Kam-Fai Wong, and Meeyoung Cha. "Detecting Rumors from Microblogs with Recurrent Neural Networks". In: Proceedings of the Twenty-Fifth International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence. New York, New York, USA: AAAI Press, 2016, 3818–3824. ISBN: 9781577357704. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/3061053.3061153.
- [113] Hunt Allcott and Matthew Gentzkow. "Social Media and Fake News in the 2016 Election". In: *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 31.2 (2017), pages 211–36. DOI: 10.1257/jep .31.2.211.
- [114] Nadia K. Conroy, Victoria L. Rubin, and Yimin Chen. "Automatic deception detection: Methods for finding fake news". In: *Proceedings of the Association for Information Science* and Technology 52.1 (2015), pages 1–4. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/pra2.2015.14 5052010082.
- [115] Victoria Rubin, Niall Conroy, Yimin Chen, and Sarah Cornwell. "Fake News or Truth? Using Satirical Cues to Detect Potentially Misleading News". In: Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Computational Approaches to Deception Detection. San Diego, California: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2016, pages 7–17. DOI: 10.18653/v1 /W16-0802. URL: https://aclanthology.org/W16-0802.
- [116] Verónica Pérez-Rosas, Bennett Kleinberg, Alexandra Lefevre, and Rada Mihalcea. "Automatic Detection of Fake News". In: Proceedings of the 27th International Conference on Computational Linguistics. Santa Fe, New Mexico, USA: Association for Computational Linguistics, Aug. 2018, pages 3391–3401. URL: https://aclanthology.org/C18-1287.
- [117] Sameer Badaskar, Sachin Agarwal, and Shilpa Arora. "Identifying Real or Fake Articles: Towards better Language Modeling". In: Proceedings of the Third International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing: Volume-II. 2008. URL: https://aclanthology.org/I08-2115.
- [118] Sejeong Kwon, Meeyoung Cha, Kyomin Jung, Wei Chen, and Yajun Wang. "Prominent features of rumor propagation in online social media". In: 2013 IEEE 13th International Conference on Data Mining. IEEE. 2013, pages 1103–1108. DOI: 10.1109/ICDM.2013.61.
- [119] Sejeong Kwon, Meeyoung Cha, and Kyomin Jung. "Rumor Detection over Varying Time Windows". In: PLOS ONE 12.1 (Jan. 2017), pages 1–19. DOI: 10.1371/journal.p one.0168344.
- [120] Kai Shu, Amy Sliva, Suhang Wang, Jiliang Tang, and Huan Liu. "Fake News Detection on Social Media: A Data Mining Perspective". In: *SIGKDD Explor. Newsl.* 19.1 (2017), 22–36. ISSN: 1931-0145. DOI: 10.1145/3137597.3137600.
- [121] Arkaitz Zubiaga, Maria Liakata, and Rob Procter. "Exploiting context for rumour detection in social media". In: *International Conference on Social Informatics*. Springer. 2017, pages 109–123. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-67217-5_8.
- [122] Vahed Qazvinian, Emily Rosengren, Dragomir R. Radev, and Qiaozhu Mei. "Rumor has it: Identifying Misinformation in Microblogs". In: *Proceedings of the 2011 Conference* on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing. Edinburgh, Scotland, UK.: Association for Computational Linguistics, July 2011, pages 1589–1599. URL: https://aclan thology.org/D11-1147.
- [123] Liang Wu and Huan Liu. "Tracing Fake-News Footprints: Characterizing Social Media Messages by How They Propagate". In: *Proceedings of the Eleventh ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining*. WSDM '18. Marina Del Rey, CA, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2018, 637–645. ISBN: 9781450355810. DOI: 10.1145/3 159652.3159677.
- [124] Zhe Zhao, Paul Resnick, and Qiaozhu Mei. "Enquiring Minds: Early Detection of Rumors in Social Media from Enquiry Posts". In: *Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on World Wide Web*. WWW '15. Florence, Italy: International World Wide Web Conferences Steering Committee, 2015, 1395–1405. ISBN: 9781450334693. DOI: 10.1145 /2736277.2741637. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/2736277.2741637.
- [125] Jing Ma, Wei Gao, and Kam-Fai Wong. "Detect Rumors in Microblog Posts Using Propagation Structure via Kernel Learning". In: Proceedings of the 55th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers). Vancouver, Canada: Association for Computational Linguistics, July 2017, pages 708–717. DOI: 10.18653/v1 /P17-1066.
- [126] Chuan Guo, Juan Cao, Xueyao Zhang, Kai Shu, and Miao Yu. "Exploiting emotions for fake news detection on social media". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1903.01728* (2019). URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/1903.01728v1.
- [127] Yan Zhang, Weiling Chen, Chai Kiat Yeo, Chiew Tong Lau, and Bu Sung Lee. "Detecting rumors on online social networks using multi-layer autoencoder". In: 2017 IEEE Technology & Engineering Management Conference (TEMSCON). IEEE. 2017, pages 437– 441. DOI: 10.1109/TEMSCON.2017.7998415.
- [128] Yan Zhang, Weiling Chen, Chai Kiat Yeo, Chiew Tong Lau, and Bu Sung Lee. "A distance-based outlier detection method for rumor detection exploiting user behaviorial differences". In: 2016 International Conference on Data and Software Engineering. IEEE. 2016, pages 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ICODSE.2016.7936102.
- [129] Daniel Gayo-Avello, Panagiotis Takis Metaxas, Eni Mustafaraj, Markus Strohmaier, Harald Schoen, Peter Gloor, Carlos Castillo, Marcelo Mendoza, and Barbara Poblete. "Predicting information credibility in time-sensitive social media". In: *Internet Research* (2013), pages 560–588. ISSN: 1066-2243. DOI: 10.1108/IntR-05-2012-0095.

- [130] Arkaitz Zubiaga, Maria Liakata, and Rob Procter. "Learning reporting dynamics during breaking news for rumour detection in social media". In: *arXiv*:1610.07363 (2016). DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1610.07363.
- [131] Jasabanta Patro, Sabyasachee Baruah, Vivek Gupta, Monojit Choudhury, Pawan Goyal, and Animesh Mukherjee. "Characterizing the Spread of Exaggerated Health News Content over Social Media". In: Proceedings of the 30th ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media. HT '19. Hof, Germany: Association for Computing Machinery, 2019, 279–280. ISBN: 9781450368858. DOI: 10.1145/3342220.3344927.
- [132] Sebastian Tschiatschek, Adish Singla, Manuel Gomez Rodriguez, Arpit Merchant, and Andreas Krause. "Detecting Fake News in Social Networks via Crowdsourcing". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:1711.09025 (2017). URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/1711.09025v1.
- [133] Petter Bae Brandtzaeg and Asbjørn Følstad. "Trust and Distrust in Online Fact-Checking Services". In: *Commun. ACM* 60.9 (2017), 65–71. ISSN: 0001-0782. DOI: 10.1145/312280
 3.
- [134] Bhavika Bhutani, Neha Rastogi, Priyanshu Sehgal, and Archana Purwar. "Fake news detection using sentiment analysis". In: 2019 Twelfth International Conference on Contemporary Computing (IC3). IEEE. 2019, pages 1–5. DOI: 10.1109/IC3.2019.8844880.
- [135] Kai Shu and Huan Liu. "Detecting fake news on social media". In: Synthesis Lectures on Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery 11.3 (2019), pages 1–129. DOI: 10.2200/S00926 ED1V01Y201906DMK018.
- [136] Jeannette Paschen. "Investigating the emotional appeal of fake news using artificial intelligence and human contributions". In: *Journal of Product & Brand Management* (2019), pages 223–233. ISSN: 1061-0421. DOI: 10.1108/JPBM-12-2018-2179.
- [137] Sumithra Velupillai, Hanna Suominen, Maria Liakata, Angus Roberts, Anoop D. Shah, Katherine Morley, David Osborn, Joseph Hayes, Robert Stewart, Johnny Downs, Wendy Chapman, and Rina Dutta. "Using clinical Natural Language Processing for health outcomes research: Overview and actionable suggestions for future advances". In: *Journal* of Biomedical Informatics 88 (2018), pages 11–19. ISSN: 1532-0464. DOI: https://doi.org /10.1016/j.jbi.2018.10.005. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/art icle/pii/S1532046418302016.
- [138] Sarvesh Soni and Kirk Roberts. "Evaluation of Dataset Selection for Pre-Training and Fine-Tuning Transformer Language Models for Clinical Question Answering". In: Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference. Marseille, France: European Language Resources Association, May 2020, pages 5532–5538. ISBN: 979-10-95546-34-4. URL: https://aclanthology.org/2020.lrec-1.679.
- [139] Kostadin Mishev, Ana Gjorgjevikj, Irena Vodenska, Lubomir T. Chitkushev, and Dimitar Trajanov. "Evaluation of Sentiment Analysis in Finance: From Lexicons to Transformers". In: *IEEE Access* 8 (2020), pages 131662–131682. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3 009626.
- [140] Robert Dale. "Law and Word Order: NLP in Legal Tech". In: Natural Language Engineering 25.1 (2019), 211–217. DOI: 10.1017/S1351324918000475.
- [141] Pengcheng He, Xiaodong Liu, Jianfeng Gao, and Weizhu Chen. "DEBERTA: Decoding-Enhanced Bert with Disentangled Attention". In: *International Conference on Learning Representations*. 2021. URL: https://openreview.net/forum?id=XPZIaotutsD.
- [142] Katikapalli Subramanyam Kalyan, Ajit Rajasekharan, and Sivanesan Sangeetha. "Ammus: A survey of transformer-based pretrained models in natural language processing". In: arXiv:2108.05542 (2021). DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2108.05542.

- [143] Xipeng Qiu, Tianxiang Sun, Yige Xu, Yunfan Shao, Ning Dai, and Xuanjing Huang. "Pre-trained models for natural language processing: A survey". In: *Science China Technological Sciences* (2020), pages 1–26. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11431-020-16 47-3.
- [144] Harini Suresh and John Guttag. "A Framework for Understanding Sources of Harm throughout the Machine Learning Life Cycle". In: *Equity and Access in Algorithms, Mechanisms, and Optimization*. EAAMO '21. –, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. ISBN: 9781450385534. DOI: 10.1145/3465416.3483305.
- [145] Nikhil Garg, Londa Schiebinger, Dan Jurafsky, and James Zou. "Word embeddings quantify 100 years of gender and ethnic stereotypes". In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115.16 (2018), E3635–E3644. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas .1720347115.
- [146] Justin T. Craft, Kelly E. Wright, Rachel Elizabeth Weissler, and Robin M. Queen. "Language and Discrimination: Generating Meaning, Perceiving Identities, and Discriminating Outcomes". In: Annual Review of Linguistics 6.1 (2020), pages 389–407. URL: http s://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-linguistics-011718-011659.
- [147] Alice H Eagly and Valerie J Steffen. "Gender stereotypes stem from the distribution of women and men into social roles". In: *Journal of personality and social psychology* 46.4 (1984), page 735. DOI: https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-3514.46.4.73
 5.
- [148] Laura Weidinger, John Mellor, Maribeth Rauh, Conor Griffin, Jonathan Uesato, Po-Sen Huang, Myra Cheng, Mia Glaese, Borja Balle, Atoosa Kasirzadeh, Zac Kenton, Sasha Brown, Will Hawkins, Tom Stepleton, Courtney Biles, Abeba Birhane, Julia Haas, Laura Rimell, Lisa Anne Hendricks, William Isaac, Sean Legassick, Geoffrey Irving, and Iason Gabriel. "Ethical and social risks of harm from Language Models". In: *arXiv:2112.04359* (2021). DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2112.04359.
- [149] Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Kalai. "Man is to Computer Programmer as Woman is to Homemaker? Debiasing Word Embeddings". In: Proceedings of the 30th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems. NIPS'16. Barcelona, Spain: Curran Associates Inc., 2016, 4356–4364. ISBN: 9781510838819. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/3157382.3157584.
- [150] Judy Hanwen Shen, Lauren Fratamico, Iyad Rahwan, and Alexander M Rush. "Darling or babygirl? investigating stylistic bias in sentiment analysis". In: *Proc. of FATML* (2018). URL: https://www.fatml.org/media/documents/darling_or_babygirl_stylistic _bias.pdf.
- [151] Su Lin Blodgett, Lisa Green, and Brendan O'Connor. "Demographic Dialectal Variation in Social Media: A Case Study of African-American English". In: *Proceedings of the* 2016 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing. Austin, Texas: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2016, pages 1119–1130. DOI: 10.18653/v 1/D16-1120.
- [152] Michela Menegatti and Monica Rubini. Gender Bias and Sexism in Language. Sept. 2017. DOI: 10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.013.470.
- [153] Harini Suresh and John Guttag. "A Framework for Understanding Sources of Harm throughout the Machine Learning Life Cycle". In: *Equity and Access in Algorithms, Mechanisms, and Optimization*. EAAMO '21. –, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021. ISBN: 9781450385534. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/3465416.3483305.

- [154] Sam Corbett-Davies, Emma Pierson, Avi Feller, Sharad Goel, and Aziz Huq. "Algorithmic Decision Making and the Cost of Fairness". In: *Proceedings of the 23rd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining*. KDD '17. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2017, 797–806. ISBN: 9781450348874. DOI: 10.1145/3097983.3098095.
- [155] Shikha Bordia and Samuel R. Bowman. "Identifying and Reducing Gender Bias in Word-Level Language Models". In: Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2019, pages 7– 15. DOI: 10.18653/v1/N19-3002.
- [156] E. Ashby Plant, Janet Shibley Hyde, Dacher Keltner, and Patricia G. Devine. "The Gender Stereotyping of Emotions". In: *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 24.1 (2000), pages 81–92. DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-6402.2000.tb01024.x.
- [157] Wendy Ashley. "The angry black woman: The impact of pejorative stereotypes on psychotherapy with black women". In: *Social work in public health* 29.1 (2014), pages 27–34.
 DOI: 10.1080/19371918.2011.619449.
- [158] Tom Brown, Benjamin Mann, Nick Ryder, Melanie Subbiah, Jared D Kaplan, Prafulla Dhariwal, Arvind Neelakantan, Pranav Shyam, Girish Sastry, Amanda Askell, Sandhini Agarwal, Ariel Herbert-Voss, Gretchen Krueger, Tom Henighan, Rewon Child, Aditya Ramesh, Daniel Ziegler, Jeffrey Wu, Clemens Winter, Chris Hesse, Mark Chen, Eric Sigler, Mateusz Litwin, Scott Gray, Benjamin Chess, Jack Clark, Christopher Berner, Sam McCandlish, Alec Radford, Ilya Sutskever, and Dario Amodei. "Language Models are Few-Shot Learners". In: *Proceedings of the 34th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems*. Volume 33. NIPS'20. Vancouver, BC, Canada: Curran Associates, Inc., 2020, pages 1877–1901. ISBN: 9781713829546. URL: https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2020/file/1457c0d6bfcb4967418bfb8ac142f64a-Paper.pdf.
- [159] Joy Buolamwini and Timnit Gebru. "Gender shades: Intersectional accuracy disparities in commercial gender classification". In: *Proceedings of the 1st Conference on Fairness, Accountability and Transparency*. Volume 81. Proceedings of Machine Learning Research. PMLR, 2018, pages 77–91. URL: https://proceedings.mlr.press/v81/buolamwini1 8a.html.
- [160] Yi Chern Tan and L. Elisa Celis. "Assessing Social and Intersectional Biases in Contextualized Word Representations". In: Proceedings of the 33rd International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems. Red Hook, NY, USA: Curran Associates Inc., 2019, 13230–13241. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/3454287.3455472.
- [161] Muhammad Hilmi Asyrofi, Zhou Yang, Imam Nur Bani Yusuf, Hong Jin Kang, Ferdian Thung, and David Lo. "BiasFinder: Metamorphic Test Generation to Uncover Bias for Sentiment Analysis Systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering* (2021). DOI: 10.1109/TSE.2021.3136169.
- [162] Marion Bartl, Malvina Nissim, and Albert Gatt. "Unmasking Contextual Stereotypes: Measuring and Mitigating BERT's Gender Bias". In: *Proceedings of the Second Workshop* on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing. Association for Computational Linguistics, Dec. 2020, pages 1–16. URL: https://aclanthology.org/2020.gebnlp-1.1.
- [163] Christine Basta, Marta R. Costa-jussà, and Noe Casas. "Evaluating the Underlying Gender Bias in Contextualized Word Embeddings". In: *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*. Italy: Association for Computational Linguistics, Aug. 2019, pages 33–39. DOI: 10.18653/v1/W19-3805.

- [164] Christine Basta, Marta R Costa-jussà, and Noe Casas. "Extensive study on the underlying gender bias in contextualized word embeddings". In: *Neural Computing and Applications* 33.8 (2021), pages 3371–3384. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00521-020-05211-z.
- [165] Rishabh Bhardwaj, Navonil Majumder, and Soujanya Poria. "Investigating gender bias in bert". In: *Cognitive Computation* (2021), pages 1–11. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007 /s12559-021-09881-2.
- [166] Jayadev Bhaskaran and Isha Bhallamudi. "Good Secretaries, Bad Truck Drivers? Occupational Gender Stereotypes in Sentiment Analysis". In: *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*. Italy: Association for Computational Linguistics, 2019, pages 62–68. DOI: 10.18653/v1/W19-3809.
- [167] Tolga Bolukbasi, Kai-Wei Chang, James Zou, Venkatesh Saligrama, and Adam Kalai.
 "Quantifying and reducing stereotypes in word embeddings". In: *arXiv:1606.06121* (2016). DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1606.06121.
- [168] Kaytlin Chaloner and Alfredo Maldonado. "Measuring Gender Bias in Word Embeddings across Domains and Discovering New Gender Bias Word Categories". In: *Proceedings of the First Workshop on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing*. Italy: Association for Computational Linguistics, Aug. 2019, pages 25–32. DOI: 10.18653/v1/W19 -3804.
- [169] Sunipa Dev, Tao Li, Jeff M. Phillips, and Vivek Srikumar. "On Measuring and Mitigating Biased Inferences of Word Embeddings". In: Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence 34.05 (2020), pages 7659–7666. URL: https://ojs.aaai.org/inde x.php/AAAI/article/view/6267.
- [170] Zahra Fatemi, Chen Xing, Wenhao Liu, and Caiming Xiong. Improving Gender Fairness of Pre-Trained Language Models without Catastrophic Forgetting. 2021. DOI: https://doi .org/10.48550/arXiv.2110.05367.
- [171] Wei Guo and Aylin Caliskan. "Detecting Emergent Intersectional Biases: Contextualized Word Embeddings Contain a Distribution of Human-like Biases". In: *Proceedings* of the 2021 AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021, 122–133. ISBN: 9781450384735. URL: https://do i.org/10.1145/3461702.3462536.
- [172] Xisen Jin, Francesco Barbieri, Brendan Kennedy, Aida Mostafazadeh Davani, Leonardo Neves, and Xiang Ren. "On Transferability of Bias Mitigation Effects in Language Model Fine-Tuning". In: Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies. Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2021, pages 3770–3783. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2021.naac 1-main.296.
- [173] Masahiro Kaneko and Danushka Bollegala. "Unmasking the Mask Evaluating Social Biases in Masked Language Models". In: *Proceedings of the 36th AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence*. 11. Vancouver, BC, Canada, 2022, pages 11954–11962. DOI: 10.1609 /aaai.v36i11.21453.
- [174] Bingbing Li, Hongwu Peng, Rajat Sainju, Junhuan Yang, Lei Yang, Yueying Liang, Weiwen Jiang, Binghui Wang, Hang Liu, and Caiwen Ding. "Detecting Gender Bias in Transformer-based Models: A Case Study on BERT". In: arXiv:2110.15733 (2021). DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2110.15733.

- [175] Kaiji Lu, Piotr Mardziel, Fangjing Wu, Preetam Amancharla, and Anupam Datta. "Gender Bias in Neural Natural Language Processing". In: Logic, Language, and Security: Essays Dedicated to Andre Scedrov on the Occasion of His 65th Birthday. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2020, pages 189–202. ISBN: 978-3-030-62077-6. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-62077-6_14. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-62077-6_14.
- [176] Liam Magee, Lida Ghahremanlou, Karen Soldatic, and Shanthi Robertson. "Intersectional Bias in Causal Language Models". In: arXiv:2107.07691 (2021). DOI: https://do i.org/10.48550/arXiv.2107.07691.
- [177] Moin Nadeem, Anna Bethke, and Siva Reddy. "StereoSet: Measuring stereotypical bias in pretrained language models". In: Proceedings of the 59th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics and the 11th International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing (Volume 1: Long Papers). Online: Association for Computational Linguistics, Aug. 2021, pages 5356–5371. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2021.acl-long.416. URL: https://aclanthology.org/2021.acl-long.416.
- [178] Yusu Qian, Urwa Muaz, Ben Zhang, and Jae Won Hyun. "Reducing Gender Bias in Word-Level Language Models with a Gender-Equalizing Loss Function". In: Proceedings of the 57th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Student Research Workshop. Italy: Association for Computational Linguistics, July 2019, pages 223– 228. DOI: 10.18653/v1/P19-2031.
- [179] David Rozado. "Wide range screening of algorithmic bias in word embedding models using large sentiment lexicons reveals underreported bias types". In: *PloS one* 15.4 (Apr. 2020), pages 1–26. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231189.
- [180] Andrew Silva, Pradyumna Tambwekar, and Matthew Gombolay. "Towards a Comprehensive Understanding and Accurate Evaluation of Societal Biases in Pre-Trained Transformers". In: Proceedings of the 2021 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies. Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2021, pages 2383–2389. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2021.naac 1-main.189.
- [181] Karolina Stańczak, Sagnik Ray Choudhury, Tiago Pimentel, Ryan Cotterell, and Isabelle Augenstein. "Quantifying Gender Bias Towards Politicians in Cross-Lingual Language Models". In: arXiv:2104.07505 (2021). DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2104.0 7505.
- [182] Chris Sweeney and Maryam Najafian. "Reducing sentiment polarity for demographic attributes in word embeddings using adversarial learning". In: *Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency.* FAT* '20. Barcelona, Spain: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020, 359–368. ISBN: 9781450369367. DOI: 10.1145 /3351095.3372837.
- [183] Daniel de Vassimon Manela, David Errington, Thomas Fisher, Boris van Breugel, and Pasquale Minervini. "Stereotype and Skew: Quantifying Gender Bias in Pre-trained and Fine-tuned Language Models". In: Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the European Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Main Volume. Association for Computational Linguistics, Apr. 2021, pages 2232–2242. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2021.e acl-main.190.
- [184] Pranav Narayanan Venkit and Shomir Wilson. "Identification of Bias Against People with Disabilities in Sentiment Analysis and Toxicity Detection Models". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:2111.13259 (2021). DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2111.13259

- [185] Jesse Vig, Sebastian Gehrmann, Yonatan Belinkov, Sharon Qian, Daniel Nevo, Yaron Singer, and Stuart Shieber. "Investigating Gender Bias in Language Models Using Causal Mediation Analysis". In: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems. Volume 33. Vancouver, Canada: Curran Associates, Inc., 2020, pages 12388–12401. URL: https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2020/file/92650b2e92217715fe312e6fa 7b90d82-Paper.pdf.
- [186] Robert Wolfe and Aylin Caliskan. "Low Frequency Names Exhibit Bias and Overfitting in Contextualizing Language Models". In: *Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*. Online and Punta Cana, Dominican Republic: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2021, pages 518–532. DOI: 10.18653 /v1/2021.emnlp-main.41.
- [187] Zhou Yang, Muhammad Hilmi Asyrofi, and David Lo. "BiasRV: Uncovering Biased Sentiment Predictions at Runtime". In: Proceedings of the 29th ACM Joint Meeting on European Software Engineering Conference and Symposium on the Foundations of Software Engineering. ESEC/FSE 2021. Athens, Greece: Association for Computing Machinery, 2021, 1540–1544. ISBN: 9781450385626. DOI: 10.1145/3468264.3473117.
- [188] Wenqian Ye, Fei Xu, Yaojia Huang, Cassie Huang, et al. "Adversarial Examples Generation for Reducing Implicit Gender Bias in Pre-trained Models". In: arXiv:2110.01094 (2021). DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2110.01094.
- [189] Haoran Zhang, Amy X. Lu, Mohamed Abdalla, Matthew McDermott, and Marzyeh Ghassemi. "Hurtful Words: Quantifying Biases in Clinical Contextual Word Embeddings". In: *Proceedings of the ACM Conference on Health, Inference, and Learning*. CHIL '20. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020, 110–120. ISBN: 9781450370462. DOI: 10.1145/3368555.3384448.
- [190] Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Ryan Cotterell, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. "Gender Bias in Contextualized Word Embeddings". In: Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers). Minneapolis, Minnesota: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2019, pages 629–634. DOI: 10.18653/v1/N19-1064. URL: https://aclanthology.org/N19-1064.
- [191] Jieyu Zhao, Yichao Zhou, Zeyu Li, Wei Wang, and Kai-Wei Chang. "Learning Gender-Neutral Word Embeddings". In: *Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*. Brussels, Belgium: Association for Computational Linguistics, 2018, pages 4847–4853. DOI: 10.18653/v1/D18-1521.
- [192] Hannah Rose Kirk, Yennie Jun, Filippo Volpin, Haider Iqbal, Elias Benussi, Frederic Dreyer, Aleksandar Shtedritski, and Yuki Asano. "Bias Out-of-the-Box: An Empirical Analysis of Intersectional Occupational Biases in Popular Generative Language Models". In: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 34 (2021). URL: https://pro ceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2021/file/1531beb762df4029513ebf9295e0d34f-Pap er.pdf.
- [193] Jaimeen Ahn and Alice Oh. "Mitigating Language-Dependent Ethnic Bias in BERT". In: Proceedings of the 2021 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing. Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2021, pages 533–549. DOI: 10.18653 /v1/2021.emnlp-main.42.
- [194] Issie Lapowsky. Google Autocomplete Still Makes Vile Suggestions. Wired, Accessed: 14-12-2022. 2018. URL: https://www.wired.com/story/google-autocomplete-vile-su ggestions/.

- [195] Mark Díaz, Isaac Johnson, Amanda Lazar, Anne Marie Piper, and Darren Gergle. "Addressing age-related bias in sentiment analysis". In: *Proceedings of the 2018 chi conference on human factors in computing systems*. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2018, pages 1–14. ISBN: 9781450356206. URL: https://doi.org/10.1145/3 173574.3173986.
- [196] Ruibo Liu, Chenyan Jia, Jason Wei, Guangxuan Xu, Lili Wang, and Soroush Vosoughi. "Mitigating Political Bias in Language Models through Reinforced Calibration". In: Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence 35.17 (2021), pages 14857– 14866. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1609/aaai.v35i17.17744. URL: https://ojs.aaai .org/index.php/AAAI/article/view/17744.
- [197] Timo Schick, Sahana Udupa, and Hinrich Schütze. "Self-Diagnosis and Self-Debiasing: A Proposal for Reducing Corpus-Based Bias in NLP". In: *Transactions of the Association* for Computational Linguistics 9 (2021), pages 1408–1424. DOI: https://doi.org/10.116 2/tacl_a_00434.
- [198] Aylin Caliskan, Joanna J. Bryson, and Arvind Narayanan. "Semantics derived automatically from language corpora contain human-like biases". In: *Science* 356.6334 (2017), pages 183–186. DOI: 10.1126/science.aal4230.
- [199] Chandler May, Alex Wang, Shikha Bordia, Samuel R. Bowman, and Rachel Rudinger. "On Measuring Social Biases in Sentence Encoders". In: *Proceedings of the 2019 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 1 (Long and Short Papers)*. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2019, pages 622–628. DOI: 10.18653/v1/N1 9-1063.
- [200] Mengnan Du, Fan Yang, Na Zou, and Xia Hu. "Fairness in deep learning: A computational perspective". In: *IEEE Intelligent Systems* 36.4 (2021), pages 25–34. DOI: 10.1109 /MIS.2020.3000681.
- [201] Rachel Rudinger, Jason Naradowsky, Brian Leonard, and Benjamin Van Durme. "Gender Bias in Coreference Resolution". In: Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers). New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 8–14. DOI: 10.18653/v1/N18-2002.
- [202] Jieyu Zhao, Tianlu Wang, Mark Yatskar, Vicente Ordonez, and Kai-Wei Chang. "Gender Bias in Coreference Resolution: Evaluation and Debiasing Methods". In: Proceedings of the 2018 Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics: Human Language Technologies, Volume 2 (Short Papers). New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 15–20. DOI: 10 .18653/v1/N18-2003.
- [203] Lucas Dixon, John Li, Jeffrey Sorensen, Nithum Thain, and Lucy Vasserman. "Measuring and Mitigating Unintended Bias in Text Classification". In: *Proceedings of the 2018* AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society. AIES '18. New Orleans, LA, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2018, 67–73. ISBN: 9781450360128. DOI: 10.1145/3 278721.3278729.
- [204] Samuel Gehman, Suchin Gururangan, Maarten Sap, Yejin Choi, and Noah A Smith. "RealToxicityPrompts: Evaluating Neural Toxic Degeneration in Language Models". In: Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020. 2020, pages 3356– 3369. URL: https://aclanthology.org/2020.findings-emnlp.301.pdf.

- [205] Paul Pu Liang, Chiyu Wu, Louis-Philippe Morency, and Ruslan Salakhutdinov. "Towards Understanding and Mitigating Social Biases in Language Models". In: Proceedings of the 38th International Conference on Machine Learning. Edited by Marina Meila and Tong Zhang. Volume 139. Proceedings of Machine Learning Research. PMLR, 2021, pages 6565–6576. URL: https://proceedings.mlr.press/v139/liang21a.html.
- [206] Dan Hendrycks, Collin Burns, Steven Basart, Andrew Critch, Jerry Li, Dawn Song, and Jacob Steinhardt. "Aligning {AI} With Shared Human Values". In: International Conference on Learning Representations. 2021. URL: https://openreview.net/forum?id=dNy _RKzJacY.
- [207] Maarten Sap, Saadia Gabriel, Lianhui Qin, Dan Jurafsky, Noah A. Smith, and Yejin Choi. "Social Bias Frames: Reasoning about Social and Power Implications of Language". In: Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics. Online: Association for Computational Linguistics, July 2020, pages 5477– 5490. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2020.acl-main.486. URL: https://aclanthology.org/2020 .acl-main.486.
- [208] Alina Zhiltsova, Simon Caton, and Catherine Mulway. "Mitigation of Unintended Biases against Non-Native English Texts in Sentiment Analysis". In: Proceedings for the 27th AIAI Irish Conference on Artificial Intelligence and Cognitive Science, Galway, Ireland, December 5-6, 2019. Volume 2563. CEUR Workshop Proceedings. CEUR-WS.org, 2019, pages 317–328. URL: http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-2563/aics_30.pdf.
- [209] Po-Sen Huang, Huan Zhang, Ray Jiang, Robert Stanforth, Johannes Welbl, Jack Rae, Vishal Maini, Dani Yogatama, and Pushmeet Kohli. "Reducing Sentiment Bias in Language Models via Counterfactual Evaluation". In: *Findings of the Association for Computational Linguistics: EMNLP 2020*. Online: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2020, pages 65–83. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2020.findings-emnlp.7.
- [210] K Anoop, P Deepak, Sam Abraham Savitha, V L Lajish, and P Gangan Manjary. "Readers' affect: predicting and understanding readers' emotions with deep learning". In: J Big Data 9.82 (2022), pages 1–31. DOI: 10.1186/s40537-022-00614-2.
- [211] Richard Socher, Jeffrey Pennington, Eric H. Huang, Andrew Y. Ng, and Christopher D. Manning. "Semi-Supervised Recursive Autoencoders for Predicting Sentiment Distributions". In: Proceedings of the 2011 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing. Edinburgh, Scotland, UK.: Association for Computational Linguistics, July 2011, pages 151–161. URL: https://aclanthology.org/D11-1014.
- [212] Duyu Tang, Furu Wei, Nan Yang, Ming Zhou, Ting Liu, and Bing Qin. "Learning Sentiment-Specific Word Embedding for Twitter Sentiment Classification". In: Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 1: Long Papers). Baltimore, Maryland: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2014, pages 1555–1565. DOI: 10.3115/v1/P14-1146.
- [213] Donglei Tang, Zhikai Zhang, Yulan He, Chao Lin, and Deyu Zhou. "Hidden topic–emotion transition model for multi-level social emotion detection". In: *Knowledge-Based Systems* 164 (2019), pages 426–435. ISSN: 0950-7051. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kn osys.2018.11.014.
- [214] Xinyu Guan, Qinke Peng, Xintong Li, and Zhibo Zhu. "Social Emotion Prediction with Attention-based Hierarchical Neural Network". In: 2019 IEEE 4th Advanced Information Technology, Electronic and Automation Control Conference (IAEAC). Volume 1. IEEE. Chengdu, China, 2019, pages 1001–1005. ISBN: 978-1-7281-1907-6. DOI: 10.1109/IAEAC 47372.2019.8998031.

- [215] Depeng Liang and Yongdong Zhang. "AC-BLSTM: asymmetric convolutional bidirectional LSTM networks for text classification". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:1611.01884 (2016). DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1611.01884.
- [216] Beakcheol Jang, Myeonghwi Kim, Gaspard Harerimana, Sang-ug Kang, and Jong Wook Kim. "Bi-LSTM model to increase accuracy in text classification: Combining Word2vec CNN and attention mechanism". In: *Applied Sciences* 10.17 (2020). ISSN: 2076-3417. DOI: 10.3390/app10175841.
- [217] Saif M. Mohammad and Felipe Bravo-Marquez. "WASSA-2017 Shared Task on Emotion Intensity". In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Computational Approaches to Subjectivity, Sentiment and Social Media Analysis (WASSA). Copenhagen, Denmark, Sept. 2017, pages 34–49. DOI: 10.18653/v1/W17-5205.
- [218] Saif Mohammad, Felipe Bravo-Marquez, Mohammad Salameh, and Svetlana Kiritchenko. "Semeval-2018 task 1: Affect in tweets". In: *Proceedings of the 12th international workshop on semantic evaluation*. New Orleans, Louisiana: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2018, pages 1–17. DOI: 10.18653/v1/S18-1001. URL: https://aclan thology.org/S18-1001.
- [219] Xin Li, Yanghui Rao, Haoran Xie, Xuebo Liu, Tak-Lam Wong, and Fu Lee Wang. "Social emotion classification based on noise-aware training". In: *Data & Knowledge Engineering* 123 (2019), page 101605. ISSN: 0169-023X. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.datak.2 017.07.008.
- [220] Laura Ana Maria Bostan, Evgeny Kim, and Roman Klinger. "GoodNewsEveryone: A Corpus of News Headlines Annotated with Emotions, Semantic Roles, and Reader Perception". In: Proceedings of the 12th Language Resources and Evaluation Conference. Marseille, France: European Language Resources Association, May 2020, pages 1554–1566. ISBN: 979-10-95546-34-4. URL: https://aclanthology.org/2020.lrec-1.194.
- [221] Jeffrey Pennington, Richard Socher, and Christopher Manning. "GloVe: Global Vectors for Word Representation". In: Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP). Doha, Qatar: Association for Computational Linguistics, October 2014, pages 1532–1543. DOI: 10.3115/v1/D14-1162. URL: https: //aclanthology.org/D14-1162.
- [222] Dzmitry Bahdanau, Kyunghyun Cho, and Yoshua Bengio. "Neural machine translation by jointly learning to align and translate". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.0473* (2014). DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.1409.0473.
- [223] Taku Kudo and John Richardson. "SentencePiece: A simple and language independent subword tokenizer and detokenizer for Neural Text Processing". In: Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing: System Demonstrations. Brussels, Belgium: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2018, pages 66– 71. DOI: 10.18653/v1/D18-2012.
- [224] Jacopo Staiano and Marco Guerini. "Depeche Mood: a Lexicon for Emotion Analysis from Crowd Annotated News". In: Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers). Baltimore, Maryland: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2014, pages 427–433. DOI: 10.3115/v1/P1 4-2070.

- [225] Marco Guerini and Jacopo Staiano. "Deep Feelings: A Massive Cross-Lingual Study on the Relation between Emotions and Virality". In: *Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on World Wide Web*. WWW '15 Companion. Florence, Italy: Association for Computing Machinery, 2015, 299–305. ISBN: 9781450334730. DOI: 10.1145/2740908.2 743058.
- Yoon Kim. "Convolutional Neural Networks for Sentence Classification". In: Proceedings of the 2014 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP). Doha, Qatar: Association for Computational Linguistics, Oct. 2014, pages 1746–1751. DOI: 10.3115/v1/D14-1181.
- [227] C. Hutto and Eric Gilbert. "VADER: A Parsimonious Rule-Based Model for Sentiment Analysis of Social Media Text". In: Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media 8.1 (2014), pages 216–225. URL: https://ojs.aaai.org/index.p hp/ICWSM/article/view/14550.
- [228] Carlo Strapparava and Rada Mihalcea. "Learning to Identify Emotions in Text". In: *Proceedings of the 2008 ACM Symposium on Applied Computing*. Fortaleza, Ceara, Brazil: Association for Computing Machinery, 2008, 1556–1560. ISBN: 9781595937537. DOI: 10 .1145/1363686.1364052.
- [229] C.D. Manning, P. Raghavan, and H. Schütze. "Introduction to Information Retrieval". In: Cambridge University Press, 2008. ISBN: 9781139472104. URL: https://books.goo gle.co.in/books?id=t1PoSh4uwVcC.
- [230] Yanghui Rao, Qing Li, Liu Wenyin, Qingyuan Wu, and Xiaojun Quan. "Affective topic model for social emotion detection". In: *Neural Networks* 58 (2014), pages 29–37. ISSN: 0893-6080. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neunet.2014.05.007.
- [231] Yanghui Rao, Haoran Xie, Jun Li, Fengmei Jin, Fu Lee Wang, and Qing Li. "Social emotion classification of short text via topic-level maximum entropy model". In: *Information* & Management 53.8 (2016), pages 978–986. ISSN: 0378-7206. DOI: https://doi.org/10 .1016/j.im.2016.04.005.
- [232] Biraja Ghoshal and Allan Tucker. "Estimating uncertainty and interpretability in deep learning for coronavirus (COVID-19) detection". In: arXiv:2003.10769 (2020). DOI: 10.4 8550/arXiv.2003.10769.
- [233] Quinn McNemar. "Note on the sampling error of the difference between correlated proportions or percentages". In: *Psychometrika* 12.2 (1947), pages 153–157. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02295996.
- [234] Indra Mohan Chakravarti, Radha G Laha, and Jogabrata Roy. "Handbook of methods of applied statistics". In: *Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics (USA) eng* (1967). URL: https://books.google.co.in/books?id=IdI-AAAIAAJ.
- [235] Jessica L Tracy and Richard W Robins. "" Putting the Self Into Self-Conscious Emotions: A Theoretical Model"". In: *Psychological Inquiry* 15.2 (2004), pages 103–125. DOI: 10.12 07/s15327965pli1502_01.
- [236] Przemyslaw M Waszak, Wioleta Kasprzycka-Waszak, and Alicja Kubanek. "The spread of medical fake news in social media–the pilot quantitative study". In: *Health policy and technology* 7.2 (2018), pages 115–118. ISSN: 2211-8837. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016 /j.hlpt.2018.03.002.
- [237] Sahil Chopra, Saachi Jain, and John Merriman Sholar. "Towards automatic identification of fake news: Headline-article stance detection with LSTM attention models". In: *Stanford CS224d Deep Learning for NLP final project*. 2017. URL: https://johnsholar.co m/pdf/CS224NPaper.pdf.

- [238] Soroush Vosoughi, Deb Roy, and Sinan Aral. "The spread of true and false news online". In: Science, American Association for the Advancement of Science 359.6380 (2018), pages 1146–1151. DOI: 10.1126/science.aap9559. URL: https://www.science.org/d oi/abs/10.1126/science.aap9559.
- [239] Salman Majeed, Changbao Lu, and Muhammad Usman. "Want to make me emotional? The influence of emotional advertisements on women's consumption behavior". In: *Frontiers of Business Research in China* 11.1 (2017), page 16. DOI: 10.1186/s11782-017-0016-4.
- [240] Vian Bakir and Andrew McStay. "Fake news and the economy of emotions: Problems, causes, solutions". In: *Digital journalism* 6.2 (2018), pages 154–175. DOI: 10.1080/21670 811.2017.1345645.
- [241] Tomas Mikolov, Ilya Sutskever, Kai Chen, Greg Corrado, and Jeffrey Dean. "Distributed Representations of Words and Phrases and Their Compositionality". In: *Proceedings* of the 26th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems - Volume 2. NIPS'13. Lake Tahoe, Nevada: Curran Associates Inc., 2013, 3111–3119. URL: https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/2999792.2999959.
- [242] Quoc Le and Tomas Mikolov. "Distributed representations of sentences and documents". In: Proceedings of the 31st International Conference on International Conference on Machine Learning - Volume 32. ICML'14. Beijing, China: JMLR.org, 2014, II–1188–II–1196. URL: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/3044805.3045025.
- [243] Swapnil Hingmire and Sutanu Chakraborti. "Sprinkling Topics for Weakly Supervised Text Classification". In: Proceedings of the 52nd Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics (Volume 2: Short Papers). Baltimore, Maryland: Association for Computational Linguistics, June 2014, pages 55–60. DOI: 10.3115/v1/P14-2010.
- [244] Saif Mohammad. "Word Affect Intensities". In: Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC 2018). Miyazaki, Japan: European Language Resources Association (ELRA), May 2018. URL: https://aclantholog y.org/L18-1027.
- [245] Julio C. S. Reis, André Correia, Fabrício Murai, Adriano Veloso, and Fabrício Benevenuto. "Supervised Learning for Fake News Detection". In: *IEEE Intelligent Systems* 34.2 (2019), pages 76–81. DOI: 10.1109/MIS.2019.2899143.
- [246] James MacQueen. "Some methods for classification and analysis of multivariate observations". In: Proceedings of the fifth Berkeley symposium on mathematical statistics and probability. Volume 1. 14. Oakland, CA, USA. 1967, pages 281–297. URL: https://digi talassets.lib.berkeley.edu/math/ucb/text/math_s5_v1_article-17.pdf.
- [247] Martin Ester, Hans-Peter Kriegel, Jörg Sander, and Xiaowei Xu. "A Density-Based Algorithm for Discovering Clusters in Large Spatial Databases with Noise". In: Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining. KDD'96. Portland, Oregon: AAAI Press, 1996, 226–231. DOI: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.555 5/3001460.3001507.
- [248] Stephanie A Shields and Stéphanie A Shields. *Speaking from the heart: Gender and the social meaning of emotion*. Cambridge University Press, 2002. ISBN: 9780521802970.
- [249] Abubakar Abid, Maheen Farooqi, and James Zou. "Large language models associate Muslims with violence". In: *Nature Machine Intelligence* 3.6 (2021), pages 461–463. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s42256-021-00359-2.

- [250] Nikita Nangia, Clara Vania, Rasika Bhalerao, and Samuel R. Bowman. "CrowS-Pairs: A Challenge Dataset for Measuring Social Biases in Masked Language Models". In: Proceedings of the 2020 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing (EMNLP). Online: Association for Computational Linguistics, Nov. 2020, pages 1953– 1967. DOI: 10.18653/v1/2020.emnlp-main.154. URL: https://aclanthology.org/20 20.emnlp-main.154.
- [251] Francisca Adoma Acheampong, Henry Nunoo-Mensah, and Wenyu Chen. "Transformer models for text-based emotion detection: a review of BERT-based approaches". In: *Artificial Intelligence Review* 54.8 (2021), pages 5789–5829. DOI: https://doi.org/10.100 7/s10462-021-09958-2.
- [252] Joel Escudé Font and Marta R. Costa-jussà. "Equalizing Gender Bias in Neural Machine Translation with Word Embeddings Techniques". In: *Proceedings of the First Workshop* on Gender Bias in Natural Language Processing. Florence, Italy: Association for Computational Linguistics, August 2019, pages 147–154. DOI: 10.18653/v1/W19-3821.
- [253] Eva Vanmassenhove, Christian Hardmeier, and Andy Way. "Getting Gender Right in Neural Machine Translation". In: *Proceedings of the 2018 Conference on Empirical Methods in Natural Language Processing*. Belgium: Association for Computational Linguistics, 2018, pages 3003–3008. DOI: 10.18653/v1/D18-1334.
- [254] Alvin Rajkomar, Michaela Hardt, Michael D Howell, Greg Corrado, and Marshall H Chin. "Ensuring Fairness in Machine Learning to Advance Health Equity". In: Annals of Internal Medicine 169.12 (2018). PMID: 30508424, pages 866–872. DOI: 10.7326/M18-1990.
- [255] Alexandra Chouldechova. "Fair Prediction with Disparate Impact: A Study of Bias in Recidivism Prediction Instruments". In: *Big Data* 5.2 (2017). PMID: 28632438, pages 153– 163. URL: https://doi.org/10.1089/big.2016.0047.
- [256] Anja Lambrecht and Catherine Tucker. "Algorithmic Bias? An Empirical Study of Apparent Gender-Based Discrimination in the Display of STEM Career Ads". In: *Management Science* 65.7 (2019), pages 2966–2981. ISSN: 2966-2981. DOI: 10.1287/mnsc.2018.3 093.
- [257] Latanya Sweeney. "Discrimination in Online Ad Delivery: Google Ads, Black Names and White Names, Racial Discrimination, and Click Advertising". In: *Queue* 11.3 (2013), 10–29. ISSN: 1542-7730. DOI: 10.1145/2460276.2460278.
- [258] Yukun Zhu, Ryan Kiros, Rich Zemel, Ruslan Salakhutdinov, Raquel Urtasun, Antonio Torralba, and Sanja Fidler. "Aligning Books and Movies: Towards Story-Like Visual Explanations by Watching Movies and Reading Books". In: *Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision (ICCV)*. ICCV '15. Santiago, Chile: IEEE Computer Society, December 2015, 19–27. ISBN: 9781467383912. DOI: 10.1109/ICCV.2 015.11.
- [259] Trieu H Trinh and Quoc V Le. "A simple method for commonsense reasoning". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:1806.02847 (2018). DOI: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1806 .02847.
- [260] The Stonewall Center. LGBTQIA+ Terminology. Accessed: 4-7-2022. URL: https://www .umass.edu/stonewall/sites/default/files/documents/allyship_term_handout .pdf.
- [261] Jeffrey R Vittengl and Craig S Holt. "A time-series diary study of mood and social interaction". In: *Motivation and Emotion* 22.3 (1998), pages 255–275. DOI: https://doi .org/10.1023/A:1022388123550.

- [262] Munmun De Choudhury, Scott Counts, and Michael Gamon. "Not all moods are created equal! exploring human emotional states in social media". In: Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media. Volume 6. 1. August 2012, pages 66– 73. URL: https://ojs.aaai.org/index.php/ICWSM/article/view/14279.
- [263] Sophie F Waterloo, Susanne E Baumgartner, Jochen Peter, and Patti M Valkenburg. "Norms of online expressions of emotion: Comparing Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and WhatsApp". In: *New Media & Society* 20.5 (2018). PMID: 30581358, pages 1813– 1831. DOI: 10.1177/1461444817707349. URL: https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817 707349.
- [264] Li Zhang, Haimeng Fan, Chengxia Peng, Guozheng Rao, and Qing Cong. "Sentiment Analysis Methods for HPV Vaccines Related Tweets Based on Transfer Learning". In: *Healthcare* 8.3 (2020). ISSN: 2227-9032. DOI: 10.3390/healthcare8030307. URL: https: //www.mdpi.com/2227-9032/8/3/307.
- [265] Sayyida Tabinda Kokab, Sohail Asghar, and Shehneela Naz. "Transformer-based deep learning models for the sentiment analysis of social media data". In: *Array, Elsevier* 14 (2022), page 100157. ISSN: 2590-0056. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.array.2022 .100157.
- [266] Michael Feldman, Sorelle A. Friedler, John Moeller, Carlos Scheidegger, and Suresh Venkatasubramanian. "Certifying and Removing Disparate Impact". In: *Proceedings of the 21th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining*. KDD '15. Sydney, NSW, Australia: Association for Computing Machinery, 2015, 259–268. ISBN: 9781450336642. DOI: 10.1145/2783258.2783311. URL: https://doi.or g/10.1145/2783258.2783311.
- [267] Fantasy T Lozada, Tennisha N Riley, Evandra Catherine, and Deon W Brown. "Black emotions matter: Understanding the impact of racial oppression on Black youth's emotional development: Dismantling systems of racism and oppression during adolescence". In: *Journal of research on adolescence* 32.1 (2022), pages 13–33. DOI: https://d oi.org/10.1111/jora.12699.
- [268] Wesley G. Skogan. "Crime and the Racial Fears of White Americans". In: *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 539.1 (1995), pages 59–71. DOI: 10.1177/0002716295539001005.
- [269] Hunter Hahn, Ilana Seager van Dyk, and Woo-Young Ahn. "Attitudes toward gay men and lesbian women moderate heterosexual adults' subjective stress response to witnessing homonegativity". In: Frontiers in Psychology 10 (2020), page 2948. DOI: https: //doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02948.
- [270] Siva Charan Reddy Gangireddy, Deepak P, Cheng Long, and Tanmoy Chakraborty. "Unsupervised Fake News Detection: A Graph-Based Approach". In: *Proceedings of the* 31st ACM Conference on Hypertext and Social Media. HT '20. Virtual Event, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020, 75–83. ISBN: 9781450370981. DOI: 10.1145/3372 923.3404783.
- [271] Anil Bandhakavi, Nirmalie Wiratunga, Deepak P, and Stewart Massie. "Generating a Word-Emotion Lexicon from #Emotional Tweets". In: *Proceedings of the Third Joint Conference on Lexical and Computational Semantics (*SEM 2014)*. Dublin, Ireland: Association for Computational Linguistics and Dublin City University, Aug. 2014, pages 12–21. DOI: 10.3115/v1/S14-1002.

- [272] Sara Hooker. "Moving beyond "algorithmic bias is a data problem"". In: Patterns 2.4 (2021), page 100241. ISSN: 2666-3899. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.patter.2021 .100241.
- [273] Rappler. Philippine & World News: Investigative Journalism: Data: Civic Engagement: Public Interest. Accessed 20 February 2022. URL: https://www.rappler.com/.

